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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRES

I look forward to working together with all of you to continue
to create value for the Group and our shareholders in this
tough operating environment.

BHEEARBOMOZT  EAEBRENEERED
AEE - BRRMEBRAEEEEE-

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

BRAEL

FE

Dear Shareholders,

Coming into 2025, the global circumstances and economic
environment were under immense pressure. The after-effects of the
pandemic continue to linger while geopolitical and economic
instability is worsening. “Challenge” is the key word that all type of
business must confront directly. For i-CABLE Communications Limited
(the "Company” or “i-CABLE"), its subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities (collectively the “Group”), adhering to the operating
philosophy of “low cost, high efficiency” was crucial in helping the
Group navigate the challenging operating environment over the past
year. We are grateful for the concerted efforts of our colleagues, whose
dedication ensured that both of the Group's main businesses — Media
and Telecommunications — achieved solid results and performance
during the period.

BAIRR
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHREE

As a mass media organisation with social responsibilities, the Group
not only provides entertainment shows and informative programmes
for the general public, but is also committed to observing and fulfilling
civic responsibilities at all times. In terms of media business, the Group
offers its audience a wide range of content, encompassing
entertainment, sports, education and social issues, through three free-
to-air television channels and the social media platforms under the
HOY brand, enabling its audience to access important news alongside
enjoyable entertainment. The Group's i-CABLE News team, in addition
to always ensuring the accuracy and authenticity of information in its
news reports, also produces informative programmes like “City Focus”
(—#R1E E) and “Let's Talk” (B E B 18 48) to encourage public
participation in community issues improvement. These programmes
provide a platform for the public to express their views on social issues
and promote civic awareness. The Group firmly believes that through
these operational strategies, a media organisation can go beyond
public entertainment and fulfil its social responsibilities, promoting all-
round development of the public and fostering positive changes in
society.

During the period, the Group continued to actively engage in
broadcasting various international sports events to promote
sportsmanship and unite Hong Kong. Building on the success of
broadcasting 19th Asian Games Hangzhou in 2023, the Group
partnered with other local TV stations to broadcast the 2024 Paris
Olympic Games for Hong Kong citizens. Every time the Olympic Games
are held, the community unites in watching the events amid an
enthusiastic atmosphere, with many citizens cheering for the Hong
Kong team in front of their televisions or even on the large screens in
shopping malls. To this end, the Group has adopted an omnimedia
model to live-broadcast various exciting events on its television
channel, official website, mobile application and social media
platforms, ensuring that its audience across Hong Kong does not miss
out on any event that Hong Kong and national team athletes
participate in.

ERRERENERLAR —ZEOEFFR
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHREE

The Group is fully aware that the broadcast of sports events has the
unique ability to bridge political differences, strengthen community
bonds, and promote social solidarity in Hong Kong. Additionally,
Olympic athletes demonstrate the spirit of hard work, self-
improvement, confidence and optimism, which aligns with the Lion
Rock Spirit that generations of Hong Kong people hold dear. This spirit
has inspired countless young people to pursue their dreams. During
the Olympic Games broadcast period, HOY TV's live Olympic clips
consistently ranked among the top five trending videos and popular
charts on YouTube almost every day. This reflects the success of our
efforts to engage Hong Kong audiences through the Internet. The
most popular clips were all related to Hong Kong athletes competing
or winning medals, highlighting the strong support Hong Kong citizens
have for their athletes and further proving that sports can bring people
together.

The Group is committed to developing an omnimedia broadcasting
model to meet the post-pandemic viewing habits of its audience.
During the period, audiences could access the Group's HOY official
application on smart TVs, which is expected to attract more young
viewers. At the same time, in terms of programme content, we are
actively producing a diverse range of variety shows while also exploring
a dual-track approach in drama production. By adopting innovative
filming techniques, we aim to bring audiences a brand-new viewing
experience. In 2025, we launched Hong Kong's first-ever television
micro-drama “Love Suddenly” (k5 82 %), setting a new precedent
for traditional TV stations. This drama features a fast-paced storyline,
with each episode lasting only two minutes. Additionally, a vertical-
screen version has been specially produced to enhance the viewing
experience for mobile audiences and expand our viewer base.
Meanwhile, our Group has applied for broadcasting rights on other
platforms within the Greater Bay Area of Guangdong, Hong Kong and
Macao (the “Greater Bay Area”), with the goal of introducing Hong
Kong-style micro-dramas to the mainland market.

On the other hand, the filming of HOY's first drama series “Hong Kong
Story” (T B JLBE ) was completed in 2024, and is expected to be
released in the first half of 2025. Filmed on location in Hong Kong, the
drama is themed to evoke Hong Kong people’s nostalgia for the
community, in line with the Group’s creative mission of balancing
public entertainment with connecting to the community.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHREE

The Group's telecommunications business continued to achieve stable
results. As a telecommunications operator with a network that serves
over 2 million households across Hong Kong, the team will continue to
explore ways to utilise existing resources to expand market
opportunities. In the face of the rapid development of artificial
intelligence (Al), the Group will continue to explore ways to enhance
coverage of optical and 5G networks to support high-bandwidth and
low-latency Al applications to attract commercial customers.
Meanwhile, the Group will explore the possibility of cooperating with
the industry to share resources and technologies, thereby enhancing
overall competitiveness to further meet customers’ requirements for
broadband services.

In recent years, given the increasingly complex global political and
economic environment, the uncertainties affecting the global
economic system are likely to increase. In this regard, it is essential for
an operator to have a flexible mindset and always remain highly
vigilant in existing operations, so as to lead the Group in continuously
coping with the difficult and ever-changing operating environment
based on the operating principle of “low cost, high efficiency”.

On behalf of the Group and management, | would like to express my
gratitude to our shareholders for their unwavering support of i-CABLE
and to my colleagues for their diligent efforts over the past year. | look
forward to working together with all of you to continue to create value
for the Group and our shareholders in this tough operating
environment.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Business Review

¥ OEA

ABOUT US

The Group offers integrated communications services in Hong
Kong, commanding one of the most influential television
audience and communications service user bases in town.

The Group provides media and telecommunications services
to over 2 million households via digital broadcasting and cable
telecommunications networks that cover most areas of Hong
Kong.

As one of Hong Kong's free television and multimedia content
producers, we produce high-quality programmes focusing on
news information, entertainment and sports, which are distributed
across omnimedia platforms.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

The Group endeavours to improve its services in line with the
development of digital economy to meet market demands
and attain customer satisfaction, which in turn drives business
reputation and revenue performance. Specifically, the Group
pursues the following:

(@)  to provide high-quality information and entertainment
to Hong Kong residents with news programmes relevant
to people’s livelihood and a variety of programmes with
unique styles;

(b)  tointegrate its online, offline and outdoor media platforms
to provide an omnimedia viewing experience, further
enhance audience engagement and facilitate a wider range
of marketing solutions with more efficiency;

(c)  toinvest in infrastructures, networks and delivery platforms
in response to technological development, and offer
advanced network and content services;

(d)  to utilise technology and content resources to promote
commercial and content collaboration in various markets,
including the Greater Bay Area, Mainland China and
Southeast Asia to develop new profit models; and

(e)  to continuously improve our processes and human
resources to pursue better operational capacity and remain
cost-effective.
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Business Review

¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Hong Kong’s economic recovery in 2024 is not as satisfactory as
expected, with a slowdown in the retail market. Amid high operating
costs and geopolitical tensions, the rising trend of northbound
consumption among Hong Kong residents has continued, while local
consumption has become more conservative. Advertisers place great
emphasis on the effectiveness of their advertising campaigns, as the
market environment becomes increasingly challenging and complex.

Facing stringent market requirements, the Group has been actively
undergoing strategic transformations and striving for innovation in
content, distribution and marketing solutions to keep pace with the
rapid growth of online media platforms and adapt to changes in
audience viewing habits, with a view to further expanding its reach
and increasing advertising revenue across various platforms.

MEDIA

In 2024, the Group added multiple elements which were integrated
with operating models to the development and planning of media
content.

For the Paris Olympics in July 2024, the Government funded the
purchase of broadcasting rights on all free-to-air TV platforms. The
Group took the lead in forming a production alliance with two of the
other three platforms to bring a convergence of information on the
events centered on Hong Kong athletes to the Hong Kong audience
and undertook the technical work for the broadcast. The Group offered
a number of channels on TV, apps and social media to broadcast the
Olympics, including HOY TV YouTube channel, which streamed various
major competitions of Hong Kong athletes, making us the Hong Kong
TV station with the most simultaneous viewers on YouTube for live
stream of the Opening Ceremony and many of Hong Kong’s gold
medal-winning competitions. The omni-media broadcast of the Hong
Kong Olympic Team’s highlights won the support of 53 sponsors,
marking a milestone in HOY TV's broadcast of sports events.
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Business Review

¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Given advertisers’ increasing emphasis on branded content and
audience demographics, the Group focuses on developing distinctive
brand programmes that can gain significant attention on social media,
including “Undercover’ (EAJE B 7T ) hosted by Jiro Lee and Aiyana
Lo. The “UK OK” (2 B 32 2.4 ) and "Korea OK” (%% B i2 . 4F) series
hosted by Natalie Tong; “Railway Traveler” (— f@ A & 77) hosted
by Kris Yuen; “Theme Cook” (3 & COOK) hosted by Ricky Cheung
and Jacky Yu; and “Health Concern Group” (2 B 88 ) 48) featuring
a rotating lineup of hosts. Together with our weekday programme
"City Focus” (— & # &), we continue to create branded content
that resonates with different audience demographics from both
online and offline channels, offering the market a variety of innovative
promotional solutions. For instance, based on the brand appeal of
“Undercover” (BAJE Jik 77 @), we received strong support from the
Hong Kong Tourism Board to launch “Undercover Service Squad” ( EA
[ AR 7% [B). In this new installment, host Jiro Lee teamed up with
Aiyana Lo, who took on the roles of tour guide to guide viewers around
Hong Kong, showcasing the service quality of Hong Kong's tourism
industry truthfully. This programme was also a co-production project
with Guangdong Radio and Television, attracting more than 1.85
million views in Guangdong province. It ranked first in the lifestyle and
service programme category for five consecutive days.

With the completion of large-scale event venues in Hong Kong,
international events and exhibitions have been frequently held in
Hong Kong with the support of the government. Various event-related
promotions and consumption demands have driven new marketing
and promotion services.

Furthermore, the Group has been actively expanding into the Mainland
China market and collaborating with TV stations in the Greater Bay
Area of Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao (the "Greater Bay Area")
which allows the Group to enrich the content of its various multimedia
platforms and strengthen its competitiveness.
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Business Review

¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Expanding Digital Media Channels

As digital technology connects various indoor and outdoor screens
with mobile phones, we have completed the integration of HOY
TV experience across televisions, streaming media and other social
media platforms. The Group'’s three free-to-air TV channels, namely,
HOY International Business Channel (Channel 76) (‘HOY 76"), HOY TV
(Channel 77) ("HQY 77") and HOY Infotainment (Channel 78) ("HOY 78"),
along with its mobile applications, have achieved extensive coverage,
reaching approximately 99% of the population in Hong Kong.

During the Paris Olympics, the Group's social media achieved
remarkable performance, with more than 32 million views on HOY
YouTube and a year-on-year increase of more than 40% in terms of
subscribers, while the number of visitors and new subscribers on
Facebook also increased by approximately four times as compared to
the same period. One of HOY YouTube's videos of the Olympics was
ranked No. 5 on YouTube's Top 10 Most Popular Videos of the Year.

To further enhance the effectiveness of the Group’s streaming
services and advertising, HOY's official mobile app has a built-in Al
learning model to provide audiences with personalised streaming
recommendations and present customised advertisements. The simple
interface design allows users to quickly find the content they intend
to watch, while the new live streaming channel allows the Group to
broadcast live events more flexibly.

Through continuous optimisation and content enrichment, the
number of users of hoy.tv website and HOY’s official app showed a
steady increase. More than 780,000 users were recorded during the
most active month in 2024 with over 100 million views. The number
of downloads of the HOY Mobile App increased by 45%. As of 31
December 2024, the number of followers of HOY's Instagram and
YouTube pages grew by more than 130%, demonstrating the Group's
active exploration and development of its digital media channels.

Diversified content

Unlike the long-standing rigidity of traditional television production
models in Hong Kong, the Group is committed to providing audiences,
advertisers, and both performers and behind-the-scenes professionals
with diversified programme elements to stimulate the development of
the media industry and achieve the unique film and television trend of
HOY TV.
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¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Travel Variety Shows:

"Undercover” (BAJRBR1TE), HOY TV's flagship travel series, continued
to receive positive feedback, showcasing the unique behaviors and
mindsets of Hong Kong people when traveling abroad and their
amusing anecdotes.

Similarly, carrying the "Hong Kong spirit” to explore different cities
in Mainland China via high-speed rail, HOY TV's backpack travel
programme “Railway Traveler” (— {& A #{ #& 77) is hosted by young
artiste Kris Yuen. Kris explored different Chinese cities along the rail
lines and experienced the diverse cultures of this vast country. The
programme was well received, garnering significant support from
young audiences online. It also attracted sponsorship from the High
Speed Rail and launched "Railway Traveler 2" (—{& A 3877 2) within
the same year.

HOY TV invited Natalie Tong to host its experiential travel programme
"UK OK" (52 B3 245 ), where she explored of British living culture and
took the audience on a journey to discover the authentic side of the UK
and Natalie Tong. Following the positive reception of the programme,
HOY TV launched “Korea OK” (32 B & Z 4T ) in the same year to
continue the style of the previous season. In the new programme,
Natalie Tong not only introduced Korean travel spots but also tried to
understand what Koreans are.

During the period, there were other creative travel programmes on
HOY TV, such as "Along with the Goddess" (2 [&7T) which features
ten beautiful artists from Taiwan, and the unexpectedly luxurious
programme “EXTRAVELgant with Benedict: East Africa” (E2 A 2= 3EM).
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

MEDIA (Continued)

Cooking and Dining:

In response to the trend of Hong Kong people heading north to spend,
the Group produced Greater Bay Area travel and dining programmes
with a unique and author-driven perspective . “Theme Cook” (& &
COOK), the HOY TV branded cooking series has launched three new
episodes titled “Let’s Feast GBA” (& &2 COOK 3 /& [& 1 &), “Theme
Cook 4 Endless Feast” (& & COOK 4 X & U 77) and “Theme Cook 5"
(& RE COOK 5), in which renowned master chefs Ricky Cheung and
Jacky Yu had their first filming trip in the Greater Bay Area, exploring the
dazzling cuisines in Guangdong with the audience while showcasing
their culinary skills.

HOY TV's dining programme “Martin’s Taiwan Food Travel” (55 H 2
B &) was hosted by Elkie Chong and local popular YouTuber
Martin. The two young hosts explored Taiwanese cuisine ranging
from street food and traditional Taiwanese dishes to creative culinary
offerings, delving into different stories behind each dish.

During the period, the Group also contributed to boosting
consumption in Hong Kong by producing “Dining Guide” (& /& %
R 4038 ), "TasteWalk: Cooking” (i & 18 B 4 K 77), "Let’s Eat 100
in Hong Kong” (88 & F & 10054 etc., supporting the city's catering
industry.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Spring Festival Gala:

In order to promote the Cantonese language, a distinctive feature of
the Greater Bay Area, the Group partnered with Guangdong Radio
and Television to produce a unique Cantonese Spring Festival Gala
programme in Mainland China with sponsor from the Cultural and
Creative Industries Development Agency of the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The “Inaugural Spring Festival
Gala programme” (BE & /& [@ ER 42 4F ), which featured a number of well-
known artistes from Mainland China and Hong Kong, was broadcasted
live simultaneously across the Greater Bay Area and Southeast Asia
in February 2024. The strong brand impact of the programme led to
tremendous responses from television audiences in the Greater Bay Area.
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Lifestyle:

HOY TV's new pet variety show “Stories from MEOW MEOW" (= Kk N
B ) is themed on “cats’ slaves”, featuring a variety of artists who
shared their experiences of living with cats and lead the audience to
discover interesting cat stories across different districts in Hong Kong.
Another pet programme, “Lolly Talk Pet” (Lolly Lolly 58 47 & 3 %), is
hosted by the 8 members of the girl group Lolly Talk. In this show, the
audience learns how to get along with pets and gains helpful advice to
address various challenges faced by pet owners.

A SEREE

HOY TVE ST B MR 28 B (S IRE M A E) L
[N BERE  BRBMNBAD ZTHEERITHRS
VTEEBRASRSKEWRBENHERSE - 32—/
g & B (Lolly Lolly B8R 5 ) Bl R Z2 ] Lolly Talk ¥ 8
MRKEER BEHEEVRENNE  HEEDEA
PR B EYIBE M S AR HREAE o




Business Review

¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Lifestyle: (Continued)

The Group has also produced a series of slice-of-life programmes
closely related to the daily lives of Hong Kong people: “Good Old Days”
(IR /N EZ %) is a programme that visits and interviews long-
established stores, showcasing Hong Kong nostalgic brands. "Hints of
Postnatal Care” (42 A BB ) is hosted by a celebrity mom who shares
important tips for new mothers during postpartum confinement.
"Trendy Hong Kong” (78 =\ /it 17 ) takes the audience on a journey
to explore the hidden corners of Hong Kong, offering a chance to
rediscover the city's unique lifestyle and cultural essence.

Infotainment:

HOY TV's other infotainment programmes, such as “Hong Kong
Phenomenon 3" (& /& & B £) and "Make it a better place 2" (&
7 22 [l 23 F 2), have been building up an emotional attachment
with the audience over all these years and have become part of Hong
Kong's distinctive television culture.

Moreover, HOY 76 welcomed the return of the popular English talk
show “Friday Beyond Spotlights Season 3”. The show features in-depth
discussions of Hong Kong's social, political and economic issues from
multiple angles, incorporating insights, experiences and stories from
renowned personalities. It has earned strong word-of-mouth praise
from the audience.

Health:

"Health Concern Group” (2 B B8 % 48) is a widely-watched health
information programme, which invites experts and doctors from
various fields, including Western medicine practitioners, Chinese
medicine practitioners, and dieticians, to provide in-depth explanations
of the concerns ranging from lifestyle habits to health problems and
“chit chat” about trending health topics in Hong Kong. The programme
tackles health myths from various angles and uses a down-to-earth
approach to help the audience understand their own health issues.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Sports:

The Group has always supported the development of both local and
international sports events, offering exclusive coverage of several high-
quality sports events throughout the year. In 2024, HOY TV provided
over 450 hours of live broadcasts for major international sports events,
including the “FIVB Volleyball Nations League” ( tt 5 BEER B 22), “Copa
América USA 2024" (EMBIR &), “Paris Olympic Games” (FF 328 48 )
and the “World Aquatics Championship 2024" (tt 57 K SR1Z28). The
Group has integrated its resources into broadcasting free-to-air sports
events.

In addition to the Paris Olympic Games, HOY has invested more
resources into developing sports content in 2024, offering over 1,100
hours of live broadcasts of various world sports events on HOY 76,
its mobile applications and official websites. These include popular
football matches such as “Serie A 2024/25" (. A | FF 48 & Bk Bt &),
"Coppa ltalia 2024/25" (B K FJ &), “German Cup” ({£ Bl 7% ), “Copa
América USA 2024" (M BIZK &), “Carabao Cup” (R BB & R),
"A-League Women 2024/25" (&) ZZ F Bt &), “AFC Asian Cup Qatar”
(38 M F R ERE), "AFC Champions League” (8B MNEE B E E 7R), "AFC
U23 Asian Cup Qatar” (U23 22 )MdR), “Liga de la Professional 2024" (P
1R 52 R 48 @ BRESE 2 ), “FIFA U20 Women's World Cup Colombia 2024
(U202 H 4 F B ERE) and “Arabian Gulf Cup 2024" (827 & Bk
7).

Moreover, the Group also broadcast a number of world sports events,
including “FIVB Volleyball Nations League” (it 57 #F BR B 22), “FIBA
Asia Cup 2025 Qualifiers and Continental Cup” (FIBAE: 3K &), "East
Asia Super League 2024/25" (3 25 %8 4% & Ik Bt &), "World Aquatics
Championship 2024" (tt 557 JK 88 12 &), “World Squash Team
Championships” (t 5 B 2k B 82 §8 1Z 28), and “World Skate Games
ltalia 2024" 2024 St B HRES & — T AFM).

Cable TV 18 Channel

Cable TV 18 Channel is a paid horse racing content platform under the
Group. Over the past year, Cable TV 18 Channel has broadcast 125 days
of racing, including 37 overseas events.

To enhance the viewing experience for horse racing enthusiasts, the
team at Cable TV 18 Channel has partnered with general renowned
horse commentators in Hong Kong. The team also traveled to Dubai
and Australia to interview horse owners and trainers about the process
of selecting horses in foreign countries.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Cable TV 18 Channel (Continued)

Cable TV 18 Channel’s mobile application, “Racing GPS”, provides
another platform for subscribers to watch horse racing programmes.
It also features a YouTube channel that has launched various
programmes, including “Race Card Talk” (BEfiL #F /&), “Punters
Headline” (X 5 2425) and “Racing Popularity” (A R 55 ), making it
easy for the audience to dive into the world of horse racing.

Cable TV 18 Channel launched a documentary programme “Keep Pace
with You — Hong Kong Trainer Danny Shum” ([F] 25 B 1T o §# % /8
X)) in September, which interviewed and filmed the inspirational story
of the trainer, Danny Shum, to show the audience his hard work and
perseverance in the horse racing industry.

During the period, Cable TV 18 Channel worked closely with the Hong
Kong Jockey Club to organise various promotional activities. Hosts of
Cable TV 18 Channel also reached out to the community to share their
experiences with horse racing enthusiasts at different betting branches,
strengthening the relationship between Cable TV 18 Channel and
horse enthusiasts and promoting the correct concept of gambling as
well as expanding the age group of horse racing enthusiasts.
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Cable TV 18 Channel and The Hong Kong Jockey Club jointly held the “Season Opening Prelude Party” at the Club’s Kwun Tong Plaza Experience Store in September this year

to prepare horse racing enthusiasts across Hong Kong for the new horse racing season. The event was hosted by renowned horse commentators Mr. Cheung Ki and Mr. Chu

Chun Fai, who led various hosts from Cable TV 18 Channel to attend the event. In addition, horse owners, trainers and jockeys were also invited to interact with horse racing

enthusiasts.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
i-CABLE News

In 2024, the i-CABLE News team continued to uphold the philosophy
of “Spotlight on Hong Kong, Eye on the World" to provide audiences
with 24-hour news and information on Hong Kong's politics, economy
and livelihoods through HOY 78, as well as producing a wide range of
informative programmes on current affairs. There include the flagship
programme “City Focus” (—#4R#E &), “Let's Talk’ (B ¥ H 518), City
Talk” (;% B [RR48) which explore important social and political issues,
“InnoAction” (£ &Il K K ) which highlights innovation and technology
and "Property Outlook” (12 #2 {8 B ) which provides in-depth analysis
of weekly hot topics in the property market.

“City Focus”

As a light information programme close to the pulse of the community,
the flagship programme “City Focus” (— #% ¥ &), which was
coordinated and produced by the i-CABLE News team, continues to
be one of the top-rated programmes on HOY TV, with a peak rating of
4.4 for the year. The programme has successfully uncovered livelihood
issues in various districts, arousing relevant departments to recognise
and address the problems. In particular, the series of reports on the
large scale repairs of Neptune Terrace aroused wide public concern,
drawing the attention of various government departments, which
eventually succeeded in overthrowing the former Owners’ Corporation.
In addition, through an in-depth follow up method, “City Focus” (—
#3188 &) exposed the smuggling of cats and dogs via bicycles in Sha
Tau Kok. After the broadcast, the Customs and Excise Department
succeeded in cracking the case. Other social issues that have sparked
heated debate include the residence of foreign workers in Sea Ranch
and the uncovering of the A-plates for electricians. In February 2024,
the i-CABLE News team upgraded the virtual studio with a new design
for the purpose of altering the studio to match changing themes.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
MTR In-train TV Advertisement

The Group's "Hong Kong Cable News Express” (75 4% 7 B iR &) is
the sole distributor of advertisements and content provider for the
MTR In-train TV on the MTR East Rail Line, Tuen Ma Line, Kwun Tong
Line, Island Line and South Island Line, contributing to another source
of advertising revenue for the Group. With the trend of traveling
northward among Hong Kong residents, MTR has increased its train
frequency during weekends and long holidays, resulting in a significant
increase in passengers. This has attracted advertisers to increase their
spending on this platform. The Group integrates the online and offline
content of HOY TV with the unique environment inside the train
compartments to create unique opportunities for brands.

Social Engagement

Leveraging our media influence, the Group actively shoulders its
social responsibilities, bringing positive energy to society and Hong
Kong people. The i-CABLE News team collaborated with various
government departments and institutions in Hong Kong to produce
a series of programmes that help citizens understand the operations
of various government departments, improve their understanding of
the Constitution of China, the Basic Law, and the Hong Kong National
Security Law, and recognise the opportunities in the Greater Bay Area.

"Hello GBA Hello Qianhail” (/& & 718 R ) provides an in-
depth introduction to the opportunities in Qianhai, exploring the
development and construction of the Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone. “Territory-wide Inter-
school National Security Knowledge Challenge (2024/25)" (& /& £
AERL 2 3%k 8 & 2024/25) allows students to gain a deeper
understanding of the Constitution of China, the Basic Law, the Hong
Kong National Security Law, and the overall concept of national
security through quizzes. “East River Sentiment” (3R T 7K 3T 15)
collaborates with Guangdong Water, and introduces the process of
supplying Dongjiang water to Hong Kong, explaining how the three
main water supply pipeline systems (Western, Eastern, and Central
routes) ensure the provision of high-quality water to Hong Kong.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Social Engagement (Continued)

Additionally, HOY TV's "City Focus” (— #R ## &) and "Health Concern
Group” ({2 FE B8 X 4H) are the Group's current affairs information
programme and health programme, respectively. The former is
dedicated to capturing and analysing social issues for the public,
while the latter shares various health information with the audience.
The hosting team of “Health Concern Group” (& & B ) #H) has
participated in multiple events related to health and visiting the elderly
during the period.

In February this year, Hong Kong's first baking social enterprise founded by visually impaired
individuals, “Codekey Cookies” collaborated with 11 social welfare organisations to host
the "Codekey Connect « World Record” and Charity Bazaar. The hosting team of "Health
Concern Group” (f#5 B)¥ 4H) attended the event and distributed gift bags at the bazaar
to promote the concept of diversity and inclusion.
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The hosting team of “City Focus” (— #7122 ) attended the “All-Round Talent
Show" Recruitment Drive and Christmas Gala organised by the CHU KUANG
CULTURAL SERVICES FOUNDATION in December this year. The hosts shared
their hosting experiences with the youth, encouraging them to bravely pursue

their dreams.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
TELECOMMUNICATIONS

The Group’s telecommunications business has demonstrated
consistent performance. As one of the major fixed telecommunications
network services providers in Hong Kong, the Group currently
possesses a telecommunications network that serves over 2
million households in Hong Kong, and constantly provides positive
contribution to the Group.

With the changes in the operating environment of the
telecommunications sector, the shifting consumption patterns as
well as technological advancement, the Group changed its sales
approach in the first half of 2024 to enhance its flexibility to cope with
the changes in market demands. By adhering to expanding its online
sales channels for the telecommunications business, the Group has
continuously optimised and updated its service packages to cater
to the needs of different customer groups. The Group's strategy of
switching its sales model has achieved initial results, successfully
augmented customer retention and stimulated growth in its overall
business revenue.

To enhance market competitiveness in the telecommunications sector,
the Group is committed to providing diversified telecommunications
products and services to both individual and corporate customers. At
the same time, the Group has actively promoted i-Mobile services by
launching several new packages for broadband and mobile services
to attract new customers, with a view to strengthening its market
position.

In addition, the Group has also focused on the expansion of the Gigabit
Passive Optical Network (“GPON”") to expand its network coverage
to new buildings and enhance its network capacities in the existing
buildings, in order to meet the increasing demands for high-speed
broadband services. We aim to enhance customers’ user experience by
providing them with a stable and extremely fast internet experience.

The signing of the strategic cooperation agreement with China
Mobile Hong Kong Co., Ltd ("CMHK") in 2018 marked the beginning
of the Group's cross-platform collaboration in areas such as
telecommunications and media information value-added services.
In the seventh year of the cooperation agreement, the Group will
continue to strengthen its strategic partnership with CMHK in various
areas to expand network coverage and further support new business
development in the residential and commercial sectors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP

The following principal risks and uncertainties are considered to be of
significance and have the potential to affect the Group’s businesses,
results of operations and financial conditions. However, these are by
no means exhaustive as there may be other risks and uncertainties
resulting from changes in the economy and other conditions over
time.

The media segment is experiencing intense competition in a crowded
marketplace with changing viewer behavior. New platforms and
increasingly diversified mobile devices, rapid growth of streaming
platforms and social media, as well as new and innovative programme
formats are weakening the desire for audience to view contents on
fixed platforms. In response to changes in the media ecology, the
Group adopts a strategy of integrated development, recruits new
media talents, continues to be proactive and creative in producing,
and integrates local features with Asian perspectives to expand the
market and application of programmes and content. Cross-media
technologies are integrated to keep pace with the media market. The
Group will increase investment in new market opportunities while
seriously revamping uncompetitive segments to ensure constant
competitiveness.

The telecommunications segment faces the challenges brought by
fast-changing technology and saturation of inherent markets. The
Group’s operations depend on its innovative service approach and
competitive advantage in having new and old technologies at our
disposal. The Group will continue to enhance its network and bolster
its marketing efforts to adapt to market changes. By revamping our
competitive service packages, we cater to our customers, needs with
appropriate services. We also provide “smarter” services in general
and control our operation costs, thereby strengthening the Group’s
competitiveness and revenue growth potential.
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Environmental Social and Governance Report

B HEREABE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
responding to the challenges of climate change by adopting
environmental protocols for its operations. The Group is also dedicated
to creating a favourable environment for its staff members; providing
resources to support their growth and development; as well as
promoting staff engagement in social undertakings and volunteer
work.

Reporting Scope

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") report summarises
the efforts made and accomplishments of the Group in Corporate
Social Responsibilities (“CSR”) during the period from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”) in accordance with the
“comply or explain” provisions of Appendix C2 Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). With in-depth
consideration on various areas such as source of income and scale of
businesses which reflects the significance of ESG impact, the ESG
working group reckoned that scope of this ESG report covers the
Group’s key business operations in the provision of media and
telecommunications activities in Hong Kong. Details of the
establishment and duties of the ESG working group are set out in the
section headed “ESG Governance”.

Reporting Principles

The preparation of this report adheres to four reporting principles
below, in order to provide an unbiased picture of the Group's ESG
performance:

1. Materiality: Material ESG factors were being identified by the ESG
working group regularly during the Reporting Period through
annual stakeholder engagement. The final disclosures on ESG
issues have been reviewed and approved by the board (the
"Board") of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

2. Quantitative: The Group monitored various Key Performance
Indicators ("KPIs") during the Reporting Period with comparison
of the measurable historical data. In this way, the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management system can be evaluated and
validated. For all standards and methods adopted for calculating
the KPIs (if applicable), please refer to the relevant sections in the
ESG Report.

3. Balance: The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG
performance of the Group.

4. Consistency: The Group adopted consistent methodologies in
the data calculation by comparing historical ESG data over time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
ESG Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling stakeholders’ expectations on its
ESG practices. The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting and is responsible for ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal controls
systems are in place.

The Board assumes full responsibility of the Group's sustainable
development and oversees key ESG (including climate-related) issues,
including formulating and evaluating risks and opportunities, reviewing
and ensuring the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and
internal control systems as well as endorsing the ESG report. The Group
has established an ESG working group, which reports to the
management of the Group and the Board, with representatives from
different functions, including the finance, human resources and
administrative departments of the Group, to collect the ESG data and
facilitate the ESG reporting process. Furthermore, the ESG working
group will advise the Board on climate-related risks and opportunities
when there are major transactions or policy updates to ensure that the
Board is fully aware of the related risks and opportunities involved. To
better understand ESG and climate-related risks, the Board and ESG
working group receive relevant training on an annual basis. The ESG
working group monitors issues that are material to the Group's
operations, sets and reviews progress made against ESG-related
(including climate-related) goals and targets, and schedules meetings
in updating new policies and mechanisms in improving the
management of the Group’s strategic goals in sustainable
development. In addition, the ESG working group evaluates the impact,
efficiency and effectiveness of policies that are already in place, and
takes remedial actions if the ESG policies are not properly
implemented. The management executes the ESG strategies
determined by the Board and performs ongoing monitoring of the
ESG-related risks. They are also primarily responsible for developing
their own ESG implementation plans and including them as a KPl when
considering compensation increase for senior management. The Board
oversees the ESG strategies and goals and monitors the progress made
on the execution. As part of the Group's internal control systems, a
professional consultant has been engaged for ongoing assessment of
the internal control and risk management systems so as to identify any
deficiencies and provide recommendations for improvement
accordingly. The Group also continuously monitors the ESG-
related(including climate-related)risks by ensuring that relevant ESG
risks(including climate-related)are considered in the annual risk
assessment process and prior to any major transactions, with
appropriate internal controls in place to manage the risks.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
ESG Governance (Continued)

Since 2021, the Group has established several environmental targets to
drive further improvement on its sustainability performance. The
following table displays the targets and results achieved during the

Reporting Period:

BERAERE @)
BE HERERRE M

BH2021F » REBEFIYZHERERE  WE— TR
AEAFERRKRE - TR RHEPRERD B Z

NAER -

Result as at 31 December 2024
mE+=ZA=+—HH&ER

g

Replace all Euro IV diesel vehicles by year 2027 to
reduce the overall air emissions of the Group’s
operations

R ZF A F A E #A PTG BR BA 1 HA 4
AR D A B IER B8 R

< B

Replaced 16 new Euro IV diesel vehicles out of 23 such vehicles

R2B3EFBMBNBEREREFT EERT 168

Implement a policy of reducing paper usage in year
2022
R-Z-_FERADRREAOBE

Policy established with the focus on centralised sourcing and measurement
of use, reduction of use via double side printing, education and
development of e-approval process for selected internal documents
EHEBE  HERRETERIAEFTE  MAER - SEEF -
HE RGIER TR HHE FHZRRE

Reduce the consumption of diesel by 3% by year 2027
to thatin year 2021
KT FR L
1 3%

CHABERE T - —F8

Achieved, 28,686 litres in 2024, which was approximately 49% lower than
56,094 litres in 2021

BER - T ZP0F A28686 A F c HE — T = —F 56094 N FF
AT #)49%

Maintain 2027 water consumption intensity level same
as 2021

RIB A FRBEKBER T —FHK
S'Z

Achieved, 2,119 cubic meters in 2024, which was approximately 8% lower
than 2,306 cubic meters in 2021

BENK T -MF RN F K
KA T #)8%

B8 - - —FM230632 1
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement

With the aim to align the Group’s long term sustainability goals with its
current vision and mission, the Group recognises the importance of
integrating its stakeholders’ expectations and requests and truly
understanding their concerns.

The Group actively engages its stakeholders and provides updates on
its recent developments through diverse engagement channels. The
table below highlights the Group's key stakeholders and its
communication channels:

BERAERE @)
BEHhE2H

MEBFRF B AEERBIEAEFHENTEY
RERIEY) TREENIWREEE -

REEEEERE NS EEERBASGE LR
BRABENBRINE - TRESMAAEENEE
HHEREBREE

Stakeholder Group Engagement Channels

FHEER BHRE

Employees - Internal emails and publications

BT MBEPE [ AR

RV E

BT)E®H
Intranet

NIk

Meetings and briefings

Training and workshops
Bl R g
Employee activities

Customers « Corporate website

BF NCIEEDS

BFEH

Client meetings

Investors and Shareholders « Annual general meeting and general meetings

REERKRR BRBFERGRBRRAS

Annual and interim report
FERPEHRE

Press release and announcements
HEREAE
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

Stakeholder Group

FoEmE SHERE

ARARE @)
B ESHE @

Engagement Channels

Suppliers, Contractors

and Business Partners ¥ ex
HER RHABREKBF Site visits
HihE R

Business meetings

Government and Regulators

B REEEHE

Email, phone and written communications

EH EEREEER

Social Groups and Public

HEERRARAL

SRELRY

B rEE

Email and phone communications
BH REHER
Volunteer activities

Sponsorships and donations

Press release
ER
Public events

NV

Materiality Assessment

Through the Group's established engagement channels, the Group has
identified relevant ESG issues and assessed their materiality to its
businesses as well as to its stakeholders.

The materiality assessment process is set out as follows:

Identification of potential issues: Screening of initial relevant
issues with reference to the ESG Guide, and peer benchmarking
ideas against suitable peer companies to pinpoint material ESG
issues performed.

Stakeholder evaluation: Internal and external stakeholders, who
demonstrate significant dependence of influence on the Group,
are invited to rank the importance of each ESG issue via
established engagement channels and interviews.
Prioritisation: The results from issues identification and
stakeholder evaluation are synthesised to generate ESG
materiality ranking.

Validation: The ESG working group of the Group validates and
confirms the key material ESG issues, and how they link to the
respective Aspects (as defined in the Listing Rules) and KPIs of
the ESG Guide.

BEEMITME
BBERIMSEEE ARECHEEENRS
HEREAEE  WE T HEEBRENENEEY -

BEEMFEREFEIOT

BRBERRE  2E(RE - e RERESD -
MBS EEERE  LHEBEERTAA
EEEED UEETEARR HEMEASE
RBOEHIT -

R ENE  BBEARFOER T OKBEASE
Bz ERBCASAREREXRTR
HEERER  HEMEARENERIDETHF -

EEERF  HAZERREFNET G
BR - MERR - H e RERERMET -

ZE AEENRRE HekERTENMZ
BUYHRAEAFRRR HLEREREE MU
LEBZRBENTREGRE HERERIEIDN
FEE (ER R LHRA) REARERUERARE -
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Materiality Assessment (Continued)

In accordance with the results from the stakeholder engagement
exercises, the Group has placed greater emphasis on ESG issues
relating to product responsibility, employee safety, supply chain
management and environmental protection. The table below
highlights the ESG issues which were determined to be material to the
Group covered and arranged them in order of their relative importance
to the business continuity of the business and their overall importance
to the society in this ESG report:

Material ESG Issues

EXRRE HEREREE

BARARE @)
EEMFAG @

REFHELEZPNER  AEECEMERREE
mEE -BI%x: HEREENREREABNR
B-HeghEhEE  TREMUAENRE HE
REBRRETHREE/RYAKEMEBERNIRE
HEREREE  BHETELHF TRBHEHX
BOEGEEENAYEREERAES T ENBERER
MEETTHES

Aspects in the ESG Guide
(RE  -HEREAR/RBEHEID AL ERE

1 . Service Commitment B6: Product Responsibility
AR 7% % EmaE
Intellectual Property Rights
B EE
Personal Data Policy
BAERBR

2 . Employee Health and Safety B2: Health and Safety
BTREEZE fBERL 2

3 . Supply Chain Management B5: Supply Chain Management
e g e 1% HrEgEE e

4 . Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions AT: Emissions
ZE SR SOR E R BB HER HER

Fuel Consumption
BR O H #E

Air Emissions

ZE B

Waste Management

REFLE 12

5 . Energy Management

REIRE

Water Management

FKEE

Energy and Resources Consumption

BERFEENERERE

A2: Use of Resources

BREH

6 . Environmental Impact Management A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
REVEER REMBAER

7 . Climate Change Impact Management A4: Climate Change
RESITEEE RIERIE

8 . Labour Practices B1: Employment
BIER (A
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EEMFG @

ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Materiality Assessment (Continued)

Material ESG Issues Aspects in the ESG Guide

(RE A ERERBMEES]) IS ER

EARRE HEREALAEAE

9 . Employee Development and Training B3: Development and Training
8 Ta R REI R MIE

10 | - Prevention of Child and Forced Labour B4: Labour Standards
By Ik & T R aghlss T BT AR

11 . Anti-corruption B7: Anti-Corruption
RE& R&S
Whistleblowing
SRR

12 | - Community Support B8: Community Investment
TR ERER HERKE
Community Engagement
Al S

R AEBGUERAZEHERRBUBRLE
HEET HWEABAKEEREIMLET —LOHXHER
HOEEHEREHNER -

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES EXBE HEkERRE

1. Product Responsibility 1. EmER

AEBEERERD B RHREARSFHEAR
TR STRI N8 S| - RIS EST TIRRS - 85

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to develop its CSR work in line
with its business plans and strategies. This will not be possible without
the Group's colleagues’ efforts and dedication in upholding CSR values.

The Group observes the codes and guidelines for television
programme service and telecommunications service licensees,
along with various legislations including:

Broadcasting Ordinance (Chapter 562 of the Laws of Hong CERBGRD (BB ENE62E)
Kong);
Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

CEHE CEIRGSO 5P (BB IEHIF391

(Chapter 391 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
Telecommunications Ordinance (Chapter 106 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong); and

Competition Ordinance (Chapter 619 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

)

CEAMGHD (FEEDFE 1068) :

CEAE# (LB & B1) (F & A 0I5 486
)R

GREERDD (BRENFE6198) -

AEETA R B TREEERBFAMKAA

The Group also has established various internal guidelines or
codes of practices for different functions and divisions, and
provided different trainings for staff development.

sl TRl RARB T HREHEEE -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

1.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Service Commitment

The Group was awarded 1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management
System certification & ISO 10002:2018 Quality Management —
Customer Satisfaction certification, covering after-sales services
and customer cases management, by SGS Hong Kong Limited in
March 2022 which continues to be well-maintained during the
Reporting Period.

The Group places customer experience as its priority. A quality
management system in line with the requirements of the 1SO
standards is implemented to improve its hotline and customer
care services, and to uplift installation and maintenance
standards. The Group has an efficient system in place to handle
the complaints and inquiries of the customers. The Group
communicates with customers through email, fax, letter, and
hotline. These are forwarded to the relevant departments for
timely response. Following the investigation, the Group will reply
to customer, notify the appropriate departments of the results,
and recommend corrective action. The Group addresses
customer complaints in a timely, fair and unbiased manner.
Customer views are regularly collected and analysed through
customer satisfaction surveys. During the Reporting Period, 115
written complaints (2023: 288 written complaints) were received
in relation to services provided.

Engagement of provision of media and telecommunications
activities is not subject to any recall for safety and health reasons.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has the Corporate General IT Control Policies and
Procedures in place to manage, protect and monitor information
technology (“IT") systems and data. The use of unauthorised
software or copying of copyrights works is not allowed under
the Group's policy. During the Reporting Period, no incident of
intellectual property rights breach was reported.

EARE HEREAEZEW@W

1.

EmEEu@m

PR 7% A& &

RZBEZZF=A FAEENEERBERESR
BAREEXERBELSBAVAREBRAAMSE
B 21509001 : 2015 E B R AR ETE KISO
10002 : 2018 mEBE — BEEWEERE - LR
MEHANERZERE -

REEUNRFNESBELESE NEEHET
MEH—EARFAISOREBEENREETRRL -
NRHERERGEGEERRS ke i
BIEKFE - AEERBEEIRGRERPNIE
FREH - RFAEBEFEE  FEHE  EHRE
REFARFPER FTARFRERERS
HEBPFANEELRELEE - AEZKE A
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EEEBAEEE AEELER - A FRA
THEERBEFERF YA BEEmEEHA
BETHNEERE REETHON - EHREHAE -
HIWE115HEMKF (2023F - 288 EEH
F) o BHRSRALEFTIRERRT o
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

1.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Personal Data Policy

The Group respects individuals' legal rights to privacy, and strictly
abide by the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in collecting, holding, processing and
using customers’ personal data. In addition to establishing
policies and operation guidelines, the Group issues periodic
reminders and deliver regular briefings to frontline staff to
remind them of the importance of protecting customer data.

The Group protects the confidentiality of its customers’ personal
data by implementing layers of security (IT controls) to prevent
loss or leakage of customer data. The Group’s Corporate General
IT Control Policies and Procedures also ensure data security and
IT system user access control.

There was no incident of non-compliance with the
aforementioned laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy,
safe, and hygienic workplace for all employees and related
parties that are likely to be affected by its operations and
activities. The following four policies on health and safety have
been established and posted on the intranet, of which
employees are strictly required to observe:

1. The Safety Handbook & Company Policy which sets out
the requirements on work place safety;

2. Typhoon & Rainstorm Policy which sets out the working
arrangement under special weather;

3. Aguide to work with computers; and
Policy on Arrangement for Infectious Diseases Outbreak
which lays out guidance and measures in handling of
infectious diseases.

EARE HEREAEEW®W

1.

EmEE @

B A G BB E

A B E G EANLBE  BBESY
18 R 35 (B A B R (RLBB) 16 451) (5 7 5% 101 25 486
E)METhE  ®F BRERFAEEHNAEA
BB TIVHEBRERIEES  ~&E
NEBRBNTANLEIRBTHERE 128
MBRBRETSERMBBE -

AEEREEFPHEAER ERZENEM
REBRMEH LZFPEHBRIRRE - AKE
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE HEREAEZEW@W

2.

Employee Health and Safety (Continued)

To enhance employees’ awareness of the importance of safe
working practices, the Group has adopted the following key
occupational health and safety measures:

Annual practice of mass fire drill in collaboration with the
Fire Department;

Demo video of physical exercise in department workplace
as reminder;

Establishment of the Department Operational Guideline
on safety measures for working-at-height and lifting of
heavy tools and objects; and

For the wellbeing and mental health of our employees, the
Group organised recreation and leisure activities including
pressed flower sake cup workshop, supplement tasting and
health talk arrangements.

Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to the
management and follow up actions will be taken. There was no
incident of non-compliance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
during the Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Data

2. ETREEHEZE @)
BERETHBEL S SEMMNES A5E
HRTUTEFEMBERERT S

SR A MERENERE

R T EMERER S R RE R B

B ECEPI 45 51 ) ATREE = 2= T 1F Kok
BEYNLZ 2R &

BTETMRUALMOIE@EE  AEEREH
TEERERNKRRIEE - BREWEBBEN
T -RERBAEAKEH REEEE
BEZ T o

BEEAEBERREEE RS - LRI

BAETS RBSHAMEZLIERBERZS
K2 BB (BRIEDIFS09F) B FEf -

BERERZZEE

Injury rate® Lost days Lost days rate®® Absentee rate”

TiEtbx@ BXBEH BXRBHEER RE LR
2024 —ZE "5 0.0088 343 0.0015 0.0192
2003 = F - = 0.0083 531 0.0020 0.0204

In the past three reporting periods (including this Reporting
Period), there was no incident of work related fatalities.

RBE=ZFERE (BEARSH IMEZRER
TIT-FM -

Notes: /;ﬁ;z‘r -
(1) Fatality rate = Total fatality number/Total number of employees (1) BT R=FEAFATIHTANE HEETAE
2 Injury rate = Total staff affected/Total number of employees %) THEHE-FEETHY HETAH

3) Lost days rate = Total number of lost days/Total days worked
4) Absentee rate = Total number of absentee days/Total days worked

()  BEAHHFE-JEXEAL ETEAZ
@ BB E-RHEAH BTEAH



ERRERENERLAR —ZEOEFFR

Enviroqm_g_ntal, §ocial and Governance Report
IRE - HEREGHRSE

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

3.

Supply Chain Management

The Group sources from trustworthy suppliers and contractors
for quality and sustainable products and services, under well-
defined procurement policy. The Group offers equal opportunity
to all potential business partners. Supplier selections and
procurement decisions would be made based on assessment
over certain criteria such as reputation, image, social and
environmental protection responsibilities of the suppliers, quality
and sustainable reliability of the products and services,
compliance with user requirements and/or specifications,
conformance to technical evaluation instituted by requisitioning
department, compatibility with/conformance to existing
operating systems, service level commitment etc. The Group
encourages suppliers and contractors to take green measures
and products that fulfill the 4Rs Rule: “Reduce, Recycle, Reuse
and Replace” in order to minimise environmental and social risks
along the supply chain. The Group also continues to monitor the
product and service quality of the suppliers to ensure the
suppliers’ compliance with the requirements of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
material environmental and social risks along the supply chain.

The Group strives on sourcing products and services from reliable
suppliers and contractors which comply with all legal
requirements and standards governing relevant labour practices,
environmental protection, intellectual property rights and anti-
corruption action. The Group sources from around the world with
over 89% of suppliers and contractors based in Hong Kong to
reduce carbon footprint in its supply chain, while supporting the
local economy. During the Reporting Period, the number of
suppliers of the Group from Hong Kong, Mainland China and
other countries was 715 (87%), 21 (3%) and 83 (10%), respectively.

" The Group did not generate significant sewage discharge during the Reporting Period.

N5 [B] O 5 B P T A EE A KB DT IKPERL
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4.

Emissions

The Group recognised the importance of maintaining good
environmental protection behavior across the Group by integrating
environmental considerations into the business processes of the
Group. The Board believes that the Group is responsible for the
protection of the environment and adheres to create a sustainable
future for the stakeholders as well as the community in which the
Group operates by the continuous contributions from its
experienced management and employees. To this end, the Group
focuses on three main areas which include emissions', use of
resources, and the environment and natural resources.

Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group works strategically and collaboratively to identify
solutions for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, reducing
waste production as well as reducing energy consumption by
identifying rooms for improvement. The Group strictly follows
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there was no
incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions and waste
management that have a significant impact on the business
operations of the Group.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE HEREARAZEE®

4. Emissions (Continued) 4. HER @)
Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Continued) ZREBEREHER(E)
The Group promotes the minimisation of greenhouse gas AEERERERAEEEENRERER N
emissions generated by the Group and encourages the WHEBRIEREARRREN ASEFE
environmental care in its working environment. The Group HEATEHEUWRDTER/RRER IR

continuously takes the following measures to reduce the air and
greenhouse gas emissions:

Fuel consumption

Reduce the number of vehicles and optimise vehicle
utilisation;

Phase out pre-Euro IV diesel vehicles;

Regular maintenance to reduce carbon emission;

Conduct annual vehicle examination for vehicles to ensure
compliance with emission standards set by the
Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong;
Provide guidelines on good driving practice; and

Green driving guidelines for the Group's drivers.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4,

Emissions (Continued) 4,

Air Emissions

EARE HEREAEZEW@W

BER (@)
ZERBEM

2024 2023

—E_F ZEZ=F

(in tonne) (in tonne)

(W) (WR)

NO, emissions RELWPERE 0.21 0.29

SO, emissions mE L EmE 0.001 0.001

PM emissions AL E 0.020 0.027
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBEBEK

2024 2023

—E_NE —E-=HF

(in tonne) (in tonne)

(W) (mg)

CO, emissions — scope 1 (Note 1) “albixdEE —EE (i) 206 233

CO, emissions — scope 2 (Note 2) “albikEEhE — B2 (fE2) 4,532 5,025

Total k) 4,738 5,258

As compared to that in 2023, the Group recorded a lower
amount of NO, SO, PM and greenhouse gas emissions in 2024.
Such reduction was mainly due to less frequent use, shorter
travel distance and decrease in the number of the Group's
vehicles.

Notes:

1. Direct emissions (scope 1) includes greenhouse gas emissions from
combustion of fuels in company vehicle fleet. CO, emissions — scope 1
intensity was approximately 0.23 (tonne/employee) during the Reporting
Period (2023: 0.21 (tonne/employee))

2. Energy indirectly emissions (scope 2) includes greenhouse gas emissions
from consumption of electricity purchased from power companies. CO,
emissions — scope 2 intensity was approximately 4.99 (tonne/employee)
during the Reporting Period (2023: 4.63 (tonne/employee))

3. The calculation of air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions was based
on the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange

M- =FAL AKER T ZHFH5E

BLREY HRELY B ERRERE
BRE -ZRI I EBEARNANEBHEHE
BARRE HETEbHEEARERmBER
DRTER

Brat

1. EEHK(EE) B1E L B B EE LR E
TEEHER - RIREHIA - —GEE N E—#0[E 1 2/
#9023 (W5, NEE) (ZF==4 :021 (W 1EE))

2, BEREZER N (E2) B ERESENRAINES
FrELL B ETEHK - RIBEHA - —EETHK
B HE2REER4199 (L 1EE) (ZT==4 :463
(w2 1ES))
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RIEIZE RIS 5] |5+ B 13



Environmental Social and Governance Report

IRiR

CHEREARE

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4.

Emissions (Continued)
Air Emissions (&)

The Group is actively engaged in the comprehensive collection
of Scope 3 emissions data across its value chain. This initiative is
part of a broader commitment to enhance transparency and
accountability in our environmental impact. This effort
underscores our dedication to reducing our carbon footprint
and delivering positive environmental impacts within society.
Through these actions, we strive to contribute significantly to
global sustainability efforts, demonstrating leadership in
environmental stewardship and reinforcing our commitment to
responsible corporate practices.

Waste Management

The Group has devoted substantial efforts to waste management
by minimising solid waste to landfills through waste reducing,
waste reusing and waste recycling. One of the essential
measurements is through promoting the importance of waste
reduction among the employees of the Group through training
and education. Going paperless is always the Group’s key
message passed to the employees of the Group and they are
encouraged to use electronic copies for filing purpose and use
recycle papers for printing in order to reduce waste. The Group's
efforts to reduce paper usage include implementing paperless
e-Leave and e-Payroll systems.

Starting in January 2024, the Group placed environmentally
friendly recycling bins for metal, plastic, and Tetra Pak on each
floor to promote waste sorting and reduce carbon emissions. At
the same time, notification was issued to all staff to educate and
remind everyone to place recyclable items into the designated
recycling bins.

The Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste and adopted suitable waste handling and
reduction measures in accordance with local laws and
regulations. The total amount and intensity of non-hazardous
waste produced during the Reporting Period were 17 tonnes
and 0.019 tonnes/employee, respectively (2023: 16 tonnes and
0.015 tonnes/employee, respectively). All non-hazardous waste
generated are collected by waste recyclers and are either
destroyed or processed for recycling.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4,

Emissions (Continued)
Waste Management (Continued)

In 2023, the Group conducted a comprehensive review and
disposed of retired production equipment to optimise space
utilisation. As a result, the disposal amount in 2023 was
significantly higher compared to the Reporting Period. The
absence of video tape disposals in the Reporting Period is a
result of the Group’s content retention policy and space
management strategy. A thorough review and disposal of all
unused videotapes were completed in 2023 to optimise storage,
eliminating the need for further disposal in 2024.

Types and amount of waste recycled

EXRER

4.

N ?‘igﬁg/ﬁ
BERR ()

BRI ()
F_E::ﬁ $%Eﬁﬁ7%@ﬁﬁ i@
RIE M EERE  AE A BUF A
IM :?:_EWFE%EW?#$¢¥W

4240 )

BREER BEHPANLEBRTTRE TJIFE
AEEOATRERR R EHEERE -

am_%__inﬁg%ﬁxﬁ%ﬁ%%mi
SR EEE  UELFRER A —2
iﬁ*ﬁ SEE -

EWENERERBE

Production
Equipment,
Office
Equipment and
Paper and Plastics Computers
Paper Product (Video Tape) (piece)
(tonne) (piece) Cartridge BERE -
R BE (piece) WAERME
Year S m (% F27F) BB = REM
FE (W) (=) (=) =)
2024 — BN F 10 om 119 1,747
023 =F-=F 4 7403 82 2,352

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Note:

(1) The higher disposal amount in 2023 was due to a one-time review and
clearance of unused videotapes, aligning with our content retention policy
and space management strategy, eliminating the need for disposal in 2024.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

5.

Use of Resources

Being a responsible corporation to the environment and the
society, the Group focuses on exploring opportunities to
minimise the use of energy or natural resources among the
Group and with the new technologies and by improving the
efficiency of operating procedures that provide the best use of
production and office equipment. The management of the
Group believes that the efficiency of the use of energy and
natural resources can be improved from time to time.

Energy Management

The Group endeavours to make use of energy efficiently and to
encourage employees of the Group to use energy effectively.
The consumption of energy is monitored regularly and measures
were taken to identify any rooms for improvement. Another key
focus by the Group is on how to minimise the use of resources
and how to use wisely is through education and training:

reduce operation hours of public lighting, escalators and
lifts;

automate switching off air-conditioning and lighting;
retrofit lighting system using energy efficient T5
fluorescent tubes and LED lights;

adjust indoor temperature settings;

purchase energy efficient office equipment with electron
energy loss spectroscopy; and

provide staff with tips for green office.

Water Management

There was no water sourcing issue within the Group as the
Group mainly consumes municipal water. The majority of the
water consumption of the Group is for air-cooled air
conditioning system, basic cleaning and sanitation. The Group
promotes the use of water smartly by training and education.
The management of the Group continuously monitors the
consumption of water and explores ways to further reduce the
Group's water consumption. Owing to the Group’s ongoing
education and efforts, the Group's water consumption for the
year 2024 has maintained similar level of 2,119 cubic meters as
compared to the consumption for the year 2022 of 2,277 cubic
meters and year 2023 of 2,216 cubic meters.

EARE HEREAEEW®W
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE HEREAEZEW@W

5. Use of Resources (Continued) 5.

Energy and Resources Consumption

EIRMEH @)
EREEREREES

Electricity (kilowatt-hour) B (FTRANE) 11,620,422 12,884,764
Water consumption (cubic meter) Bk&E (L AHK) 2,119 2,216
Diesel (litre) s (A7) 28,686 40,152
Unleaded petrol (litre) S TM (R FH) 55,499 54,232
Electricity intensity (kilowatt-hour/employee) BEwE (FR/E8T1) 12,798 11,875
Water consumption intensity (cubic meter/employee) FB/KEZ (325K, B T) 2 2
Diesel per vehicle (litre/vehicle) geih (R FHHER) 1,510 1,673
Unleaded petrol per vehicle (litre/vehicle) ESDm (BT E ) 2,413 2,169

Note:  Use of packaging material for finished product is not a material aspect of
the business operations of the Group

The Group's electricity consumption reduced by approximately
10% when compared to 2023. Since the Group streamlined its
office space in June 2024, there has been a significant reduction
in the overall electricity consumption for air conditioning and
lighting.

With the Group's reduction in the size of the vehicle fleet and
fuel consumption initiatives mentioned in section 4 as well as
shorter distance travelled, the Group consumed 29% less diesel
in 2024 when compared to that in 2023.

Bfet - REBEAE R IR FBEEEEHEX
P2y

BT - = FEL AEBRADKL10%E ST
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

6.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group explores the possibility of the usage of clean energy
or reusable resources and the opportunities to minimise the use
of energy or natural resources in every department in different
business operations of the Group. The Group continuously
adheres to the principle of minimising the impact on the
environment and natural resources. During the Reporting Period,
the Group is not aware of any significant impacts of activities
arising from the business operations of the Group on the
environment and natural resources.

The Group’s Environmental Friendly Programme was
implemented in the Group throughout these years to bring the
employees together with the management of the Group to
contribute to its society. The Group takes great emphasis in the
future development of its environment.

Climate Change Impact Management

The management of the Group will take adequate steps to build
its resilience to climate change by identifying and managing
climate change risks and opportunities and by developing
strategies, which are in line with global best practices to adapt to
and mitigate the impact of climate change on its operations.

The Group has also considered how climate change can affect
the short-term to long-term cash flow, financing channel and
cost of capital. The Group defines short-term as up to 2025,
medium-term as up to 2030, and long-term as up to 2050.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

Climate Change Impact Management (Continued)
Type of risks

7.

N kil

Description

ft

BERERRE

Time Horizon

AR

ERRER

HEREREE @

7. RIFSEFEEE @

Potential impacts

BEYE

Mitigation Plan
i3 -y |

Physical risk Occurrence of extreme weather events, ~ Short-to Long-term +  Increased operational costs Incorporate climate change considerations into
such as high temperatures, heavy rain, (2025 to 2050) for maintaining workplace annual enterprise risk management processes
thunderstorms, extreme wind etc. temperatures Develop contingency business plans for

Potential health risks for extreme weather scenarios
employees Install uninterruptible power supply ("UPS") to
Increased insurance costs provide emergency power for critical sites,
Disruptions in transportation including:
and supply chain — Hub locations
— Digital News System ('DNS") centers
— Management Information System ("MIS")
servers
— Broadcasting equipment
— Multichannel Multipoint Distribution
Service ("MMDS”) stations
EREAR BRAREHNEE Wk & BHERY RERTHESMAEMS - AFECERREEREBTHARGEE
W 2R BRBES- (2025 % Z 2050 HEEERA LT Z8
&) ARHRREREEREHE

STRERREM RETHEZRR(UPS) BRARRHBER
ERMEEE BF

RBAUA EF — B

RBRBREETEG — HFHEZRGONS L
— BEBREAZFMO) FARES
— RERB
— ZBESED BRI MMDS) H L

Transition Risk Changing audience preferences towards ~ Medium- to Changes in advertising Promote sustainable content creation and

— Market Risks sustainable content and eco-conscious  Long-term revenue streams favoring adopt green production practices
entertainment (2030 to 2050) more sustainable media Encourage employees, suppliers, and customers
Shift in advertising revenue as brands platforms to reduce carbon emissions
prioritise partnerships with sustainable Potential loss of viewershipif +  Align business strategies with growing
broadcasters. sustainability concerns are consumer demand

not addressed

BERR BRRHEMABENDERRE THERY BERARREARASE - HDITHEADEAE REZEZERA

—mi5ER BRENRENT (20302 2050%) FRESOEETS BEET  HEFMEF R BN
BERAERE( mREERE %* @ET% ERRE - PEEBER UREBHEBEURRER
ARBERNERLRAHE [Z-EE TS BRNFK

Transition Risk

Increased scrutiny from stakeholders

Short- to Long-term

Damage to brand reputation

Encourage supply chain partners to adopt

— Reputational (viewers, investors, advertisers) regarding (2025 to 2050) and potential loss of environmentally responsible practices
Risks environmental impact sponsorship deals Engage with stakeholders to strengthen
Negative publicity if media companies Reduced investor confidence corporate sustainability commitments
fail to address climate concerns in in companies that do not
content and operations adopt sustainable practices
BERR %1%@%1&%% EHE RHERY mEBBERE  SWE B A EEGHRERRE N BREER
—BERAR R%%W%ﬁﬂmﬁ% (2025 % 2050%) %%Aﬁﬁam Bt 2 B
EFBRARE Emeﬁﬁ S *%i?%%%@ﬁ - ENSEEEBEER  MBCENFE
EEHRESE ol EaRER EREREEEDL  BREAR

Climate-related opportunities

RIZEERE

Opportunities

HEER

Descriptions

it

Potential opportunities

BEERE

Technology Use of more renewable energy and environmentally friendly Risking revenue and market shares from growing demand in green consumption,
opportunities materials which will be positively increasing the financing channel
Rifrid ERESABERRRIRRIH REGEHRERRNER  RARTSHERGRR - BRBOHEFR

BRBNREREER -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

8.

Employment

The Group recognises employees as important assets. The Group
is committed to developing a positive and respectable working
environment that encourages collaboration between employees
and across departments. The Group strives to attract and retain
talents and aim to promote workforce diversity, in terms of age,
gender and nationality, as well as a culture of equal opportunity.

The Group has developed the Employee Handbook & Human
Resources Policy which have been posted on intranet, governing
compensation, dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in accordance
with respective laws and regulations.

The following Hong Kong laws in relation to the Group's
employment and labour practices are relevant to the Group:

Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance ("MPFSQO")
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws
of Hong Kong); and

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

Working hours, leaves, remuneration and other employment
practices are reviewed regularly to ensure the compliance with
latest labour laws and regulations.

There was no incident of non-compliance with employment
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business operations of the Group during the Reporting Period.

EARE HEREAEEW®W
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
8.

EARE HEREAEZEW@W

Employment (Continued) 8. EfEmW

Employee Statistics EE#ZTTEE

The majority of the Group's employees in both year 2023 and REBABH,EEE_ZS_=ZFR_FT_MF
year 2024 were employed and worked in Hong Kong. HEEBEARIE-

Total Workforce WET A

Employment Types
Alltypes of employee LB Employee category Geographical region

A RS R Permanent contract EEAE HE
REAH BREY
[ P P P - - -
Year Total Staff Staff Hong Kong
255

i
340 908 566 329

2024-F-M% 568 2 1 31 622 806 102
W3=E==F 693 39 1,085 689 381 4 11 4 267 777 984 101
Total Workforce by Age Group BET AB(RFRERNE D)

Below 30 30-50 Above 50
Year 303 LT 30 3% -50 5% 50 3% B £

®E | Male | Female | Male | Female | Male | Female

£t

2024
Total Workforce —EZF 72 76 256 197 240 67 908
MET AR 2023

—E-=F 91 102 333 220 269 70 1,085
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARE HEREARAZEE®
8. Employment (Continued) 8. EEmW

Employee Statistics (Continued) EEGTEE (#)

New Hires and Employee Turnover HFABEBIREEBRAR

Below 30 30-50 Above 50
Year 30 AT 30 5% -50 5% 50 5% L £
FE | Male |Female | Male |Female | Male | Female |

2024
New Hires —EC-mEFE 42 44 30 33 11 4 164 0.1810
HABET 2023

—E-=F 70 84 69 66 15 8 312 0.288"
2024
Employee —E-mE 20 25 a4 35 19 4 147 | 0.161@
Turnover®
EER LR 2023
—E-=F 43 57 92 41 11 5 249 0.230?
Employee Turnover Rate EERKLLE

By geographical
By age group region
iR 48 Bl Total

@ R
Below 30

30254

2024
—E_NF 0.091 0.070 0.050 0.087 0.025 0.150 0.012 0.161?
2023
—FT-= 0.135 0.095 0.110 0.147 0018 0.204 0.026 0.230@
Notes: Bt
(1) New hire rate = Total number of new hires/Total number of employees () FABETIHE=FABETHE 1ESHEH
@) Turnover rate = Total number of employee turnover/Total number of (2  RAHF-pEIESRE ESHEH
employees
3) Employee turnover refers to voluntary turnover, but exclude turnover of 3) 1ES A FIEEFRRER - T B 15K B8 BB

employees during their probation period
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EXARE HERERBEE®@®
9. Employee Development and Training 9. EERERIEI

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for REBRBIEIHEESEERHEE M -
professional development of its employees. The Group places AEBEGHILEIEREKE THABERTE R
adequate and appropriate resources on training and staff HEMER AEEBABRUSEFHULEE
development opportunities. The Group encourages vocational EBNEIET Al - BB NBEHE RIEINES -

education and training activities by providing tuition subsidies
and full funding training programmes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted around 9 REEER - REBEHIRHEA o R EIEIIRIZO
corporate training events® (2023: 9 corporate training events) ZE=F - oAREEIRE) T1INEET
involving 192 participants (2023: 236 participants) with a total of SH(ZTZ=F: 236K ETLHE) A5k
12,441 training hours (2023: 25,517 training hours)? to enhance %{7%12441 N (ZE =5 25517/ NI
working knowledge, safety compliance, service quality as well as )0 BIIEEEEIRALIENE 2268
compliance of anti-corruption. To promote happy working Hlﬁ%féf T UEEGR AEERLETIIER
environment, the Group participated in Happy@Work 2024 B oAEBE22ERESEEFHATENMN
organised by the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong. Happy@Work 2024 °

Notes: Mtat -

(1) Corporate training events cover leave and roster management training, IC (1) PEFINRECIFRBRRHIFEEF BE | R A B
management system training, ICAC training and fine dirill briefing sessions. Al - REE R E EERE I E

©) The decrease in training hours was mainly due to the reduction in on-the-job  (2) GRS ETEAR - E—NFFABNETHER -F
training hours as a result of fewer new joiners in 2024, as compared to 2023. ZEZFEATE  BHERENER L o
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
o.

Employee Training and Development Data

Percentage of employees trained

ERBEEBABRIA

“E_NFEFR

EXRRR HERERZE®@®
Employee Development and Training (Continued) 9.

EEREREIN @
EEEZIREREE
SEIEEFI L

By gender By employment category Overall
B R 2R S—
Management | Senior Staff | General Staff | of employees
Staff (%) (%) (%)
Year EEE BRET —REI EHESEIH
FE (%) (%) (%)
2024 95 94 91 86 100 95
—E-F
2023 88 90 80 85 92 89
—E-=F

Remark:  Overall percentage of employees calculation — Total participated

employees divided by total number of employees

Average hours of training

it BREBR NTE 2HESRYGLESEY

F 39 3% 91 B Y

BRI RERER average
training
hours
per
employee
(hour)
Management
Female Staff Senior Staff | General Staff [ & {ES R
(hour) (hour) (hour) 1935 3| R &
Year egi:3 EHEE SHRET
FE (/NEF) (/NEF) @N:)) (/NEF)
2024 12 18 6 14 14 14
—s-me
2023 19 32 19 16 27 24
—E-=F

Remark:  Overall average training hours for corporate training and departmental

training per employee calculation — Total training hours divided by total

number of employees

it -

&£ 1 8 MY 10 215 3| % BB PT 15 3l 1 2 88 7 15 1% 51 5 B
FHE BB B LR B AL
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EXRRR HERERZE®@®

10. Prevention of Child and Forced Labour 10. BFILET RAEHIET
The Employment and Compensation & Benefits Policies are REBFTUHN(EBESFMERNBER)  —H
established to meet or exceed the requirements of the BRESEBUERERND (BB EAE7E) RGE
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) Hl MR E S ENRDD B B o RE B JREREUA
and the MPFSO. The Group has adopted the following measures THEMELART LEE T S o& % THYFRES -

to prevent recruitment of child and forced labour:

Except for child entertainers and summer interns, the . RREBEREHEBTENUIN KEBEE
Group shall hold against hiring any candidate who is g AR ARM 18R EEE
under 18 years old;
For child entertainers, the Group renews permission to . EHRERE AEESFEMEIER
employ child entertainers yearly from the Labour AEARTRIEER &
Department; and
For summer interns, strict collection of sworn declaration . ZEREREZTE BMEBREHMKETE
forms and school endorsement are required to prevent BERRERBUSREUGIEEAZET -
child labour.
Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to BETMEREERAEERERSE - W ERR
management and follow up action will be taken. REITH o
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and RREHASEREERAEEEREES
regulations relating to labour standards that have a significant BEAXEFMATER 2 IBEREROEMS -

impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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EARE HEREAEEW®W
1. RES

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
11. Anti-corruption

The Group prohibits bribery and corruption practices. The Group
has established the Employee Handbook, in addition, the
Company Policy has posted on intranet web link regarding
standard code of ethics, which states the prevention of bribery,
gambling, collections and insider dealing, as well as the policy
on reporting potential non-compliance and conflict of interest.

Under the Group’s Code of Conduct, all staff are required to
abide by the laws on anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Group strives to promote business ethics and raise awareness
during the Reporting Period, the Group provided trainings and
regular communications to the Directors and the new
employees as part of their orientation programme of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group invited representatives
from the Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC")
to deliver training to its frontline staff. The training course covers
topics from understanding anti-corruption laws and regulations
to avoiding violation of laws and regulations in its operation
practices.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. There was one concluded legal case
regarding corruption practices against the Group's former
employee during the Reporting Period.

Whistleblowing

The Group operates a whistleblowing policy, which establishes
whistleblowing procedures for staff to report alleged material
non-compliance to the Group to investigate. Any possible
criminal offence cases will be referred to the audit committee of
the Group to decide further action with consultation from the
legal advisers of the Group. The whistleblowing channel is set up
in an anonymous manner for staff to report non-compliance
without the concern of retaliation. Any form of retaliation against
the whistleblower is prohibited. Staff is obliged to report alleged
material non-compliance to the Group, which will be
investigated.

AEEBREAASHETA AEEEHE
BRERIEETAN(E TEM B(ARKE)
WH BB A - HFIRD LR - B KT
BB R NERS AR IE RIS RS R A
HER BB -

REASENGRTER)  MEBTMHBAE
STAEBREBRED - Kl R EAD) (B
EPIE201E) - RBmERA - NEREB T ek
BEBRELARESES ARXERNEZNFESR
REFIREREE FRASE AR K
— 8D RMEHA - AREBFRBAE (B
BAZEDRRRBAGRE TREEI - BRI
BMETREITE BRTEBREFERER A
BEEEBEERTENAERER -

RESHE AEELEZLHER PR
BRF - ARFHAKEAEAZENEIZEN
E-NHEHE - RHHAKEMBT
MESRMRRGFEEES -

7

EmEE
AEEEHERRUR ETERLBHRET
MEETAAKRERSRIEZNERERTR
AETHE - A EANMEREFER
AEEEZZBRE KHALKBEIERERRK
RERBRE—FTH UERFTARERRA
BHREIRBIEGHREN SHAFTELER
WIE - I HBRAETERAEAORE -
THEEERAEBERETMSRENERD
e KRR EKBEBRAEENF
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
12. Community

Community Investment

Community Support

The Group cares about community development and offers
extensive support to society. During the Reporting Period, (i) the
Group took part in the Government'’s “The Strive and Rise
Programme,” aiming to bolster self-esteem and foster a positive
life perspective among young individuals; and (ii) the free
television platform has launched the microfilm collection “May It
Rain & Constellation” featuring creations from several young
directors of the social enterprise ‘Under Production.” Over 350
young people participated in the production. Through this
initiative, the Group provides a platform for young people to
showcase their work to the public while promoting the
importance of emotional and mental health to the people of
Hong Kong. This also supports the development of the Hong
Kong film industry and contributes to society, achieving
sustainable development.

CHIEBLE, AKN) CHTERE) R
e S s S v

Enviroqmg_ntal, §ocial and Governance Report
IRE - HEREGHRSE

EARE HEREAEZEW@W

12.

HE

HERE

XIFH R R R

AEEEELRER SHBREHRZEXE -
REBEMA - () ALE 2 E A BT LA
ATeenstdl | € BT LFMBRE(E » BRI IERK
AEB RETRBERFaEL(IFER
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
12. Community (Continued)

Community Investment (Continued)

Community Engagement

The Group is dedicated to producing quality programmes which
enhance the connection with local communities and inspire
people to care for the society. During the Reporting Period, the
Group's programme host teams actively participated in various
activities promoting health and community inclusion, including:
(i) the host team of “City Focus” (—#%1# &) participated in the
‘All-Powerful Show' organised by the Chu Kuang Cultural
Services Foundation Limited, encouraging teenagers to bravely
pursue their dreams; (ii) the host team of “Health Concern
Group” (& B #8 )£ 48) participated in the “Codekey Cookies”
social enterprise’s charity market, actively promoting the concept
of diversity and inclusion; and (iii) the hosts of “Health Concern
Group” ({2 FZ #8 )% #8) participated in the Mother's Day event
"Carnation Campaign 2024, co-organised by the ‘Yol Go’ Charity
Foundation, Chu Kuang Cultural Services Foundation, and the
Affectionate World Charitable Foundation, to celebrate maternal
love and pass on the traditional spirit of filial piety.

BERERE HERER
12. £ & (&)

ERRERENERLAR —ZEOEFFR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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CEERE SR

(A) REVIEW OF 2024 RESULTS (A) —E_NEFEEXE

Revenue from continuing operations of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 decreased by approximately
HK$14 million or 2% to approximately HK$584 million (2023:
approximately HK$598 million). This was mainly due to the
decrease in subscription revenues from the telecommunications
segment.

The total operating expenses from continuing operations of
the Group decreased by HK$32 million or 3% to approximately
HK$994 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$1,026 million). In which, cost of services
from continuing operations of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024, including programming costs, network
expenses and cost of sales, decreased by approximately HK$57
million to approximately HK$759 million (2023: approximately
HK$816 million). Programming costs and network expenses
from continuing operations both decreased by approximately
10% respectively as compared to the year ended 31 December
2023. Cost of sales from continuing operations increased by
approximately 6% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2023. Selling, general and administrative and other operating
expenses from continuing operations of the Group increased
by approximately 12% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2023.

The non-cash impairment losses in aggregate amount of
approximately HK$36 million (2023: HK$47 million), HKS5 million
(2023: HK$20 million) and HKS$11 million (2023: HK$15 million)
were included within programming costs, network expenses
and selling, general and administrative and other operating
expenses, respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2024 as
a result of management’s assessment of the business prospect
of the Group in light of the latest market environment.

Loss from operations from continuing operations of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HKS$410 million, representing a decrease of approximately 4%,
as compared with the loss from operations from continuing
operations of the Group of approximately HK$428 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

AEEBE-_ZT-_NF+A=+T—HLFE
1548 45 2 FE TS IR D %9 14,000,000 78 7T 3% 2%
Z #584,000,0007 7T (= = =4F : %7598,000,000
BIT) W EZHNRBIAD AT P URA TR
FTEL »

REE-ZE-_NF+_A=+—HLFE"
AEBERELEEBNEEERALBRIY
32,000,000 JT 3% 3% & #7994,000,000 % 7T (= F
Z = 491,026,0000007C) c - AEE
HE-_Z-_ME+-_A=+—HBILFEEHE
WEZEBHRERA (B B ZIEKA - 8
wEB R RIEEKA) R 457000000 T E L
759,000,000 7T (= & — = 4F : 49816,000,000 /&
TO) c FHEKEESNE B EER A RPKE R
R E T -_=F+_-_A=+—HLEFES
B D #H)10% © FEBLEFBHHEENEAREZE
CEC=FF+ A=+ —HILEFEEMD 6% °
REBBECEEBFHNEE  —K THREE
e BsAgHE T -_=F+-_A=1+—8
IEFEEINA12% o

HE TN+ -_A=+—BLHFE AR
EEERESRVMBEREYASEEEKII=A
FEAE - JETR &R B 5 1B 4258 49 36,000,000 T (=
T = = 4F 1 47,000,000/ 7T) * 5,000,000 7T (=
T = = 4F : 20,000,000 7T) } 11,000,0007 7T (=
T = =4 : 15,000,000 70) 2 AT AR K B R &R
BRERA - BEEARBEE  — 8 1TTEREHE
BB o

AEBBEE T _NF+_A=+—ALEE
5B IC R ST R 48 & BT 1B 49 410,000,000 8 7T + 8%
AEBHE-_Z-_=ZF+_A=+—HILFE
B 1S S FE TS B 82 5 18 49 428,000,000 78 JTRL A
#34% o
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CEERE SR

(A) REVIEW OF 2024 RESULTS (Continued) (A) —ZE_NFEX£Em@m

On top of the recognition of non-cash impairment losses on
certain non-current assets mentioned above, the loss from
continuing operations of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 included the recognition of fair value losses on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") of
approximately HK$8 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, as compared to the fair value losses on financial assets at
FVTPL of approximately HK$6 million recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Finance costs from continuing operations of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately
HKS$42 million or 50% to approximately HK$126 million (2023:
approximately HK$84 million), of which approximately HK$43
million (2023: approximately HK$41 million) was the total
interest expense on unlisted long-term convertible bonds issued
(the 2019 LCS") and March 2021 (the “2021 LCS"),
and approximately HK$63 million (2023: approximately HK$37
million) was interest expenses on interest-bearing borrowings.

in June 2019

After the recognition of interest income, finance costs, non-
operating expenses, net and income tax, the Group recorded
a net loss from continuing operations of approximately
HK$553 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$548 million), representing an increase of
net loss from continuing operations of approximately 1%, as
compared to the last year.

Loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 decreased by
approximately HK$36 million or 6% to approximately HK$553
million, as compared to that of 2023. The decrease in the loss
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly
attributable to, among other things, the loss from discontinued
operation in 2023 and decrease in operating expenses, partially
offset by the increase in finance costs.

Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately HK7.8 cents (2023: approximately
HK8.3 cents). Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing
operations for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK7.8 cents (2023: approximately HK7.7 cents).

BT ERETIERDEERRIERSHER
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EFEMBECEEBEREEHZ -2
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CEERE SR

(A) REVIEW OF 2024 RESULTS (Continued) (A) ZE_NFEX£HEm@m

During the year ended 31 December 2024, included in operating
expenses from continuing operations, impairment losses
of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$27
million, right-of-use assets of approximately HK$4 million and
programming library of approximately HK$21 million, were
recognised in relation to the cash-generating unit to which
the remaining assets of the Group are allocated. Management
determined the value in use of the cash-generating unit with the
assistance of an independent qualified professional valuer, which
is measured using the discounted cash flow projections. The
cash flow projections are based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of the Company. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a long term growth rate. The
valuation method used was consistent with the requirements
prescribed by Hong Kong Accounting Standard ("HKAS") 36
“Impairment of Assets” and remained the same as that of last
year.

The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections included
forecast revenue at growth rates ranging from 6% to 19% (2023:
-9% to 19%) and forecast operating expenses at rates ranging
from -6% to -1% (2023: -20% to -1%) over the five-year period,
which are determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the businesses; long term growth rate of
2.5% (2023: 2.5%) which is consistent with the forecast of the
businesses and the expected market development; and the pre-
tax discount rate of 16.60% (2023: 16.34%) which reflects specific
risks relating to the businesses. Changes in assumptions from
previous year's reflected management's latest business plans
and business prospect in light of the latest market environment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEERE SR

(B) SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (B) o EB&E %

The principal activities of the Group comprise media and
telecommunications operations.

Media

The media segment includes operations related to the domestic
free television programme service, advertising, television relay
service, programme licensing, theatrical release and other media
related businesses, while 2023 results includes the pay television
subscription business terminated with effect from 1 June 2023.

Revenue from continuing operations derived from the media
segment for the year ended 31 December 2024 increased by
approximately HK$8 million or 4% to approximately HK$220
million (2023: approximately HK$212 million), which was mainly
due to increased advertising revenue.

Operating expenses from continuing operations before
depreciation, amortisation of other intangible assets and
impairment losses incurred by the media segment for the year
ended 31 December 2024 increased to approximately HK$549
million (2023: approximately HK$503 million). As disclosed in
“Segment Information” in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the loss before depreciation,
amortisation of other intangible assets and impairment losses
from continuing operations of the media segment for the year
ended 31 December 2024 increased to approximately HK$329
million (2023: approximately HK$291 million), which was mainly
due to increase in operating expenses.

Telecommunications

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other telecommunications
related businesses.

Revenue derived from the telecommunications segment for
the year ended 31 December 2024 decreased by approximately
HK$22 million or 6% to approximately HK$364 million (2023:
approximately HK$386 million).
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(B)

Q)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Telecommunications (Continued)

Operating expenses before depreciation, amortisation of
other intangible assets and impairment losses incurred by
the telecommunications segment for the year ended 31
December 2024 decreased to approximately HK$243 million
(2023: approximately HK$291 million). As disclosed in “Segment
Information” in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, the profit before depreciation, amortisation
of other intangible assets and impairment losses from the
telecommunications segment for the year ended 31 December
2024 increased by approximately HK$26 million or 27% to
approximately HK$121 million (2023: approximately HK$95
million), which was mainly due to the decrease in operating
expenses.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances
and restricted bank balances of approximately HK$54 million
and HK$12 million, respectively as compared to approximately
HKS$29 million and HKS$ 12 million, respectively as at 31 December
2023. The increase in cash and bank balances was mainly due
to the net cash used in operations and investing activities and
offsetting with the net cash from financing activities. The cash
and bank balances and restricted bank balances of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar ("HKS"). The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of
the total interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances divided by
total deficit, was a negative of approximately 102% (31 December
2023: a negative of approximately 118%). As at 31 December
2024, the Group recorded total assets of approximately HK$883
million which were financed by total liabilities of approximately
HK$2,765 million offsetting with the total deficit of approximately
HK$1,882 million. As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
total assets of approximately HK$945 million which were
financed by total liabilities of approximately HKS$2,274 million
offsetting with the total deficit of approximately HK$1,329
million. The increase in total deficit was attributable to the loss
for the year.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND REES HMEERRENER &

Q)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Consolidated net liability value of the Group as at 31 December
2024 was approximately HK$1,882 million, while the Group
recorded a consolidated net liability value of approximately
HKS$1,329 million as at 31 December 2023.

The carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings
denominated in HKS as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$1,391 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$1,041
million), in which the bank loan carries interest at variable rates
and was repayable on demand; and the loans from Celestial
Pioneer Limited (a company holding 72.0% of the total number
of issued shares of Forever Top (Asia) Limited (“Forever Top”),
a substantial shareholder holding 43.2% shareholding of
the Company, and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun,
Henry ("Dr. Cheng”), the Director) carry interest at fixed rates
ranging from 2.5% to 8.0% per annum and with a term of
three years from the date of respective loan agreements. As
at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group has
utilised all committed borrowing facilities. Subsequent to the
year end, loans with an aggregate amount of HK$230 million
was extended in March 2025 with maturity dates beyond 31
December 2025.

The 2019 LCS

On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS with the principal
amount of HK$568 million by the Company to Forever Top,
the controlling shareholder of the Company was completed.
The 2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)") upon full
conversion of the 2019 LCS based on the initial conversion
price (the “Conversion Price”) of HK$0.125 per conversion share
and the coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and
payable quarterly. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 8 April 2019
(the “2019 Circular”). During the year ended 31 December 2024,
there had not been any conversion of the 2019 LCS.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND Q) REBEL MBEERREARLERE @

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)
The 2019 LCS (Continued)

The carrying amount of liability component of the 2019 LCS
denominated in HKS as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$448 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$426
million). Details of the 2019 LCS were set out in “Convertible
Bonds” in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2019 LCS
have all been utilised as at 31 December 2020 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2019 Circular.

The 2021 LCS

On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021 LCS with the
principal amount of HK$200 million by the Company to Forever
Top was completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new Shares upon full conversion of the 2021 LCS
based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.068 per conversion
share and the coupon rate of the 2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum
and payable quarterly. The Company may at any time on or
after the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than
10 business days’ written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021
LCS to redeem all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding
principal amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued
but unpaid interest. Details of the 2021 LCS are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 January 2021 and
31 March 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March
2021 (the "2021 Circular”). During the year ended 31 December
2024, there had not been any conversion or redemption of the
2021 LCS.

The carrying amount liability component and redemption
option of the 2021 LCS denominated in HKS as at 31 December
2024 was approximately HK$152 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$146 million) and approximately HK$26 million
(2023: approximately HK$34 million) respectively. Details of the
2021 LCS were set out in “Convertible Bonds” in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND Q) REBESL MBEERREARLERE @

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)
The 2021 LCS (Continued)

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021 LCS
have all been utilised as at 31 December 2022 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2021 Circular.

The Group takes a centralised approach to the Group's funding
and treasury management as well as optimisation of the funding
cost-efficiency. The management (i) strives to maintain a
balanced debt and capital financing structure; (i) ensures secure
and optimum return on the investment of surplus funds within
an agreed risk profile; (iii) oversees the treasury related financial
risks, including but not limited to interest rate risk, currency
risk, liquidity risk and credit risk; (iv) strives to diversify source
of funding and maintain a balanced maturity profile; and (v)
maintains an appropriate control environment to protect the
financial return under the fluidity financial market conditions.

The Group's assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in
HKS and United States Dollars ("USS”) and it earns its revenue
and incurs costs and expenses mainly in HKS and USS. As HKS
is pegged to USS, the Group does not expect any significant
foreign currency exposure arising from the fluctuation of the
USS/HKS or HKS/USS exchange rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, capital expenditure
on property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HKS$54 million (2023: approximately HK$67 million), the additions
to right-of-use assets were approximately HKS5 million (2023:
approximately HK$201 million), the additions to programming
library were approximately HK$44 million (2023: approximately
HKS$43 million) and no additions to other intangible assets (2023:
approximately HK$3 million).

The Group generally financed its operations with internally
generated cash flows and loans from the controlling shareholder
of Forever Top.
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(D) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(E)

(F)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2024, a corporate guarantee of HK$295
million (2023: HK$295 million) had been provided by the
Company to a bank in respect of the facility of borrowing up
to HK$295 million (2023: HK$295 million) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295 million (2023:
HKS$295 million) was utilised by the wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had made an arrangement
with a bank to provide a performance bond to the counterparty
amounting to approximately HK$34 million (2023: approximately
HK$35 million), of which approximately HK$4 million (2023:
approximately HKS5 million) was secured by bank deposits. The
performance bond is to guarantee in favour of the counterparties
the Group’s performance in fulfilling the obligations under a
contract.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 895 full-time employees as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023:1,070). Total salaries and related costs before
capitalisation and incurred for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately HK$349 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$409 million). The
remuneration of the Directors and the employees of the Group
is determined with reference to their qualifications, experience,
duties and responsibilities with the Group, as well as the Group's
performance and the prevailing market conditions. Besides, the
Group regularly provides training courses for the employees of
the Group to meet their needs.
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(G)

(H)

n

0))

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Although the Group has terminated the pay television (“Pay TV")
operation with effect from 1 June 2023, the Group recorded an
improvement on advertising revenue.

For broadband services, the number of customers as at 31
December 2024 decreased as compared to that as at 31
December 2023, due to keen market competition. In view of
above, the Group will continue to expand the network coverage
and upgrade of the Group's network to provide high speed
GPON services to enhance the Group's competitiveness.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, restricted bank balances of
approximately HK$12 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$12 million) were made by the Group to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures or significant
investments of the Group, which would have been required to
be disclosed under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group will continue to invest in property, plant and
equipment and programming library as required by its business
operations, and explore the market and identify any business
opportunities which will be beneficial to its growth and
development, enhance its profitability, and strive for better
return to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

The Group's ongoing capital expenditure will be funded by
internal cash flows generated from operations and the loans
from the controlling shareholder of Forever Top.
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Hong Kong's retail and catering industries have been affected by
economic uncertainties and northbound consumption among
Hong Kong people, resulting in the volatility of the overall
economy. The Group will enhance advertisers’ confidence
by enriching content and improving the quality of push
advertisements, increase interaction and engagement with
customers, exert precise influence over targeted audiences and
provide customers with the most effective marketing model,
to attract potential advertisers to place advertisements on the
Group's platforms, thus achieving revenue growth.

In terms of programme content, the Group will continue
to produce programmes while adhering to the principles
of innovation, responsiveness to social changes and overall
sentiment of the audience. The Group commenced production
of HOY TV's first original drama, “Hong Kong Story” (& JLEEY),
in November 2024, while preparing to produce the mini-series
“Love Suddenly" (3 %X /& &2 %), which aim of opening up new
Creative paths and creating new entertainment models for Hong
Kong dramas.
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) AIS (@)

Media (Continued)

Sponsored by the Cultural and Creative Industries Development
Agency of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, “Love Suddenly” (3 X B 2 =) was
broadcasted on HOY 77 and various social media platforms in
early 2025 and has been arranged to be submitted for review in
the Mainland, with a view to broadcasting the series in China as
soon as possible.

In 2025, HOY TV is going all-in on cross-platform campaigns
for our flagship programmes, blending traditional media with
the latest digital trends. Plus, we're driving the marketing
and creative vision for a ton of massive variety and drama
productions.

By seizing the development opportunities in the GBA, the
Group has once again collaborated with Guangdong Radio and
Television to produce the large-scale programme “Spring Festival
Gala 2025" (£ 2K 2 4 & X ), which featured an expanded
lineup of performers, with nearly 400 participants. In addition,
as the lives of Hong Kong people have become increasingly

intertwined with the entire GBA, HOY TV will develop a series of
GBA-themed programmes, with a view to integrating into the
GBA market.
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) A& (@)

Media (Continued)

The 2025 National Games will be held in November and will be
jointly hosted by Guangdong, Hong Kong, and Macao for the first
time. HOY will uphold its professional standards, deliver expert
commentary, and fulfil its duties as local media to bring viewers
in Hong Kong and Mainland China not only event coverage but
also diverse content beyond the competitions themselves.

The i-CABLE News team will continue to provide a wide variety
of infotainment programmes and strengthen cooperation with
District Councils to follow up on major and minor community
issues. The team will closely liaise with District Community Care
Teams to follow up on livelihood issues. The Group looks forward
to exploring the latest social issues in a casual manner, inviting
peers in the industry and professionals to provide “tips” and
lazy guides for viewers, providing them with diversified content
options.

"Technology of Great Nations” (X B & £): Showcases
the country's scientific breakthroughs and technological
advancements across various fields every week.

“People & Stories” (A ¥ ® HI % ): Explores every corner of the
city to uncover hidden stories and unique characters that make
our community so special. Get ready to experience the real heart
and soul of the city and see a side you've never seen before.

“Finance Encyclopedia” (81 & & %}): Breaks down complex
financial topics in way that everyone can understand, demystify
financial jargon, analyze the latest trends and introduce you to
the hottest players in the world of finance.

“Around the World" (t 5 8 — [&): Explores the latest
technological innovations, unravels the mysteries of the cosmos,
and discovers quirky and fascinating stories from around the
globe. Connect with the world like never beforel!
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) A& (@)

Media (Continued)

The Group has actively responded to the development of
digital media and the new economy. In 2025, the Group will
launch a variety of screen solutions, including TV applications,
to provide audience with more streaming platforms.
Application optimisation and content expansion are expected
to bring revenue growth to the Group. By providing value-
added integrated marketing solutions and multi-platform
media bundling, the Group plans to capture more business
opportunities in 2025 and beyond. These measures will
help broaden the scope of business and enhance market
competitiveness.

In recent years, the government's active promotion of the
tourism industry and the increasingly dynamic economic
integration in the Greater Bay Area are expected to bring new
demands to the advertising market in 2025. The MTR in-train TV
has now been extended to the Tuen Ma Line and the Island Line,
ready to meet the railway connectivity needs of the Greater Bay
Area and grasp the corresponding advertising opportunities.
The Group will add more content related to lifestyle and
entertainment on MTR in-train TV to allow more product
categories to find their niche in targeted promotions.

Telecommunications

As for the telecommunications sector, the Group will continue
to focus on improving service quality and adjusting appropriate
business strategies. At the same time, the Group actively seeks to
explore business cooperation and other network collaboration
opportunities with other telecommunications operators, aiming
to develop its core business by leveraging the Group's network
strengths and centralising resources to improve efficiency.

The Group has been focusing on formulating and implementing
organisational restructuring, which includes, among other things,
(i) identifying cost-saving initiatives through automation and
process re-engineering; (ii) promoting more locally produced
high quality content and introducing new overseas contents; (iii)
exploring new content co-operation models between free-to-
air television channels and other digital media platforms to cope
with the increasingly fierce competition from alternative media
platforms; and (iv) performing strategic reviews on possible
restructuring of the Group to enhance business performance
and management efficiency, promote synergies, and improve
cost efficiency and profitability, and on the financial performance
of the Group. As part of a strategic review, the Group has been
and will continue to prudently evaluate any opportunities and
potential partnerships.
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(L)

(M)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. On 4 February 2025, Hong Kong Cable Television Limited
("HKC") as the borrower, entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender, pursuant to
which, HKC obtained an unsecured loan with a principal
amount of HK$60,000,000 for a term of 3 years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of
6.0% per annum.

2. On 18 March 2025, HKC as the borrower, entered into
a loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the
lender, pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured
loan with a principal amount of HK$60,000,000 for a term
of 3 years from the date of the said loan agreement, with
an interest rate of 6.0% per annum.

3. On 5 November 2024, EM M B EMARFEBER A E
(Guangzhou KuanXun Technology Services Co., Ltd.), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Vendor”) entered into an agreement with an independent
third party of the Company (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell a property in Guangzhou
for a total consideration of RMB21,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$23,217,000). As at the end of the reporting period, the
transaction has yet to be completed. The parties agreed
on 25 March 2025 to extend the completion date for the
Purchaser to fulfil the conditions under said agreement. As
at the date of this annual report, the Vendor has received
sums totalling RMB2,020,000 (equivalent to HK$2,201,800),
comprising the deposit payable under the agreement and
a part of the balance of the consideration for the property
concerned.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
events affecting the Group's financial performance and/or
financial position significantly that have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the place in which the Group operates that has a
significant impact on the business operations of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

ERELGRSE

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

(@)

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices, and procedures and to
complying with the statutory and regulatory requirements with
an aim to maximising the Shareholders’ values and interests as
well as enhancing the stakeholders’ transparency and
accountability. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company had applied the principles of good corporate
governance and complied with all applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”") as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, with the exception of the
deviation as set out under section (C) below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Company, having
made specific enquiries of all the Directors, was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also applied the principles of the Model Code
for securities transactions to the employees of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Group as well as promoting the success of the Group with
the objective of acting for the best of the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole by directing and supervising its
affairs in a responsible and effective manner. The key
responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the overall
strategies of the Group, monitoring the performance of the
management, and ensuring the duties delegated to respective
board committees of the Company are effectively performed.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
ten Directors, of whom four are executive Directors, two
are non-executive Directors and four are independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board is
set out below:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
(Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
(Executive Director)
Mr. TO Chi Hak
(Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director)
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis
(Executive Director)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey
(Independent non-executive Director)
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman
(Independent non-executive Director)
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition of the Board (Continued)

Biographical information of the Directors and the
relationship among the members of the Board are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors,
Senior Management and Company Secretary” on pages
133 to 143 of this annual report. Each Director has been
appointed on the strength of his/her calibre, experience
and stature, and his/her potential to contribute to the
proper guidance of the Group and its businesses.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

The Company has established effective mechanisms to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board including but not limited to, giving the Directors
access to independent professional advice to discharge
his/her duties in appropriate circumstances. Such
independent views mechanisms in place are subject to
annual review by the Board.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Operation of the Board

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. The management of the Group (the
“Management”) has closely monitored changes to
regulations that affect its corporate affairs and businesses,
and changes to accounting standards, and adopted
appropriate reporting format in its interim report, annual
report and other related documents to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospects. Where these
changes are pertinent to the Company or Directors’
disclosure obligations, the Directors are either briefed
during Board meetings or issued with regular updates and
materials to keep them abreast of their responsibilities and
of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Group. The Company has ensured that the Directors can
participate in Board meetings in a meaningful and
effective manner. The Company has also provided
accurate, clear, complete and reliable information in a
timely manner to the Directors to enable them to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as the Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Board and the Management. Decisions on important
matters are specifically reserved to the Board while
decisions on the Group's general operations are delegated
to the Management. Important matters include those
affecting the Group's strategic policies, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to
the Group's operations.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules), have
no material interest in the transaction should be present
at that Board meeting.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance

The Board has a balance of skills and experience and a
balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors with diversity of skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements of the Group’s business. Four Board
meetings of the Company were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024. Notice of not less than 14 days
was given to all the Directors for the regular Board meetings
and the Directors were given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for the regular Board meetings. The
attendance records of the Directors are set out below:

Directors
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Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
(Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
(Executive Director)
Mr. TO Chi Hak (Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director)
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Executive Director)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey
(Independent non-executive Director)
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman
(Independent non-executive Director)
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

The external auditor attended the annual general meeting
of the Company on 6 June 2024 (the "AGM") to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the independent auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence and the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors during the year.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Listing
Rules. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

Each Director (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years upon expiry of the then current term
of the appointment, unless terminated in accordance with
the terms of his/her letter of appointment. They are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles and the Listing Rules.

Code Provision C.1.6 of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates
that independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should give
the board and any committees on which they serve the
benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular attendance and active
participation. Generally, they should also attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Also, Code Provision F.2.2 of
Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting.

Dr. Cheng (the chairman of the Board and a non-executive
Director) and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director) were unable to attend the AGM as
each of Dr. Cheng and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger had other
engagements at the time of such meeting. In the absence
of the chairman of the Board, Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, the
Vice-chairman and an executive Director, acted as the
chairman of the AGM, and together with other Directors
present at the AGM, were sufficiently knowledgeable and
capable to address any questions at the AGM, ensuring an
effective communication with the Shareholders.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Iv.

Director’s Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will be provided with induction
training. Each of them shall receive the information on the
duties and responsibilities of directors under statutory
regulations and the Listing Rules, and other information
on corporate governance matters. The newly appointed
Directors shall meet the fellow Directors and the
Management to ensure they have an understanding on
the Group's operations and business. They shall also
receive materials relating to the operations and business
of the Group.

The Company will arrange for Directors to attend training
sessions and forums which place emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director, as well
as the development of regulatory updates and issues. The
Company will also provide the Directors with the latest
development of the Listing Rules, and the relevant laws,
rules and regulations relating to the Director’s duties and
responsibilities. All Directors had provided their training
records to the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2024 and the training records are maintained
by the Company.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
IV. Director’s Induction and Continuous

C EEgm)
V. EEZABRBESEEER @

Professional Development (Continued)

According to the records of training maintained by the
Company, all the current Directors had, during the
financial year under review, pursued continuous

professional development and relevant details are set out

below:

Directors

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
(Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman,
Executive Director)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
(Executive Director)
Mr. TO Chi Hak (Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director)
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Executive Director)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey
(Independent non-executive Director)
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman
(Independent non-executive Director)

BxumEt
(FERIBITEE)
ERERE(BIZRE  HITEF)

FEBEXLE
(BTEE)
MWZRFEE (THBHRATEE)

BEEBL (HITEE)
RIBEZ L (FHITEE)
Mg LA
(BUHFHTEF)
BRI
(BUHHTEE)
BEREL
(BUHHTEE)
AERKLE
(BUHFHTEF)

RIEAR R AT RTF RO S5 IR0 8% - OB ER RS
BEEAMABREESFEA2EFETE
R LBEBERIDNT

Type of continuous professional
development

RESXEREY
Attending
Reading journals,  seminars and/or
updates and conferences
articles and/or and/or forums
materials, etc.  and/or E-training
REAT B HEWNER/
& XER/D AERER DHE
BRES  R/ABLEI
v/ .
/ -
v/ -
v/ .
v/ _
/ -
v/ v/
v/ .
v/ v
v/ v/

“E_NFEFR

75



76

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report

EEESHRE

(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

Mr. TO Chi Hak is the chief executive officer of the Company. He
is responsible for developing strategies, executing strategies as
agreed by the Board and the general operations of the Group.

Dr. Cheng is the Chairman during the year. Dr. Cheng provides
leadership to the Board and is primarily responsible for
monitoring the Board's efficiency.

The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Under the Articles and the Listing Rules, all Directors are subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting of the Company at
least once every three years and are subject to re-election. The
Board may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new
Director shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

The re-election of each of the independent non-executive
Directors who has served on the Board for more than nine years
is subject to (i) a separate resolution to be approved by
Shareholders at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company; and (ii) further information being given to the
Shareholders together with the notice of meeting regarding the
reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected.

Appropriate liability insurance for the Directors has been
arranged for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES
() Audit Committee

The Company has set up the audit committee of the
Company (the "AC") with majority of the members being
independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of
this annual report, the AC comprises Mr. LUK Koon Hoo,
Roger (an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the AC), Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Tang Sing
Ming Sherman (an independent non-executive Director).

No member of the AC is a former partner of the existing
audit firm of the Company during the period of two years
after he ceases to be a partner of the audit firm. All AC
members have sufficient experience in reviewing audited
financial statements as aided by the auditor of the Group
whenever required. In addition, at least one of the
member of the AC has the appropriate professional
qualifications or experience in financial matters as required
under the Listing Rules.

Two AC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024. Attendance records of the AC
members are set out below:

ERREBEANEBRLIA —ZE-OFEFH

(F) EXZEE

)

BRERS
ARRAERIADABRELG (BRE
B®))  REBAHS RBIFNITES -
RAEHRAS BREETHERT AL
(B FNTEERBREAGIR)  #
BRHE B ERTES) RSERLE

(B IERITESR) MK -

BERFEEFRARARENZEAF
AIEABARBEZZBRARAEAER
EAtMERER - HEEZZBEEKE -
2HEZZEENBEEEHNEERYT
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi%%ﬁﬁ YHEFEZEHA
SEOZBERE - I BREEEE
PR ERA LHRAMEREE D
EXERARNU BT mAEER -

HE_Z-WHF+-A=+—HIEMHF
r %ﬁia@%ﬁﬂﬁﬁmam’ﬁim
RSB T

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEERNW

Committee Members Y GEEE
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (Chairman) BEE A (£E) 2/2
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman [ =1 € 2/2
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman mEREA 2/2
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

The terms of reference of the AC, which are available

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code and the recommendations set out in
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants. Given below are the main duties of

the AC:

(A) Relationship with the Company’s
external auditor

(a

to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of their resignation
or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external
auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards. The AC should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

to develop and implement policy
on engaging an external auditor to
provide non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the
audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably
conclude to be part of the audit firm
nationally or internationally. The AC
should report to the Board, identifying
and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is
needed.

(F) EEZEE W

) BEZXZEE @

() BRESENBESHE ERB R
RAD R 4B B(REEATRR
HOIEXRE S AGEMN(E
BEEBEAREREI)NENEE
1B HEBREEENTEREH

ZIanR

(A) EEZARDRSMEEZ BAT R BE R

(a

T2ABRIMEREEN
RIE - EMRERERRA
ExeEfEs s
HE A2 BEM 1O % B & N2 BE
R - M BRI (AR B %
B B B kB R 2R B
b £ S =2

BER IR R KB
SNERBEN R DB LR E
EZBRFREEN &
ZEZEBERNZBTFH
4R A1 5T B AR 2R R T W A% B
HERBELARARE
TR

BLONEAZ BUEM R FEAZ B
PR 765 %Il JE BUER - 37 T LA
TeombAEMSE - [HD
B8 BiENng i
e /NI R 2
B-PTERIEEEZT
I ME A - S —(E5 2
HEMEBHAERNE =
o EEEBATEEHE
FZREBRZABERZEN
7 B A 7N M 3 B B 2 A Y
— WO TS - B
ZESRMEMTERR
TENMENEERNES
gWE - WIRHEZ -



Corporate Governance Report

EEESHRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

(B) Review of financial information of the
Company

(a)

to monitor integrity of financial
statements of the Company and the
Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to
review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before
submission to the Board, the AC should
focus particularly on:

(i any changes in accounting
policies and practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting
from audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumptions
and any qualifications;

(v) compliance with accounting
standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing
Rules and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting.
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TEERRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) EBZEE @)

() Audit Committee (Continued) ) BERZEES W
(i)  (Continued) i (&)
(B) Review of financial information of the (B) TBHAQRMHMBER (H)
Company (Continued)
(b)  regarding (B)(a) above: (b) FEIB))BEME :

(0

the AC should liaise with the
Board and senior management
and must meet, at least twice a
year, with the Company’s

U]

ZFehEREREA
EME B8
FREELERNRA

external auditor; and B HNEE iz BURM B &
MR &
(i) the AC should consider any iy BEREZECEEZRE
significant or unusual items that RZERERER
are, or may need to be, reflected HOFT R MRSk AT BE B
in the report and accounts, it EREMEMERK
should give due consideration to A EEEE W
any matters that have been JEEE E R TS

raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function,
or for compliance function or
auditors.

(C) Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control

systems

(@ to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control
systems covering all controls; including
financial, operational and compliance
controls;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

It

)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(b)

to discuss the risk management and
internal control systems with
management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to
have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and
budgets of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit, financial reporting
functions and the Company’s ESG
performance and reporting;

to consider major investigation findings
on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the
Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these
findings and review the statements
concerning risk management and
internal control systems to be included
in the annual report;

to ensure co-ordination between the
internal audit function and external
auditor, to review and approve the
annual internal audit plan, to ensure
that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the
Company for it to carry out an analysis
and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company'’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control
systems, and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit
function;
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EEESHRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(

)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(e)

to review the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’s
management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a
timely response to the issues raised in
the external auditor’'s management
letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in
the code provisions as set out in the
Listing Rules;

to establish procedures for (i) the
receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls, or auditing
matters; and (ii) the confidential,
anonymous submission by employees
of the Company of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing
matters;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F)
() Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(@)

(D)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

() to review arrangements employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The
AC should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(k) to act as the key representative body
for overseeing the Company’s relations
with the external auditor; and

() to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

Review and reassessment of these
terms of reference

At least annually, the AC shall review and
reassess the adequacy of these terms of
reference and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval.
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EEESHRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

(E) Oversight of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Matters

(a)

to develop and review the Company's
policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations
to the Board:;

to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees
and the Directors;

to review the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report as set out
in the annual report of the Company;
and

to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

The Group has adopted and established the
Whistleblowing Policy & Procedures. The AC has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for
employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Head of
Human Resources Department, and any and all

relevant complaints received may then be referred

to the AC about possible improprieties in any matter

related to the Group.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(iff)

The work performed by the AC for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below:

review of the annual audit plan of the external
auditor before the audit commences, and
discussion with them about the nature and
scope of the audit;

approval of the remuneration and the
appointment and the terms of engagement
of the external auditor;

review of the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards;

review of the half-year and annual
consolidated financial statements of the
Group before submission to the Board, with
particular consideration of the points
mentioned in paragraph (i)(B) above
regarding the duties of the AC;

review of the internal audit report and annual
audit plan of the internal audit function
carried out by independent professionals;

review of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems and the statements
concerning risk management and internal
control systems to be included in the annual
report;

meeting with the external auditor without
the executive Director present;
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N R She o4 2D M
b % B /O $El =]
(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) ESZEE @
() Audit Committee (Continued) ) BEZXZEEE @
(i) (Continued) iy (&)
(h)  review of the corporate governance matters (h BEIAEEMNDGEERER:
of the Group;
(i) review of the terms of reference of the AC; () ®BIEZZESBERE:
and &
() review of and monitoring of the Group's () BIARERAEBEZHZETE
compliance with legal and regulatory BREERE -

requirements.

(I) Compensation Committee n FHEES

The Company has set up the compensation committee of ARFERIUARAFMNEZEES ([HHE
the Company (the “CC") consisting of four members of Bgl) HAWEXEEK  EP =28
which three of them are the independent non-executive BUIRTES -NAFHRAH  FHFWE
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the CC EemMEELE (BYIENTESHY
comprises Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non- MEEEEXRF)  BLHFELEE@RTES)
executive Director and the Chairman of the CC), Mr. MARAHE (B ENTES) REERE
TSANG On Yip, Patrick (an executive Director), Prof. HU H OB IEHITESE) K -

Shao Ming Herman (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director).

One CC meeting was held during the financial year ended FWMEZEEERBE_T_MNF+_H
31 December 2024. Attendance record of the CC members ST —ALUREFERNET-REE - H
is set out below: MZEEEKE 2 HELRENAT :
Attendance/
Number of
Meeting
HESEN
Committee Members RE EHEE
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (Chairman) Mg S () /1
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick BLERE 1/1
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman HARE AR IR "
1

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger PEE s 1/
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ERELGRSE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Compensation Committee (Continued)

0]

The terms of reference of the CC, which are available

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the CC:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration, and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals by reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives;

either:

(i) to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; or

(i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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EEESHRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Compensation Committee (Continued)

()

(Continued)

®

to review and approve compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates is involved in deciding that
Director’'s own remuneration;

to advise the shareholders on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of
Directors that require the shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules;

to decide with respect to the employee share
option scheme:

(i) the Employees to whom options shall
be granted;

(i) the number of shares subject to each
option;

(i) the date on which options shall be
granted; and

(iv)  the subscription price;
to review and/or approve matters relating to
the share schemes under Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules; and

to review any compensation related or other
issues as requested by the Board.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Compensation Committee (Continued)

(i) The work performed by the CC, which has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 is
summarised below:

(@)  review of the Company's policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and the
senior management;

(b)  assess performance of the executive Director
and the consideration and approval of the
emoluments for all the Directors and the
senior management;

(©)  make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors
and senior management;

(d)  review of the terms of reference of CC; and

(e)  review the scheme rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

The basis of determining the emoluments payable to its
Directors and the senior management is with reference to
their qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities
with the Group, as well as the Group’s performance and
the prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration of the senior management, whose
biographical details are included in section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” of this annual report, during the year
falls within the bands are disclosed in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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EEESHRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(I

(1)

Compensation Committee (Continued)
Remuneration Policy

The remuneration of the Directors and the employees of
the Group is determined with reference to their
qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities with
the Group, as well as the Group’s performance and the
prevailing market conditions. Besides, the Group regularly
provides training courses for the employees of the Group
to meet their needs. Under the share option scheme of
the Company adopted on 24 May 2018 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), share options of the Company (the “Share
Options”) may be granted to the Directors and eligible
employees of the Group to subscribe for Shares.

The CC also made recommendations to the Board on the
terms of service contracts and letters of appointment of
the new Executive Directors appointed during the year.

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the nomination committee of
the Company (the “NC") which requires the majority of its
of its members to be independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the NC
comprises Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (an independent
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the NC), Mr.
LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director).

At present, more than one-third of the Directors on the
Board are the independent non-executive Directors. They
represent diverse career experience in both international
and local enterprises. They bring with them diverse
professional backgrounds, spanning property
development and investment, banking, legal, advisory,
hospitality and entrepreneurship. They also hold or have
held important public service positions in Hong Kong and
China, covering business, industry and commerce, sports,
education, regulatory and politics.

(F) EEZEE W

(I

(1

FHNEEE @)

N BUR
EERALEETNTM NS ERINE
FE% RAESEOBBERBE UK
AEBMOEEREHTRMET © o -
AEETHAAERS TIEMGARES
BHEYIERRE - REAATR-E—N\F
HA A RA R E B ([RERR
HiEl)) MEERALEAEREIRT
A S0 A1 B A A E B AR (R ARAE ) ©

FHEARTAEERRAE NS EAOH
PITEENORE A TR -

REEZES
ARRERIARARLBZEG([IRAEE
Bgl) HXEOKBERBILIFRNITES
RAFHAY  REZESHBBEAIER
(B FRTTEERIERZESIR) M
st CBYIFRITES) REBRREE
AN JEMITES) Ak -

ARl EFQNEABE=D2ZEERE
VIHMTESR - REABHEBR kA D
XEREENZTELR BHEERR
BERIT X BERH RERAXF
TREENEXERTAESRTE - WETT
RETREETEMLNEE QKRB
BER BBRENE IHE BF -
HE BEERBUA -



ERREBRENERLAR ZZEOEFFH 91

Corporate Governance Report

ERELGRSE

(F) EEZEE W
(m RE|EZEE @

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board composition reflects various cultural and
educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values. The NC
considers the current Board composition has provided the
Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of its business.
The NC will continue to review its composition from time
to time taking into consideration specific needs for the
Group's business.

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process
and Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”), which aims to set out the relevant selection
criteria and nomination procedures to assist the NC and
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirement of the Group’s businesses and to ensure that
the Directors devote sufficient time and make
contributions to the Company that are commensurate
with their role and board responsibilities. A summary of
the Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1.  Criteria
The NC and the Board shall consider the following

criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

Characteristics of individual director including
integrity and accountability, informed
judgement, prudence and maturity (being
able to engage in constructive debate and
give independent opinions), principled and
professional and other characteristics as the
NC deems appropriate);

Competencies in the areas including
accounting and finance, law, industry
knowledge, marketing and competencies as
the NC deems appropriate to ensure the
Board's overall suitability;

The structure, size and composition of the
Board;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)
1. Criteria (Continued)

The appropriate mix of competencies
between Directors to enable the Board to
discharge its responsibilities effectively;

The appropriate balance of skills, experience,
knowledge, expertise and diversity of the
Board is maintained, and the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) adopted
by the Board is followed;

The capability of the candidate to devote the
necessary time and commitment to the role.
This involves a consideration of other
commitments including matters such as
other board or executive appointments; and

The potential conflicts of interest, and
independence.

The NC shall also consider the requirement for the Board
to have independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules and such other perspectives that are
appropriate to our Company'’s business and succession
plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the NC from time to time
for nomination of directors and succession planning.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures

The NC or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship.

If more than one candidate are nominated by
the NC, the NC shall base on the criteria (as
set out in section 1 above) and recommend
the most competent candidate to the Board
(where applicable).

The NC shall also consider the number of
board positions they hold in other firms.

The NC shall engage external consultants
where necessary to assist in the selection
process of suitable candidates.

After the NC reviewed and considered the
candidates, the NC makes recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to
implement the Company’s corporate strategy.

For any person that is nominated by a
Shareholder for election as a director at the
general meeting of the Company, the NC and
the Board shall evaluate such candidate.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. Under
the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with a
vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and

balanced development.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board and the NC has developed
the measurable objectives to implement this Policy, taking
into account the factors based on the business model of
the Company and specific needs from time to time. In
achieving the board diversity, a number of factors,
including but not limited to, cultural and educational
background, gender, ethnicity, age, skills, knowledge,
experience and length of service and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time taking into account the Company’s business
model and specific needs, are considered. All the Board
appointments are made on merits while having due

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The NC will review the Board Diversity Policy annually to
ensure its effectiveness, and recommend any appropriate
revisions to ensure it remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements

and good corporate governance practices.
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(F) EEZEE W
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Board Diversity Policy has been consistently
implemented by the Group. As at the date of this report,
the Board consists of one female Director and nine male
Directors. The Board considers that the gender diversity in
respect of the Board with reference to business needs is
satisfactory. The Board targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation. In considering the
Board's succession, the NC will search from, including but
not limited to, different professional firms, legal,
accounting, directorship bodies or through independent
professional search firms to help identify potential
candidates, as and when necessary. The Board will
continue increasing the proportion of female members
over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.

The male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group
including senior management is approximately 1.7:1 as at
31 December 2024, which slightly improved as compared
to 2023. Despite the Group having an unavoidable
workforce supply dominated by male given the nature of
work in network construction and maintenance, the
Group will actively look for the right mix of people to work
together and to the gender diversity at all levels of the
Group to improve collaboration.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Diversity Mix
As at 31 December 2024, the Board consists of 10 Directors
and the Board composition is as below:

(F) EEZEE W@
nmn REZEE @)
ZalbEE
RZZEZMF+—A=+—H ESFgg
BEtRES EEEROT

Number of Directors
EEA™
10
NED
9 Over 10 years
Over 70 8104
8 BB 705
7
ED
6 Male 6-10 years
5% 61-70 62 104
5 61 E 70 5%
4 51-60
51 E 60 5%
3
0-5 years
5 INED e 0o &
41 E505%
1 Female
4
Designation Gender Age Board Tenure
BE 4 5l FiR Exeal
ED : Executive Director ED : WITES
NED : Non-executive Director NED : FPIITES
INED Independent Non-executive Director INED : BYUEHITES

Biographical details of the Directors, including details of
their skills and experience are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” of this annual
report. The Group sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in attaining its strategy and
achieving sustainable and balanced development of the
Group, and will continue to further enhance board
diversity while maintaining an appropriate balance
between continuity of experience and Board refreshment.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the NC, which are available on

the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, are

aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. Given

below are the main duties of the NC:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

to assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive; and

to develop and maintain a board diversity policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board, as appropriate, to ensure it
remains relevant to the Company’s needs and
reflects the current regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practices and to
making disclosure of its review results in the
Corporate Governance Report annually.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The work performed by the NC, which has the delegated
authority and responsibility, for the financial year ended 31
December 2024 is summarised below:

(@)  review of the Board Diversity Policy;
(b)  review of the terms of reference of NC;

() review of the structure, size and composition of the
Board taking into account the Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board;

(d)  assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(e)  make recommendations to the Board for the re-
appointment of Directors standing for re-election at
the AGM.

One NC meeting was held during the financial year ended
31 December 2024. Attendance record of the NC
members is set out below:
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Attendance/

Number of

Meeting

HERE

Committee Members SREAE

Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (Chairman) AR (=) 1/1

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey iR EE 5 /1

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BBt AE /1

(IV) Corporate Governance Functions (Iv) EEERBEE

While the Board is and remains to be principally ARAFNEHEERBEERTERESS
responsible for the corporate governance functions of the BE  ULTHEBHISTE mEFeC

Company, it has delegated the relevant duties to the AC
to ensure the proper performance of corporate
governance functions of the Company. In this connection,
the terms of reference of the AC include various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set
out in paragraph “(E) Oversight of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Matters” on page 84 under
sub-section “(I) Audit Committee” of section “(F) BOARD
COMMITTEES" above.
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(G) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services for the financial year

(H)

ended 31 December 2024 provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to approximately
HK$3,380,000 and the remuneration in relation to non-audit

services, mainly included tax compliance services and other
compliance services, paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers
amounted to approximately HK$515,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

M

Risk Governance

The risk management and internal control systems (the
“RM&IC Systems”) of the Group comprise a well-defined
governance structure, with areas of responsibility and
limits of authority of each business and operational unit
clearly delineated to ensure effective checks and balances.
Internal control policies, procedures and guidelines have
been compiled to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, to maintain of proper records, to assure
of the reliability of financial information for internal use or
publication and to comply with relevant legislation and
regulations.

The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility to
oversee internal control systems, to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks (including
material ESG risks) it is willing to take in achieving strategic
objectives and for maintaining the RM&IC Systems as well
as to monitor their effectiveness. The management is
tasked with the design, implementation and monitoring
of the systems. The AC has been delegated by the Board
to oversee the systems and is supported by independent
professionals to perform the internal audit function, which
provides assessment on risk and internal control oversight.

The internal audit function monitors compliance with
policies and standards and carries out an analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the RM&IC Systems across the Group. Findings
regarding risk management and internal control matters
are reported to the AC, in line with the annual audit plan
reviewed by the AC, and communicated to the business
or corporate units concerned.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

)

(I

Risk Governance (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the RM&IC Systems are
designed to manage the risk rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management Processes and Practices

The management maintains a risk register to identify
major risks, which are then categorised into business risks,
financial risks, compliance risks, operational risks and other
risks. The risks identified are evaluated in terms of
individual likelihood of occurrence, severity of
consequence, priority and the existence of early warning
signal. Based on the results of the assessment, the
management will determine the appropriate risk response:
acceptance, transfer, elimination, reduction or sharing, and
formulate corresponding control activities and mitigation
measures. The risk profile will be reviewed and the risk
register will be updated on an ongoing basis to
incorporate any change in the nature and extent of
significant risks including ESG risks. Internal control
deficiencies, if any, are communicated to the responsible
parties for taking corrective action.

The AC, through independent professionals to perform the
internal audit function, conducts annual review of the
effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems and procedures, on a
rotation of different cycles basis, covering all controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, by
way of the above risk identification and assessment exercise.
Confirmations from the management, in the form of
certification that the risk management and internal control
procedures are functioning effectively to meet the
respective financial reporting, operational and compliance
needs, is obtained from business and corporate unit heads.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

(I

(1)

Risk Management Processes and Practices
(Continued)

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a disclosure policy of inside information
providing guidance on reporting and dissemination of
inside information and preservation of confidentiality. Under
the policy, Directors or heads of business units shall report
to the Chairman/the Chief Financial Officer for any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as
practicable when it materialises for determining the nature
of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All staff
are also required to observe the code of ethical standards to
keep non-public information confidential.

Periodical Review

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the AC through
the independent professionals to perform the internal
audit function, had conducted review of the RM&IC
Systems on behalf of the Board, including the adequacy
of, inter alia, resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as these relating to the Group's ESG
performance and reporting. Such review has been
conducted on an annual basis. Written management
confirmation on the effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems
has been received.

The results of the review were reported by the AC to the
Board, based on which the Directors concluded that, for
the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the RM&IC
Systems and procedures of the Group were effective and
adequate. The Group has complied with the provisions in
the CG Code regarding the risk management and internal
control systems.
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)

)

(K)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024, which give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as a whole as at
the end of the financial year and of the Group'’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended and in
compliance with the requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “CO”") and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibilities of the auditor of the Company in
the Independent Auditor's Report are set out on pages 144 to
154 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lau Yee Wa ("Ms. Lau”) has been appointed as the Company’s
Company Secretary. Ms. Lau is currently a director of corporate
services of Tricor Services Limited, a member of Vistra Group and
global professional services provider specialising in integrated
business, corporate and investor services. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary on
corporate governance and board practices and matters. The
chief financial officer of the Company has been designated as
the primary contact person at the Company which would work
and communicate with Ms. Lau on the Company’s corporate
governance and secretarial and administrative matters. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2024, she had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The
biographical details of Ms. Lau are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” section of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

A Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted by the
Company to ensure that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including its financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments,
governance and risk profile), in order to enable the Shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow the
Shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.
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(K) SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

(L)

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. Annual and interim reports are published/printed and
printed copies of such reports or notifications of publication thereof
on the Company’s website are sent to all Shareholders. Such reports
and press releases are posted and are available for download at the
Company’s corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.com). In addition,
the Company makes full use of the internet to make information
broadly available to the Shareholders. The Company’s website
provides the relevant contact information by which enquiries may
be put to the Board. Constantly being updated in a timely manner,
the website also contains a wide range of additional information on
the Group's business activities.

The Company encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in the annual general meetings of the Company to
ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the
Group's strategy and goals. The Directors and the external
auditor are also available to answer the Shareholders’ questions
at the meetings.

The Board reviewed the Group’s shareholders engagement and
communication activities conducted in 2024 considering
multiple channels for communications with shareholders and
investors were in place and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
() Convene a General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 566(2) of the CO, on written
requisition by the Shareholders representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to
vote at general meetings, the Directors must convene a
general meeting.

(I) Send Enquiries to the Board

The Company's corporate website (www.ji-cablecomm.com)
provides the relevant contact information (for enquiry
purpose only) by which Shareholders may at any time
address their enquiries to the Board.
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(L) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)
(1) Make Proposals at General Meetings

(M

(i)

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for
election as Director(s) at a Shareholders” meeting
are set out in the Corporate Information section of
the Company’s corporate website.

The procedures for proposing resolution(s) to be
moved at the Company’s annual general meeting(s)
are as follows:

Pursuant to Section 615(2) of the CO, the
Shareholder(s) can submit a written requisition to
move a resolution at the Company’s annual general
meeting(s) if they represent:

at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders who have a right to vote at the
annual general meeting to which the
requests relate; or

at least 50 members who have a right to vote
on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate.

The relevant written requisition must:

(@)  identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given;

(b)  be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and

(c)  be received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the relevant annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or if
later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting.

Any written requisitions from the Shareholders to the Company
pursuant to Sections 566 and 615 of the CO must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office.
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(M) DIVIDEND POLICY (M) BREBER

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy (the “Dividend Policy”). EFSDERMBREBUR (REBE] - RIBER
Under the Dividend Policy, the Board may from time to time pay BHE EFe ITRARRKNHE $“%@"]
to the Shareholders annual dividends, if any, on the outstanding BERBEARRERS LA AN ETEBR
ordinary Shares declared by and subject to the discretion of the EI'J FRIERE (E) - ko & %A—J TERHE
Board and must be approved at a general meeting of the RBBEERAREIRMS R ARE - BEA
Shareholders. In addition, the Board may from time to time pay &(( ARG MR E  FERE &EF' Bk 245
to the Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the TERBESTEENEE -

Board to be justified, both annual dividends and interim
dividends shall not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board, in accordance with the provision of the Articles and the

CO.

The Board may only consider to make a distribution if the WARREEFENEETNLORABHHRA
amount of the Company’s net assets is not less than the RAA D RFEEHENEE: REHZESIK T
aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and EFEREEENRBREDNEAARDERHR
undistributable reserves; and to the extent that, the distribution RAEDADIRFEBEDEEE - MZIEDIKINAL
does not reduce the amount of those assets to an amount less BB -AEEgreEREREBESIK

than the aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves.

The Board shall consider, including but not limited to, the EZgANTRMENBRERZE (BEFEETR

following factors before the declaration and payment of RIATHEE:

dividends:

@)  the Group’s results of operations; @ AEEMEEHEE:

(b)  the earnings and distributable reserves of the Company b)) ARAIRAEEZKERRWRF KA H#H
and each of the members of the Group; DR

(©  the Group's actual and expected financial performance © AEENERNTEIRERE MAKTAR
and conditions and liquidity position; MENE MM

(d)  the Shareholders' interests; d) BRERHFIE

()  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be () ¥R AEBEE A fL @ MAYRR B 2 (E17
imposed by the Group's lenders; PR 1)

() the Group's expected working capital requirements, H AEBREHZEEST R  BHREKRK
surplus and future expansion plans; WaREH &l

(@)  contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions; @ BH EEREEBERS
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(M) DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

(N)

()

(h)  general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have any impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company;
and

(i) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
the Shareholders' expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy from time to time.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
consolidated version of the Articles is available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises the importance of building a stakeholder
and customer-centric way of innovation and servicing. The
Group aims to inspire positive thinking and empower people to
live vividly. The Group continues to expand its product and
service offerings for the betterment of the living qualities of
Hong Kong people.

To keep our customers engaged, the Group utilises an “insights-
driven and customer-centric” approach in designing our
programme content, developing digital solutions, and
innovating new services and products to broaden our customers’
choices.
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(O) CORPORATE CULTURE (Continued)

With the new leadership and management team, the Group
strengthened its cultural framework with four core values:
authenticity, credibility, diversity, and excellence. The Group has
also derived a new cultural change programme focusing on
being customer-centric, accountable in its work, and transparent
in its communication with five new core competencies
underpinning measurement and clarity. The five core
competencies are (i) ownership and personal drive; (ii) work
efficiency and quality; (iii) prioritisation and decisiveness; (iv)
collaboration and (v) leadership and people management. The
details of such competencies are tied in with the annual
performance appraisal to ensure the appropriate corporate
cultural behaviours are awarded and incentivised.

The Group has made improvements to its internal
communication strategy via holding regular briefing sessions
with managerial staff and establishing a newly revamped
corporate intranet to enhance internal engagement.

More information about the Group’s mission, vision and values
are available on the Company’s website.

The Board, through its various committees, provides direction to
management in setting out the strategies, monitors the Group's
operating and financial performance and reviews the Group's
compensation policies and succession planning. The Board has
completed an annual internal evaluation to ensure that the
Group's defined purpose, values and strategy are aligned with
the Group’s culture and that a positive culture, effective internal
control risk management and ESG policies are in place.
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The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 7 of this
annual report, “Business Review” on pages 8 to 22 of this annual report
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 52 to 66 of this
annual report. The principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces are
contained in the section headed “Business Review" on page 22 of this
annual report and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year are contained
in the section headed “Events After the Reporting Period” on page 66
of this annual report. The future development of the business of the
Group is provided in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets”
and "Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” on pages 61 to
65 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
and an account of the Group's key relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers are contained under the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 23 to 51 of
this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 155 to
157 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HKSNIl).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024:

The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group's five
largest customers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
revenue for the year.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 20%
and 41%, respectively of the Group's total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors nor their respective close associates holds, nor
does any Shareholder owning (to the knowledge of the Directors)
more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares hold, any interests
in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 268 to 269 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2024 including interest-bearing borrowings and convertible
bonds are set out in Notes 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Shares issued and the movements in the share capital of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below and the issuance of the 2019 LCS and
the 2021 LCS disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — The 2019 LCS and The 2021 LCS” and Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement (as defined in section 6 of the Companies (Directors' Report)
Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was entered into
by the Group during the financial year or subsisted at the end of the
financial year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves of the
Company available for distribution to equity Shareholders, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the CO, was HKSNil (2023: HKSNil).

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Gam, Ggs (Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick 88s (Vice-chairman, Executive Director)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Executive Director)

Mr. TO Chi Hak (Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director)

Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Executive Director)

Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Gam, Gss, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman 685, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 88s, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Independent non-executive Director)
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

In accordance with Article 106(A) of the Articles, Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun,
Henry, Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng, Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica
and Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman will retire from the Board by rotation
and being eligible and shall offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. None of the retiring Directors
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” on pages 133 to 143 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The names of all persons who, during the financial year and up to the
date of this report, serve as directors of the companies included as
subsidiaries of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 are set out below:

Ms. CEN Li Yan

Ms. CHAN Man Yee Fiona
Mr. CHAN Wai Man

Mr. HO Ming Yan Herman
Mr. KWOK Wing Fai Brian
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis

Ms. SUEN Chung Yan Julia
Mr. TO Chi Hak

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
Mr. WONG Hei Pui

Ms. YEE Oi Kwan

Mr. YIP Yiu Chung

Ms. YU Wing San
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company received from each of Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey, Prof. HU
Shao Ming Herman, Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger and Mr. TANG Sing Ming
Sherman a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years and
renewable automatically for successive terms of three years upon
expiry of the then current term of the appointment, subject to his/her
retirement and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance
with the Company's Articles. The details of the remuneration of each
of the Directors are disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES (Continued)

Long position in Shares

Name of Shareholder

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry -

(Note 1)
BR4EET (Btat1)
Note: Hiat -

ERREBEANEBRLIA —ZE-OFEFH

EERTHASNE S 2ER @)
i sy

Number of Shares

BH8E

Interest of

a controlled

Beneficial owner

Celestial Pioneer Limited (“Celestial Pioneer”) was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng
and held 72.0% interests in Forever Top. Accordingly, both Celestial Pioneer and
Forever Top were controlled corporations of Dr. Cheng. Forever Top was interested
in 10,568899,364 Shares, which represented (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by
Forever Top; (i) 4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full
exercise of the conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new
Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights
under the 2021 LCS. Celestial Pioneer was interested in 11,052,488,230 Shares,
which represented (i) 483,588,866 Shares owned by Celestial Pioneer,; and (ii)
the deemed interests 10,568,899,364 Shares held by Forever Top under the SFO.
Therefore, Dr. Cheng was deemed to be interested in such 11,052,488,230 Shares
under the SFO.

corporation

11,052,488,230

Approximate
percentage of
the total
number of
issued Shares
HEBITR G
By B
Bk

Other interest

- 11,052,488,230 154.91%

Celestial Pioneer Limited ([ Celestial Pioneer |) f1 &5 1% + 2 B A I
FEB KT 72.0% 4755 o B + Celestial Pioneer Jé 7k 714 /5 B 18 1
BISTHDEE o K TR 10568899364 IRAR 17 F i H s » HHER
() 3K H 7 £93,083,722,894 R IR 17 + (i) = T — N FE R AJ ] 12 R
FERIE T SRR BT TIE 1% 15 °] 1 7K 1 B] 37719 4,544,000,000
RFTRRAG + R (i) = F = — F R IR RFE 5 H T 1A=
BiT(ER SRR A 37T 2,941,176470 IR FTAR 17 ° Celestial
Pioneer B 11,052,488 230 IR IR 17 2 #E H #E 7s » &R - (i) Celestial
Pioneer # 5 1 483,588,866 IR E 17 + % (ii) 1R 1% 38 25 R B & 1517 -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN

SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is known
to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Shareholder

RREE,/ BB

Celestial Pioneer Limited

Forever Top (Asia) Limited
KT (M) BRAE

Mr. NG Hung Sang

Ms. NG Lai King Pamela
RERXL

South China Securities Limited

BEEFRERRAA

Beneficial owner

483,588,866

10,568,899,364
(Note 1)
(Hiz1)

156,169,500

98,502,500

463,000,000
(Note 3)
(Hie3)

Spouse interest

BB

98,502,500
(Note 2)
(Ktst2)

620,545,500
(Note 4)
(KtiF4)

BRTIXHEEN R_F=
BEERARBITHAEMA - ARBWEZETAA
T (EFHARFTHAREIN g - BRI KA
BT HEEERBEESLAEGRIIEXVEBE2RE
3IDBHIEXARARBEENREIRE  HARIE
EHMRERDIEBEERARBFENELMAT
FCEREV R SOAR ©

RERGOBNEFR

Number of Shares

BRABE

Interest of
a controlled
corporation

REHEEES

10,568,899,364
(Note 1)
(Hizt1)

464,376,000
(Note 3)
(Ktat3)

Other interest

TERRRESF 2ERS

WEF+=—ZA=+—8" &

Approximate

percentage of

the total

number of

Total issued Shares
EEBRITRE

BY A

Aokt

11,052,488,230 154.91%
10,568,899,364 148.14%
719,048,000 10.08%
719,048,000 10.08%
463,000,000 6.49%



I_g_epo_g of the Directors
EEEHES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. These 10,568,899,364 Shares represent (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever
Top; (i) 4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise
of the conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new Shares to
be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights under the
2021 LCS. Celestial Pioneer held 72.0% interests in Forever Top, and was therefore
deemed to be interested in all the interests held by Forever Top under the SFO.
Celestial Pioneer was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng. Accordingly, both Celestial
Pioneer and Forever Top were controlled corporations of Dr. Cheng, and Dr. Cheng
was therefore deemed to be interested in these 10,568,899,364 Shares under the
SFO. For details of Dr. Cheng'’s interests in the Shares, please refer to the paragraph

headed ‘Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Securities” above.

2. Mr. Ng Hung Sang, the spouse of Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, was deemed to be
interested in 98,502,500 Shares which Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela was interested in
under the SFO.

3. Mr. Ng Hung Sang was deemed to be interested in 464,376,000 Shares which his

controlled corporations are interested in under the SFO. South China Finance and
Management Limited directly held 1,376,000 Shares, while South China Securities
Limited directly held 463,000,000 Shares. Both of these companies were wholly-
owned by South China Financial Holdings Limited. Based on the information
available to the Company, South China Financial Holdings Limited was held as to
approximately 29.52% by Mr. Ng Hung Sang, among which approximately 25.66%
was held through his wholly-owned corporations, while according to publicly
available information, approximately 3.86% was held by him as beneficial owner.

4, Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, the spouse of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, was deemed to be
interested in 620,545,500 Shares which Mr. Ng Hung Sang was interested in under
the SFO.

DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED

On 4 June 2019 and 31 March 2021, the Company issued the 2019
LCS and the 2021 LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million
and HKS$200 million, respectively, to Forever Top, the Controlling
Shareholder of the Company. As at 31 December 2024, none of the
2019 LCS and the 2021 LCS was converted.

ERRERENERLAR —ZEOEFFR

FTERERRRBHF 2R @)
RGBT E (@)

Hrat -

1. Z 5 10,568,899,364 BR AR 17 15 © (i) 7K F+ ¥ 1 £3,083,722,894 IR iR
7 VRBEHITE =T~ NERGAIBIRELF TR LB
& 2K N @] 45 F FE 7T 59 4,544,000,000 B BT AR 15 ¢ K (i) R A BT
(T = —FRABRELZA T ZBEER RS T
7T #92,941,176,470 I8 F7 B 17 ° Celestial Pioneer #% 7 5k 7 72.0% 1&
o B RIFEEFERARER  EHEARKAFFHE
ERHE R P B HE 25 © Celestial Pioneer 1851+ 2 B A - ElUt -
Celestial Pioneer Jé 7k 7115 /5 BB 18 1 ) 215 %1% (B - F I - 1R
EHRBEEG - B E + #4773 R A% 5 10,568,899,364 B A% 17
IR c FEASIE L RBR M EmFE  BRHLX[E
BERITHABRRESZ B — B -

2. RBEFEBRBELTHEE  IRIEEFRBEIED - B
1RABRE R+ KA HEB #7798 502500 A A% 17 0 B 1

5o

3 RIEFHR B BIBEL LW BRE LB F
B2 464376000 R R 17 A HEB s - HERBRERAR
RAIEEFRFF 1376000 RKG  MAEZEFREFRAFRE
FEF5 5 463,000,000 R R 17 © [T 2~ 719 @ifﬁﬂf?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ VA

A2 EHE  WRIEALAAZEN BELBIERER AL
ZHRI292%RIERRIBEFLEFFH - B H#HI2566%77 Eiﬁﬁf
BEDEHE 2 EERE - MIRIEABFERATT - 55M93.86%

RIETHAEAEHEAAMTAE ©

4 BERL+RRBESL LG RIFFSZRGEIEH
AR B L A R 1 25 £ 620,545,500 R AR (7 7R HE B 12 ©

MABREHERTE—FE—NLFRHT
ﬁﬁ%#&_gz—iﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
E&ﬁmﬁ,%g

—NWFERNANBEBEZZE - —F=ZA=+—
Evl’i RIMARARIERBE XA ZHITASTES 5
/568,000,000 7 7T 5 200,000,000/ TTLH) —E— LF &K
HBREAFER S —FRETHRES - RNZF
TWHEFZA=+—H BMEZT-AFREATHERK
BHER B —FRATRBREFELR
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (continued)

Assuming (i) 4,544,000,000 Shares were issued upon full conversion
of the outstanding 2019 LCS on 31 December 2024; (i) 2,941,176,470
Shares were issued upon full conversion of the outstanding 2021 LCS
on 31 December 2024; and (iii) that there were no other changes in
the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024, the number of issued Shares will be increased by 7,485,176,470,
representing approximately 104.91% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 7,134,623,520 Shares) and
approximately 51.20% of the total number of issued Shares as
enlarged by the issue of the outstanding 2019 LCS and 2021 LCS (i.e.
14,619,799,990 Shares). Assuming that there were no other changes
in the shareholding of the substantial shareholders (which has the
meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules) of the Company as at
31 December 2024, the following table sets out, for illustrative purpose
only, the dilutive impact on the shareholding of the substantial
shareholders of the Company:

As at 31 December 2024

R-Z2-_MNE+=-B=+—AH

Approximate

MAEBREEHERITE_FTE—NLERBAA
BERBEBSER_E-_—FRETERES
HRONEESE @

BEOMRZZEZMNF+ A=+ —HHEKRTFE=
E-NFRPAUBBREFSFEZTHHLABREE FHT
4,544,000000 % %15 : (VR =_F=_WF+=-_A=+—8H

MATE —_E - —FROAVEREFELFERE L IRED
172941176470 % B 10 BB E T _WF+ =

A=+—HALEFEARQGBRABELMES BT
RE ) BB #5138 H07,485,176470 %k (FBE RN —ZT — M &
+ZA=+—HEBTRH B (B17,134,623,520 0% i
{9})%’1 0491%) RAEFHITHARTE T —NEFERETA
BERFEHFER S FRAVBBESEREHD
17 fo 7D BB (B114,619,799,990 B% AR 1) #751.20% © R &
R-ZZE-_NF+-_A=Z+—HARRWMEBRE (A
LIHARE TZACRR) RETEEMES - TX
PE (EEHB) AR FERERENEE

BEE

Immediately upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS and the 2021 LCS
BRE-_B-NEFRATERIESK
CEC-ERETARESBHAAE

Approximate

percentage of the percentage of the

Number of total number of Number of total number of

Name of Shareholders issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares

E#T HEeRTRG B#1T HERTRG

RRER /B2 ROBE  HEHBOEIL RABE  HAHEBOEIL

Dr. Cheng (Note) e+ (fzt) 3,567,311,760 50.00% 11,052,488,230 75.60%

Celestial Pioneer (Note) Celestial Pioneer (H/5) 3,567,311,760 50.00% 11,052,488,230 75.60%

Forever Top (Note) KF(HiaE) 3083,722,89% 43.22% 10,568,899,364 72.29%

Other Shareholders HiiR R 3567,311,760 50.00% 3,567311,760 24.40%
Note:  Celestial Pioneer was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng and held 72.0% interests in ~ F{iF : Celestial Pioneer 1 2B 16 1+ 2 B # B & #5 B K H 72.0% #E &5 ©

Forever Top. Celestial Pioneer held 3,567,311,760 Shares, which represented (i)
483,588,866 Shares owned by Celestial Pioneer; and (ii) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned
by Forever Top.

The full conversion of the outstanding 2019 LCS and/or 2021 LCS
would not have dilutive impact on the loss per Share of the Group.

Celestial Pioneer % & 3,567,311,760 R A& 15+ 1H & R : (i) Celestial

Pioneer # 5 Y 483,588,866 BR AR 17 + J% (ii) Ik F #E B # 3,083,722,894
BHABREARTE_ZS—NFRPITHRBES KK
== :—iEHﬂ‘Hﬁﬁx EAER T EHAEEGRER
EEXEETE-
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (continued)

2019 LCS

The 2019 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2019 LCS subscription agreement dated 25 January 2019. The maturity
date of the 2019 LCS is the end of the tenth year from the date of the
issue of the 2019 LCS. Considering (1) the fact that the 2019 LCS will
become mature in 2029; (2) the fact that there are no circumstances
leading to a possible indication that there may be an early redemption
of the 2019 LCS; and (3) the financial position and resources of the
Group, it is expected that the Company will be able to meet its
redemption obligations under the 2019 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2019 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2019 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.100 and HK$0.113 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2019 LCS on 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2025, respectively.

2021 LCS

The 2021 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in
the 2021 LCS subscription agreement dated 27 January 2021 (the
“2021 LCS Subscription Agreement”). The maturity date of the 2021
LCS is the end of the tenth year from the date of the issue of the 2021
LCS. Considering (1) the fact that the 2021 LCS will become mature in
2031; (2) the fact that there are no circumstances leading to a possible
indication that there may be an early redemption of the 2021 LCS; and
(3) the financial position and resources of the Group, it is expected that
the Company will be able to meet its redemption obligations under
the 2021 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2021 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2021 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.052 and HK$0.054 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2021 LCS on 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2025, respectively.

ERAMBNERAT —T-NEFH
A RERERTEZFT-—NERET
#ﬁ%#&—EZ—EE%Tﬁ Bk
HRONBEZE @
:g—nﬁﬁ%ﬂ#&%%

IR Em BRI A EE -2 A F RS

B BRIEBEARR/ T — ﬂi AZ+HRAENHZ
T-NEFRMABEESREHEMRENETEF -
E-NERATBRRESNERARS T -NF
E%Tﬁh %%ﬁﬁ%t# +¢X°%%ﬂm:
T-NFROAATBERESR_ZF-NAFED W%
BB sERAT R — T — ﬂiE%TWk
QAEENTHRRKLER - BEARRRAFER
T-NEREAZEESFEMFETHEBLOEE -

HoxFAMmE - BAQRMAE0.100% 7T K% 011378 7T (14
KADRR —_E-_NF+_A=+—HBRZ-ZZ_AF
+Z A=+ —BRBHEBR T -NFREVERKES)
RESRIPEIHRE S R EN - L F R ER
BHEEEERSMIEES -

—EC-FRETRARES

KITREM BRI ER -~ —FRYAARRE
5 BREFEAPA-_T-_—F—A=Z+LHKNZ=Z
——ERAVBEEFRBEGR( T —F KA
BEESRBERE)IRENETENH - —FT-—F
ﬁﬁ;ﬁ—ﬁﬁﬁx ErmEm AT —FREFBRK
EFBRTAPEAETFR-ERINN_F=_—FF
HH—HW& EEN-FE=—FER QBB RERA
BEIRAIEL — T - —FREMAIBRKRES  MO)AKE
NP BRRRER  BRARRGER_T-_—FkK
Ml E s EmREITEELO R -

HXFME @ LA RFAE 005278 7T 5 0.054 7% 7T ({0
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EFETRESE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

B AR AR

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 24 May 2018 AR AR T — N\FHA -+ HRMNERETS
which shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the — Z&T 2115 B R4 B B+ E AWML A -

date of adoption.

Purpose of the scheme:

ArEIRE R

Participants of the scheme:

BE e

Total number of Shares available for issue
under the scheme and percentage of issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report:

S 815 A FRTHRED BUARERASE
FEBMERRTROHED = -

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the scheme:

SHEIP S LS RETRERE LR -

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentives to the eligible persons, to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the eligible persons have made or may make to
the Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

BRETSE ARSI RBRERBAE  BRHBI D TEERAL
RELRTAEERALTERLAAREAREBIER 2 BRI EEAEE 2 %
TERCHE ©

Any person who is (or will be on the date of grant) an employee of the Group, a
Director, a consultant or an advisor, as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time.

EEMRITRETER (SERELEEH) SAREEET - =% - B
BHAREMATL -

There were 620,602,015 Shares issuable under the Share Option(s) to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme (representing approximately 8.70% of the total
number of issued Shares) and no outstanding Share Option as at the date of this
annual report.

RAFHRAPREBEBEREFE SR ENBEREBTAIZETRG B
620,602,015 f% (15 B 1T 7 481 K98.70%) » B MARITIEREARKE -

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon the exercise of the Share Options granted to each eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Share Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue.
BROEERCREL A& - BAIEM 2@ A BEAN - BITEERTFTEEEBRAL
BBRE (BIEETE B ARTTEBRE ME BT A THETH
B BB FEBBARRA D BEITHBEFERNA 1%
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EFETRESE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The period within which the option may be
exercised by the grantee under the scheme:

AFEARIERT BRI TE B HR

The vesting period of options granted under
the scheme:

REBEAEFMEHBRENREY -

The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be paid:
RS EMBIRE RN AR REE
FRT R EIRR S BRI B Y
R :

The basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted:

PRI B R AR T R B B E &2

The remaining life of the scheme:

AR B

AR REST & )

The period as notified by the Board upon the grant of Share Options during which it
may be exercised, such period not to exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant Share Options.

BEFEgNREBERERBNA TITEBRENVER  ZHREXHEHEE
Mt B HA R 5T NS BB T4 o

Any period as determined by the Board.
HEFSETNERMBAR -

The amount payable for the acceptance of a Share Option shall be HK$1.00 which
shall be paid upon acceptance of the offer of such Share Option. This consideration
shall not be refundable to the participant and shall not be deemed to be a part
payment of the exercise price.

MEANBRERNNSESRI0BT  AREMAZBREZNRTIUAX
ff - ZRETBRETREE  THAEEAXNITREN—HD -

The exercise price of the Share Option shall be at a price determined by the Board
and notified to a participant.

BRENTEEERESSETNERLANEREE -

The exercise price shall not be less than the higher of:

TEEMNERATHENRSE :

(A)  the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such Share Option;

and
RIFHZEBREE AR ME B MERFTSIIR DR FTA U T E
P54

(B)  the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such Share Option.
ERFEZBEREBRI DAL ERBIME B RERMIIKHR
B 2 P EY P TT (B -

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from
the date of adoption, i.e. 24 May 2018.

BREFIHERMEH BT -N\FRA-THA) BFHI0FAERR
HER e
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

There were 620,602,015 Shares issuable under the Share Option(s) to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme (representing approximately
8.70% of the total number of issued Shares) and no outstanding Share
Option as at the date of this report. Up to the date of this report, no
options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Contracts of Significance with
Controlling Shareholders” and “Connected Transactions” in this Report
of the Directors and “Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 33
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report, and the
contracts amongst group companies, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entities connected with a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the financial year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below and in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this Report of the Directors and the section headed
“Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, there were no other contracts
of significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling Shareholder or any its subsidiaries subsisting at the end of
the year or at any time during the financial year.

AR REST & )

PARE ASHREEREAZEEENBEREET
Al B 1T I A620,602,015 8% (1h 2 31T 1D 24
870%) BWEARITFERE HEAREEH -
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the unlisted long-
term convertible securities subscription agreement with Forever Top,
the Controlling Shareholder, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever Top has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for the 2019 LCS. On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019
LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million to the Forever Top
was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000
new Shares upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based on the initial
Conversion Price of HK$S0.125 per conversion share. The Conversion
Price represents a premium of approximately 8.7% over the closing
price of HK$0.115 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25
January 2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS were
fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible into ordinary Shares at any time
during the period from the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to
the close of business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end of the tenth
year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS and all of the remaining
outstanding 2019 LCS shall be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The net price per conversion
share was approximately HKS$0.125. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019, and the 2019 Circular.

On 27 January 2021, the Company and Forever Top entered into
the 2021 LCS Subscription Agreement, pursuant to the 2021 LCS
Subscription Agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to
issue, and the Controlling Shareholder has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, the 2021 LCS. The principal amount of the 2021 LCS is
HKS$200 million. The initial conversion price is HK$0.068 per the new
Share to be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights under the
2021 LCS. The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly.
The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the end of tenth year from date
of the issue of the 2021 LCS. On the maturity date, all of the remaining
outstanding 2021 LCS will be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The 2021 LCS is convertible into
Shares at any time during the period from the date of the issue of the
2021 LCS up to the close of business on the maturity date, subject to
the conversion restrictions. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than ten business
days’ written notice to the holder of the 2021 LCS to redeem all or part
of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS
together with all accrued but unpaid interest. Details of the 2021 LCS
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 27 January
2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021. The 2021
LCS Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders on 23
March 2021,

ERRERENERLAR —ZEOEFFR
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

On 21 January 2022, HKC (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company), as the borrower, entered into a loan agreement with
Celestial Pioneer Limited (the controlling shareholder of Forever Top
and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng), as the lender. Pursuant to such
loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with
a principal amount of HK$70 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 2.5% per
annum. The loan agreement has been extended on 31 December
2024. For further information, please refer to the disclosures on
the loan extension agreement between HKC and Celestial Pioneer
Limited dated 31 December 2024 in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below.

On 4 April 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
(the “April 2022 Loan Agreement”) with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the
lender. Pursuant to such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained
an unsecured loan with a principal amount of HK$50 million for a
term of three years from the date of the said loan agreement, with an
interest rate of 3.0% per annum.

On 28 June 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
(the “June 2022 Loan Agreement”) with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the
lender. Pursuant to such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained
an unsecured loan with a principal amount of HK$50 million for a
term of three years from the date of the said loan agreement, with an
interest rate of 3.0% per annum.

On 24 August 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement (the “"August 2022 Loan Agreement”) with Celestial Pioneer
Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan agreement, the borrower
obtained an unsecured loan with a principal amount of HK$80 million
for a term of three years from the date of the said loan agreement, with
an interest rate of 3.0% per annum.

On 8 November 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement (the “November 2022 Loan Agreement”) with Celestial
Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan agreement, the
borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a principal amount of
HKS$50 million for a term of three years from the date of the said loan
agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per annum.

The April 2022 Loan Agreement, the June 2022 Loan Agreement, the
August 2022 Loan Agreement and the November 2022 Loan Agreement
have each been extended on 18 March 2025. For further information,
please refer to the disclosures on the loan extension agreements
between HKC and Celestial Pioneer Limited dated 18 March 2025 in the
section headed "Connected Transactions" below.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

On 9 January 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 3 April 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 25 May 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 2 August 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 18 September 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 21 November 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiary of such holding
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors
(other than Independent Non-executive Directors) are considered
to have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses,
losses and liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution and/or discharge of his/her duties and/or the exercise of his/
her powers and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his/
her duties, powers or office, to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has maintained director’s liability insurance throughout
the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and the
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company for indemnifying their
liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Employees in Hong Kong who are eligible will participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”), which is not
operated by the Group, with terms as stipulated by the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The contributions from employer
and each of the employees respectively are subject to a cap of
HKS$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The
Group will provide voluntary top-up benefits to employees in Hong
Kong receiving a monthly basic salary exceeding the statutory limits
prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Except for the Group's
employer voluntary contributions, no forfeited contributions under the
MPF Scheme are available to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Employees in PRC who are eligible will participate in the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government authorities in the
PRC. The Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement
Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined
by the relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. No forfeited
contributions under the Retirement Benefit Scheme are available to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were neither
contributions forfeited under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing and
future contribution nor had there been any utilisation of such forfeited
contributions to reduce the existing and future contributions (2023:
same). There was no accumulated forfeited contribution available as at
31 December 2024 for such use by the Group (2023: same).
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 19 March 2019, HKC as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank
(the “Lender”), as the lender, in respect of, among other things, a
HK$400,000,000 revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Loan Facility”) being
subject to review at any time and in any event not less than annually by
the Lender; and on 15 March 2019, the Company, as applicant, (together
with HKC, the “Borrowers”) confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter
issued by the Lender in respect of a HK$33,830,000 performance bond
facility (the “Performance Bond Facility”) with a maximum tenor of five
years being subject to review at any time.

On 24 March 2023, HKC accepted a renewed and revised offer from
the Lender in respect of the Revolving Loan Facility to revise, among
others, the limit of the Revolving Loan Facility from HK$400,000,000
to HK$295,000,000. Such limit is subject to review by the Lender at
any time and in any event not less than annually. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 March 2023 for details.

On 28 February 2025, HKC accepted a renewed offer from the Lender
in respect of the Revolving Loan Facility to renew and amend the terms
of the Revolving Loan Facility. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 February 2025 for details.

Pursuant to the facility letters in relation to both the Revolving Loan
Facility and the Performance Bond Facility (as renewed from time to
time), the Borrowers have undertaken that Forever Top, the Controlling
Shareholder, would (i) hold greater than 35% of the total number of
the issued Shares, (i) be the single largest Shareholder of the Company,
and (i) continue to have Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry as its substantial
shareholder. In the event of a breach of the aforesaid covenant, the
Lender has the right to suspend, withdraw or make demand in respect
of the whole or any part of the respective facilities made available
to the relevant Borrower at any time or determine whether or not to
permit drawings in relation to the respective facilities. Additionally, it
is a condition precedent to the utilisation of the facilities under the
renewed facility letter that advances by Celestial Pioneer Limited to
HKC are subordinated.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the above specific
performance obligations under the Revolving Loan Facility and the
Performance Bond Facility have been complied with. Details of the
transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 17 April 2018, 18 December 2018, 24 March 2023 and 28
February 2025.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following connected transactions during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report:

On 4 January 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

On 6 March 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$90 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

On 3 June 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$70 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 8.0% per
annum.

On 2 September 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$20 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 8.0% per
annum.

On 2 October 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

On 2 December 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$40 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

On 31 December 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
extension agreement for a loan with a principal amount of HK$70
million to be matured 20 January 2025 with Celestial Pioneer Limited
as the lender. Pursuant to such loan extension agreement, the said
borrower obtained an unsecured loan extension for the unpaid
principal amount and interest as at 20 January 2025 of approximately
HK$68.5 million for a term of three years from 21 January 2025, with an
interest rate of 6.0% per annum.

On 4 February 2025, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$60 million for a term of three years from the date
of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per annum.

On 18 March 2025, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$60 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

On 18 March 2025, HKC as the borrower entered into four loan
extension agreements for each of the loans with the principal amounts
of (i) HKS50 million maturing on 3 April 2025, (ii) HK$50 million
maturing on 27 June 2025, (i) HK$80 million maturing on 22 August
2025, and (iv) HK$50 million maturing on 7 November 2025, with
Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender for each of the loans. Pursuant
to these loan extension agreements, the said borrower obtained
unsecured loan extensions for the following unpaid principal amounts
and interest (i) for the loan maturing on 3 April 2025, an extension for
approximately HK$52.6 million for a term of three years from 4 April
2025, with an interest rate of 6.0% per annum; (i) for the loan originally
maturing on 27 June 2025, an extension for approximately HK$53.0
million for a term of three years from 28 June 2025, with an interest
rate of 6.0% per annum; (iii) for the loan originally maturing on 22
August 2025, an extension for approximately HK$84.8 million for a term
of three years from 23 August 2025, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum; and (iv) for the loan originally maturing on 7 November 2025,
an extension for approximately HK$53.4 million for a term of three
years from 8 November 2025, with an interest rate of 6.0% per annum
respectively.

As the provision of the above-mentioned loans are conducted on
normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by the assets of
the Group, the transactions contemplated under the loan agreements
are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and
all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions

On 10 May 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of the Group)
entered into the agreement (the “Master Sales Agreement”) with Chow
Tai Fook Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries (together the "CTFE
Group”), Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the "CTFJ Group”) and Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited and
its subsidiaries (together the “CTFN Group”) for the sale of advertising
services (the "advertising services”) by the Group to the respective
members of CTFE Group, CTFJ Group and CTFN Group for three
financial years commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025,
unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the Master
Sales Agreement. Each of CTFE Group and CTFN Group has a diversified
investment portfolio. CTFJ Group has profound experience and
reputation in jewellery business. As part of their promotion activities
to create their brand awareness, the Group will provide the advertising
services through various free television channels and digital platforms.
The Master Sales Agreement will enable the Group to achieve greater
synergies with CTFE Group, CTFJ Group and CTFN Group.

The fees payable by the respective members of CTFE Group, CTFJ
Group and CTFN Group under the Master Sales Agreement will be
determined after aim’s length negotiations with reference to prevailing
market price and in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group
from time to time.

Dr. Cheng, who is the chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company, is a member of the
Cheng family which holds or controls each of CTFE Group, CTFJ
Group and CTFN Group. As such, each of CTFE Group, CTFJ Group
and CTFN Group is treated as a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Advertising Services contemplated under the Master
Sales Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Master Sales Agreement, the transactions contemplated
thereunder and the related annual caps were approved by the
independent shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 16 June 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

Details of the above continuing connected transactions were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 10 May 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 May 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate transaction
amount for the above continuing connected transactions under the
Master Sales Agreement are summarised as follows:
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Aggregate

transaction
amount Annual cap
for the for the year
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2024
BZE
Bz “E-EF
—2-_NE +t=—A=+—A8
+=—HA=+—H LEFEZ
LEERFHERA FE LR
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET

(1) Master Sales Agreement (1) HBEEHR

Amount received/receivables by the Group REFED Y TEK S EE 5911 25,000

The price and terms of the continuing connected transactions
mentioned in (1) have been determined in accordance with the
pricing policies and guidelines as set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 May 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
25 May 2023. These continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
who have confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  onnormal commercial terms or better;

(c) according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole; and

(d)  within the caps as set out in the relevant announcement and
circular.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised), Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 127 to 131 of the Annual
Report in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56.

The material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed
in the section headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
These transactions include amounts which fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules with respect to the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the financial
year ended 31 December 2024.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the financial
year ended 31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the percentage of the Shares which are in the hands of the
public exceeds 25.0% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group now presented
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary

(i)

Directors

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry a1, G8S (Age: 78)

Dr. Cheng was appointed as the Vice-chairman and
a non-executive Director in September 2017, and re-
designated as the Chairman in November 2021. Dr. Cheng
is the chairman and executive director of New World
Development Company Limited, CTF Services Limited
(formerly known as NWS Holdings Limited) and Chow Tai
Fook Jewellery Group Limited, and the chairman and non-
executive director of FSE Lifestyle Services Limited, all of
which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. He is
a director of Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited,
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il) Limited, Chow Tai
Fook Capital Limited, Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited,
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited ("CTFE") and Chow
Tai Fook Nominee Limited. Dr. Cheng is also a director
of each of Forever Top (the controlling shareholder of
the Company) and Celestial Pioneer (the controlling
shareholder of Forever Top and is wholly-owned by Dr.
Cheng).

Dr. Cheng is the chairman of the Advisory Council for
The Better Hong Kong Foundation. He was a Standing
Committee Member of the Twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic
of China. Dr. Cheng was awarded the Gold Bauhinia
Star and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2001 and 2017,
respectively by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “HKSAR").

Dr. Cheng is the uncle of the spouse of Mr. Tsang On Yip,
Patrick, an executive Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick 585 (Age: 53)

Mr. Tsang was appointed as a non-executive Director
in September 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director in November 2021. He was appointed as a Vice-
chairman in November 2021. He is also a member of the
CC. Heis also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Tsang is the co-chief executive officer and director of
CTFE. He is also the chairman and non-executive director
of Giordano International Limited, an executive director
of Melbourne Enterprises Limited and UMP Healthcare
Holdings Limited, and a non-executive director of SIM
Holdings Limited and CTF Services Limited (formerly
known as NWS Holdings Limited), all of which are listed
public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang was a non-
executive director of Greenheart Group Limited and
Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited, all
of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong, until
his retirement from the office in May 2022 and August
2022 respectively. Mr. Tsang is a director of Cheng Yu
Tung Foundation Limited and Chow Tai Fook (Holding)
Limited, the founder and a director of CTFE Social
Solutions Limited, a governor of Chow Tai Fook Charity
Foundation Limited, a member of Election Committee
and Youth Development Commission of the HKSAR, and
a vice chairman of Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong, a
director of Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company
Limited, and an advisor of Our Hong Kong Foundation.
He has been a member of the 14th Beijing Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference since 2023. Mr. Tsang was awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star in 2023 by the Government of the HKSAR.
Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics
from Columbia College of Columbia University in New
York, USA. Mr. Tsang is also a director of each of Forever
Top (the controlling shareholder of the Company) and
Celestial Pioneer (the controlling shareholder of Forever
Top and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng, a non-executive
Director).

Mr. Tsang's spouse is a niece of Dr. Cheng, a non-executive
Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Age: 45)

Mr. Lie Ken Jie was appointed as a non-executive Director
in July 2019, and re-designated as an executive Director in
November 2021. He is an authorised representative of the
Company (the "Authorised Representative”). He is also a
director of the subsidiaries of the Company. He is currently
a senior vice president of CTFE with responsibilities in
making strategic investments globally. He is also a non-
executive director of Greenheart Group Limited which is a
listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr. Lie Ken Jie holds
a Master's degree in Finance and a Master’s degree in Civil
Engineering, both from Imperial College London in the
United Kingdom. He is also a director of Forever Top, the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. TO Chi Hak (Age: 67)

Mr. To was appointed as an executive Director in May
2023 and as the chief executive officer of the Company
in June 2023. He is also a director of the subsidiaries
and consolidated structured entities of the Company.
He is a seasoned media executive with over 30 years of
experience in television, publication and radio industry in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. He has served controller
and management roles covering a wide range of media
functions from programming and acquisition, production
management of documentary, variety and drama projects,
to sales and marketing for over a quarter-century. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. To was the deputy general
manager of Television Broadcasts Limited from July 2016
to August 2021, and the Chief of Viu Originals of PCCW
Services Limited primarily responsible for organising and
producing drama series for the regional over-the-top
(OTT) service Viu and Hong Kong broadcaster Viu TV from
September 2021 to January 2023. Mr. To graduated from
the University of Hong Kong in 1985 with a bachelor’s
degree in social science.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Age: 48)

Dr. Luk was appointed as an executive Director in May
2023. Dr. Luk joined the Group in April 2020 and is
currently a director of the content development division
of a subsidiary of the Company. He is also a director of a
subsidiary of the Company.

Dr. Luk is the head of external affairs of CTFE. Prior to
his current appointment at CTFE, he was an assistant
to the chairman of the board of directors of New World
Development Company Limited, a listed public company
in Hong Kong. Dr. Luk also served as a principal researcher
at Hong Kong Ideas Centre and a senior researcher at the
Central Policy Unit of the Government of the HKSAR of the
People’s Republic of China.

Dr. Luk has been appointed by the Government of the
HKSAR as a member of the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal
Panel, the Mental Health Review Tribunal, the Appeal
Tribunal Panel (Buildings), the Municipal Services Appeals
Board and the District Fight Crime Committee (Yau
Tsim Mong District). Dr. Luk is a founder and a director
of CTFE Social Solutions, the philanthropic arm of CTFE
that is committed to providing innovative solutions in
response to society's challenges. Dr. Luk is a fellow of the
Royal Geographical Society with the Institute of British
Geographers in the United Kingdom and holds a Doctor of
Philosophy degree from the University of Oxford.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Age: 46)

Ms. Ng was appointed as a non-executive Director in
July 2019. She is an executive director, the executive vice
chairman, chief executive officer and a member of the
executive committee of South China Financial Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

She is also a non-executive director of South China
Holdings Company Limited whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and an executive
director and the executive vice chairman of South China
Assets Holdings Limited whose shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange and were delisted on GEM of the
Stock Exchange in March 2022.

She holds a Bachelor's degree in Law from King's College
London, University of London in the United Kingdom
and was admitted to the Hong Kong Bar in 2006. She
is an associate member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, a member of the 12th Hebei
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a standing committee
member of the 13th Hebei Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Ms. Ng is the daughter of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, who,
together with his spouse and companies controlled by
him, is interested in approximately 10.08% of the total
number of issued Shares.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey csv, Gss, Jp (Age: 73)

Mr. Lam was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in September 2017. He is also the chairman
and a member of the CC and a member of the NC. Mr.
Lam holds a bachelor degree in mechanical engineering
from Tufts University in the United States. He has over 40
years of experience in the manufacturing industry and
is currently the managing director of Forward Winsome
Industries Limited which is engaged in toy manufacturing.

Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive director
of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited, C C Land
Holdings Limited, China Overseas Grand Oceans Group
Limited, Wynn Macau Limited, CWT International
Limited, Wing Tai Properties Limited, Analogue Holdings
Limited, CSC Holdings Limited and Golden Resources
Development International Limited, all of which are
listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam was an
executive director of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology
Group Limited (now known as USPACE Technology Group
Limited) a listed public company in Hong Kong, until his
resignation in November 2023.

Mr. Lam is a non-official member of the Executive Council
and a member of the Legislative Council in Hong Kong.
He also holds a number of other public and community
service positions including being a general committee
member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce, member of HKSAR Advisory Committee on
the Northern Metropolis, and a member of the board of
directors of Heifer International-Hong Kong.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman Gss, Jr (Age: 71)

Prof. Hu, B.Sc, FCIBSE, FHKIE, MIEEE, C. Eng., has been an
independent non-executive Director since April 2012
He is also the chairman of the NC and a member of each
of the NC, AC and CC. He is the chairman of Ryoden
Development Limited. Prof. Hu has been re-elected
as a Deputy to the 14th National People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China. He is the Life Honorary
Chairman of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce,
Hong Kong. He is also a general committee member of the
Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong, the Honorary Vice
President of the Sports Federation & Olympic Committee
of Hong Kong, China, an Honorary Court Member of
The Hong Kong University of Science & Technology, a
member of the Election Committee of the Government
of the HKSAR and the Vice Patron of The Community
Chest of Hong Kong. He was awarded the Honour of Silver
Bauhinia Star (SBS) and Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) by the
Government of the HKSAR on 30 June 2017 and
2023 respectively.

1 July
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I_ggpo_g of the Directors
EEEHES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 855, )r (Age: 73)

Mr. Luk, FHKIB, has been an independent non-executive
Director since September 2010. He also serves as the
chairman of the AC and a member of each of the AC, CC
and NC. He has over 30 years of comprehensive experience
in accounting and financial management. He joined Hang
Seng Bank in 1975, became the bank’s director and deputy
chief executive in 1994 and then became managing
director and deputy chief executive of the bank in 1996
until his retirement in May 2005. Mr. Luk is an independent
non-executive director of two companies publicly listed
in Hong Kong, namely, Hung Hing Printing Group Limited
and Harbour Centre Development Limited. Mr. Luk was
formerly an independent non-executive director of
Wheelock Properties Limited (formerly a listed public
company in Hong Kong until it became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Wheelock and Company Limited in July
2010) from February 2008 to July 2010, China Properties
Group Limited (formerly a listed public company in Hong
Kong until it was delisted in August 2023) from February
2007 to June 2023 and Computime Group Limited (a
listed public company in Hong Kong) from September
2006 to September 2023. Mr. Luk also served in the past
on the Court and Council of Hong Kong Baptist University,
the Advisory Committee on New Broad-based Taxes,
the Personal Data (Privacy) Advisory Committee, the
Central Policy Unit of the Hong Kong Government, the
Statistics Advisory Board, the Broadcasting Authority, the
Advisory Committee and the Investor Education Advisory
Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission,
the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel, the Operations
Review Committee of ICAC, the Town Planning Board and
the council of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
was an appointed member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1992 to 1995, a member of the first Election
Committee of the Legislative Council and a non-executive
director (non-official) of Urban Renewal Authority.

Mr. Luk graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences
Degree in Statistics from The University of Hong Kong and
also holds a Master of Business Administration Degree
granted by The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is also
a Non-official Justice of the Peace and was awarded the
honour of Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004 in recognition of
his contributions to public services.
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I_ggpo_g of the Directors
EEEHES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i) Directors (Continued)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Age: 67)

Mr. Tang has been appointed an independent non-
executive Director since January 2014. He is also a
member of the AC. He holds a Master degree in Electrical
Engineering and a degree of Doctor in Medicine from
the University of Southern California, the United States
of America. Mr. Tang is a seasoned entrepreneur in the
hospitality industry and has over 30 years of experience in
investment and operation of restaurants, cafes and bars.
He is the founder and owner of the Epicurean Group.

(ii) Senior Management
Mr. TO Chi Hak, Chief Executive Officer (Age: 61)

Mr. To was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer in
June 2023. For the details of Mr. To's biographical details,

please refer to the “(i) Directors” above.
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I_ggpo_g of the Directors
EEEHES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(ii)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. LIU David C K Chief Financial Officer (Age: 45)

Mr. Liu joined the Group in February 2025 and he is the
chief financial officer of the Company. He is responsible
for the accounting and financial management of the
Group. Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in diverse
industries — including media, sports and entertainment.
In prior finance leadership and finance business partnering
roles, Mr. Liu focuses on the financial planning and analysis
function in extracting key financial insights and conveying
to leadership in a simplified manner to drive corporate
action and business growth.

He is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA) from the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario and holds a
Bachelor of Commerce Degree from Toronto Metropolitan
University in Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
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I_ggpo_g of the Directors
EEEHES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION RAHAEER @
(Continued)
(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior (A) EE SHEEERARAMEZEGN
Management and Company Secretary (%)
(Continued)
(iii) Company Secretary (iiiy ARAWE
Ms. LAU Yee Wa, Company Secretary BligEL L NAlWE
Ms. Lau has been appointed as the company secretary BBFELLTRELZERARNBRRAWERE
of the Company and an Authorised Representative with BRE BZZEZ=F A=+ N\BREE
effect from 28 June 2023. e
Ms. Lau is a director of corporate services of Tricor BT R AR EEXNBERATER
Services Limited, a member of Vistra Group and a global HEE - Z R A= VistnkEBRHKE AR
professional services provider specialising in integrated REFMNEERB AR - SR EREME
business, corporate and investor services. Ms. Lau has over B CERMKREEGERS - 8L+
20 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field, NAMEEHBEER20FLER  L—HA
and has been providing professional corporate services BEBLWMARURBEAR - LARAR
to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, B ARREIENDCERYS -2+ A
private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is a Chartered BHWNE BHEREEAEREBRQA
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an REAGMNERFHFARREAEE 1 -
associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Bzt EGmAREIMERE LB -

Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Lau obtained her bachelor of
business administrative management from the University
of South Australia.

143



144

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2024

Independent Auditor’s Report
WIS RES

i
pwec

To the members of i-CABLE Communications Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of i-CABLE Communications
Limited (the “Company”), its subsidiaries and its consolidated structured
entities (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 155 to 266, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BB E S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Going concern assessment

Recoverability of property, plant & equipment (“PP&E"), right-
of-use assets, programming library and other related intangible
assets
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WIS RES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FRETEEm@m

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEFNNEEFARESN SR

BEETER

Going concern assessment

FREENE

Our audit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
following:

KRS % AR ET FENETRFEEATSIE

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
FLHGRE Y BWEME2 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$741 million and total deficit of HK$1,882 million and
during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
a net loss of HK$553 million and total operating cash outflows
amounted to HK$221 million. Included in its current liabilities as
at 31 December 2024 was an interest-bearing bank borrowing
of HK$295 million which was immediately repayable on demand
and subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually. and loans with an aggregate amount of HK$230 million
advanced by the controlling shareholder of Forever Top (Asia)
Limited (“Forever Top”), a substantial shareholder holding 43.2%
equity interests of the Company, which would be due in 2025.
RZEZNFEF+ZA=1+—H ' E£BEERDEETF
#1741,000,000 7% 7T & 48 /& 4t 1,882,000,000 % 7T » 1M AL & =
TECMFTZA=FTRHIEFE - EEEHSFEER
553,000,000 78 7T Ko A% & 3 & 7t th #4888 221,000,000 8 7T °
“ECMF+-A=t+—B RPEEEETRRTE
7X295,000000;/8 7T A RBRIAARERANKER - B/AK
B RERIA AR —FERXES  URBEBBEARRA
43.2% At 2 E 2R AT (M) BR AR ([T ) 2 1%
% AR R A 1 & 2£ 230,000,000 8 T 2 B - AARIERZZ
—HEFFIH-

Understanding management’s processes in relation to
the preparation of cash flow forecast and assessing the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement
involved in preparing the cash flow forecast for the
purpose of going concern assessment;
TREEBEFHURERERETEANEF  EBE
BEATHEEMNEEERFELETHRRRD
ME TR S K ey # b - FHEE KRB R EF
&\

Discussing with management to understand the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast and their
future operation plans in the Forecast Period;
HERENmATREANRERERERBMALN
FERBERERRELTE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRESER

These events casted doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. As part of the going concern assessment,
the directors reviewed the Group's cash flow forecast prepared
by management which covered a period of twelve months
from 31 December 2024 (“Forecast Period”) and have taken
into account certain plans and measures as set out in Note 2 of
the consolidated financial statements and considered that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.

ZEEMSIRY ESERTARNIBAELCENRE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RANESTNNEEREETER

Challenging the reasonableness of the key assumptions
adopted by management, including the revenue growth
rate, estimated operating expenses by considering the
historical trend, current business plans and approved
budget;

FRERELBY BT NESTEE &
REEEMEAIZRRX (BERRERE {5
KEBR)MAEN

Enquiring management of the availability of financing
facilities, other recourse to financing and the proposed
fundraising activities and corroborating with relevant
supporting information, including agreements and deeds
of undertaking of financial support;
MERESHATARME HtREGEREEEE
EE WAHBXFHERMERER B E LI
TSR AEGR R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B EST B H ()
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREIEHE BRPNESNWEERRETEE
As management’s assessment of the going concern basis used - Evaluating the financial capability of Forever Top (Asia)
in the preparation of consolidated financial statements involves Limited (a substantial shareholder holding 43.2%
significant management’s judgements and assumptions, this shareholding of the Company) and its controlling
matter is considered as a key audit matter. shareholder to provide financial support to the Group
HREEEHREGEVBERRMERFELEELED based on relevant supporting evidence;
AT RERNEREHE RERR  ZFEBERABARESE - RBARR S FRE - AEEOKT (M) BR A A (5
BE2EK B BRAIBKRENETERR) REERKRR

M BEEEREBFOTEE

Evaluating management'’s sensitivity analyses around the
key assumptions in the cash flow forecast to consider the
downside effect of such changes; and
AHEEREHR S RERE ERBOHBREIN
NEZRZEZBN TTTE &

Evaluating the appropriateness of the disclosures relating
to the going concern basis of preparation included in the
consolidated financial statements.

G M BRR T AMFELCERBEEENR

BRTEY -

Based on our work, we found that the key management’s
judgement and assumptions used in management’s going
concern assessment were supported by the available evidence.
REBRMOTIE RPZRNEBFEFELETHPRL
AOEREREHEG MBRENSEE R -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FRETEEm@m

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEETER BMWETNAEEBRETSZE

Recoverability of PP&E, right-of-use assets, programming  Our audit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
library and other related intangible assets

ME BERKE ERAEEE BATEREMAR

following:

B %A RET FENESEFEEATEIE

BEEENTWE M

Refer to Notes 4(b), 15, 16, 17 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRHGRATBREWTE40) 151617 %18 °

The Group held various PP&E, right-of-use assets, programming
library and other related intangible assets amounting to HK$507
million (net of impairment) as at 31 December 2024. The Group
recorded a total impairment loss of HK$52 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, according to the impairment
assessment for these assets.

RZZBE_WNE+_A=+—R0 E£ERBREZENE .
BB NEE ERAEEE BREHB REMEBETLE
B &% /3507,0000008 7T (FREE) - REZFEEN
BEE EEERBE_T_NF+-A=+—HI
F [ 82156 (B 85 18 48 5 52,000,000 8 7T °

Management conducts impairment assessments on these
assets if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The impairment assessment is based on the
recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating unit (‘CGU")
to which these assets are allocated.
HMEFHABREHBRRAELRBE EBEEHZ
FEEETREN G - REFENDERZFEEESR
WEBRSELEM ((ReEAEMD AT KOS -

Understanding management’s processes in relation to the
preparation of impairment assessment and assessing the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement on
key assumptions used in preparing the cash flow forecast
for the purpose of impairment;
THREEBHERAETLNEF  WHEBEREM
WER RIS RE TR S R h st T HEE 12
BLARAEERRNAL  FEEAERRED
BRR

Discussing with the independent external valuer to
understand the valuation approach, methodology and key
assumptions used;

BB HNER R ERMETT AT 5 0 A T BEPT AR ETTA
FERETZ2RE

Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
management'’s forecast to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

AR EIRERABE M AR - URHEER
B BZn AR

Assessing the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of key assumptions, including discount
rates and long term growth rate, by comparing the
industry comparables, with the involvement of our internal
valuation experts;

FRLEBTE TREEFERFEFERR (BER
BERERBEERE)NHGEN  ABEEERTZ
EHA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BEETER

Management determined the recoverable amounts with the
assistance of an independent external valuer, where appropriate.
The recoverable amounts were determined based on the
higher of its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The determination of CGU and recoverable amounts involves
significant judgement and the estimation or forecast of cash
flows of the relevant CGU based on certain key assumptions.
EREEBLINBEERMEE BT (HE ) & E AT i
CHEo-ABEEEDREEAFAEERAABERLE
REAZBSEEE ErREELEURAIKESEY
NERHAERREE T EE2RRXAFTRFENEBESE
EBEUNHRSRE -

Significant management’s judgement and assumptions were
involved in the impairment assessment, including forecast
revenue, forecast operating costs, long term growth rate and
discount rate, and hence we considered this is a key audit
matter.

WMER S REREEEHE RRER - 2FEERE -
RRALEERES RPERERBEREEX At HMARE
It AR TR EIA -

FEEETTEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRPNESNWEERRETEE

Assessing the reasonableness of CGU determination
based on our understanding of the Group's business
and assessing the reasonableness of forecast revenue
and operating costs by considering the Group’s business
development plans, approved budget and our knowledge
of the industry and the Group;

RERMYE EEEXEBNTH FERSELE
UETHAREE WERER ESENEBER
FHE - BEEERRMETENR EEENME -
AHETERI S RS B AR S IR

Checking data input in the discounted cash flow forecasts
to supporting evidence;

75 86 3R IR & 7 B TR R H i A BUR B SRR R IR AT
ZEI

Evaluating management’s sensitivity of a reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions adopted in the
discounted cash flow calculation to the recoverable
amounts of the CGU; and
AHEREEHMRREREFEPMRAFERSR
& IR R AE B B) U1 IR & B AR BE i AT W 0] & BE ) BURK
E: R

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures relating to
the impairment assessment in the context of applicable
financial reporting standards.

RIZER N BREENTEEARETHORER
BRE °

Based on our work, we found that the management’s judgement
and assumptions adopted in the impairment assessment were
supported by the available evidence.

BERMOIE ZMBEREBREBEREN G EAN
H B RRRIE AT BRI HF -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibility of overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIS RES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIS RES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE AUDITOF B Z B A8 ERRNVEFE @)
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we W EBZZ B @BEAMNEEF  KPIETHLEEY
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit ~ ANEGAMBRENEBARAETE  AMEKRBREE
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 5+ 518 » HPIFE X BRI RS R E L EE - B IEA
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters inour @EERTAFAABEBRELEE  AEBHFERLNE
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure T+ IR G EFEHAERMRST EBESHEKN
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we B HEERBBEEEMN ARG RWIPRETNEERS
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report ~ F B BZETH -

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent I EZB I ZHAIRENEFTIHEE AR ABREG -
auditor’s report is Chan Chui Man.

PricewaterhouseCoopers B KEGTEERKA
Certified Public Accountants BEEETED

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025 & ZE-AF=A=+H



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_mME+_A=+—ALEE

ERBEEBABRIA

“E_NFEFR

2024 2023
—BomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET

Continuing operations BERSEER
Revenue WA 67 584,489 597,898
Cost of services Rk 75 A AN
— Programming costs — 1 B &UERK A (355,504) (396,988)
— Network expenses — B EA (230,833) (255,649)
— Cost of sales — HEKAR (172,913) (163,410)
Selling, general and administrative and HE - —R - ITH K

other operating expenses HigE s8R (234,952) (209,617)
Loss from operations REEER (409,713) (427,766)
Interest income F B A 780 749
Finance costs MEER (125,830) (83,547)
Non-operating expenses, net I EF R (3,085) (4,060)
Loss before taxation BRELATE 1B 8 (537,848) (514,624)
Income tax ABFIR 9a) (15,490) (32,940)
Loss from continuing operations FRE LS TSR e (553,338) (547,564)
Discontinued operation ERIEREER
Loss from discontinued operation BRI EEEEBE 10 - (41,710)
Loss for the year FRER (553,338) (589,274)
Attributable to: PG

Equity shareholders of the Company R EERSR R (553,338) (589,274)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T-_mWE+_A=+—HILtEE

Note pLip2
HitaF —E-NE
Loss per share BREE 14
From continuing and discontinued REFELERCRIELEELE
operations
Basic R (7.8) HK cents (8.3) HK cents
B Al
Diluted BER (7.8) HK cents (83) HK cents
AL Al
From continuing operations REFELSEER
Basic HAR (7.8) HK cents (7.7) HK cents
A Il
Diluted gz (7.8) HK cents (7.7) HK cents
B AL
From discontinued operation RECKRIEEEETE
Basic HAK - (0.6) HK cents
AL
Diluted gz - (0.6) HK cents
Il
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEE2EKER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_mME+_A=+—ALEE

2024 2023
—BomE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Loss for the year FRAEER (553,338) (589,274)
Other comprehensive income fortheyear FRHE 2 E W
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B {E AJfEE# 7 EE 185 H B -
profit or loss:
Currency translation difference B EER 62 (14)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T & E# 7B E 182 E H
Remeasurement of employee benefits EEBAMETEF= 13
obligations (88) -
Total comprehensive income fortheyear ERZH W ZHATE (553,364) (589,288)
Attributable to: PG
Equity shareholders of the Company RN AR R
— Continuing operations — BEEEER (553,364) (547,578)
— Discontinued operation — BRI E T - (41,710
(553,364) (589,288)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EEMBIRIAR

As at 31 December 2024
RZZE-WE+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET F#E T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment V- BB REE 15 344,048 393,219
Right-of-use assets CREEE 16 161,874 194,248
Programming library #HAEAE 17 - -
Other intangible assets EmErEE 18 1,218 1218
Contract acquisition costs A U PR AR 2,356 4,248
Deferred tax assets FIEFIEE E 29(b) 54,266 69,551
Deposits, prepayments and e - BRI R E MR
other receivables 37,254 31,154
601,016 693,638
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 20 2,831 3416
Trade receivables and contract assets RN EERRA RN EE 21 105,671 120,203
Deposits, prepayments and e BRI R E MR
other receivables 64,841 46,007
Contract acquisition costs G B UEE PR AR 9,051 6,534
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFTABEDN
profit or loss SREE 22 26,242 34,392
Restricted bank balances SR AR R 23 12,050 12,050
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTES 23 53,771 28919
274,457 251,521
Assets classified as held for sale DEABEEENEE 24 7,052 -
Total current assets RBEEHE 281,509 251,521
Total assets WmEE 882,525 945,159
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves EXRGFEE
Share capital [N 28(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves i (9,811,156) (9,257,792)
Total deficit 5 Al (1,882,181) (1,328817)




EEMBIRIAR

As at 31 December 2024
RZZE-WE+=A=+—H

ERBEEBABRIA

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

“E_NFEFR

2024 2023
—E-NE
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHEx T
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible bonds A& 27 600,064 572,005
Interest-bearing borrowings HEER 26 866,035 746,035
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 249,468 225,169
Other non-current liabilities HM3EnRsaE 26,925 26,969
1,742,492 1,570,178
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables JE A~ AR K 25 88,313 85,486
Accrued expenses and other payables TEIRE A KA A FE TR 25 297,621 234,879
Receipts in advance and customers’ TEREREEFIES
deposits 25 74,960 83,538
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEX 26 525,000 295,000
Lease liabilities HERE 16 36,267 4815
Current tax liabilities EHNEaE 29(3) 53 80
1,022,214 703,798
Total liabilities mafmE 2,764,706 2,273976
Total equity and liabilities HEZKREE 882,525 945,159

The notes on pages 164 to 266 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Fl64E 206 B 2 MFEARGEVBRENEKITS -

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 &EEEN _ZE_AF = A -+ NARBIRERERM -
March 2025.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
BMRAEL BRESE
Director Director

EF EF

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
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Consq!idated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_mME+_A=+—ALEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ANAERRREEDS

Equity
component
of
Share Capital Exchange Accumulated Other convertible Total Total

capital reserve reserve losses reserves bonds  reserves deficit
CIE: )
&%
RE  EXffE NERE ZiER HtRE BE¥2 RELE 254
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr TEx TExn TEx TEx TEx TER  TE=n

Balanceat1January2024 R-ZE-MF-F—H

P 3 7928975 13,985 3,114 (9,643,782) - 368,891 (9,257,792) (1,328,817)
Loss for the year FRER - - - (553,338) - - (553,338) (553,338)
Other comprehensiveincome -t 2 Iz - - 62 - (88) - (26) (26)

Total comprehensive income & 2 35 428
for the year - - 62  (553,338) (88) - (553,364) (553,364)

Balance at 31 December 2024 R=F=M&E+ =R
=t+—-HeEH 7,928,975 13,985 3,176 (10,197,120) (88) 368,891 (9,811,156) (1,882,181)
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Consq!idated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_mME+_A=+—ALEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARFEERREGHD

Equity
component
of
Share Capital  Exchange Accumulated  convertible Total Total
capital reserve reserve losses bonds reserves deficit
AR
kA BAGER MNERE ZHER ER¥S HEEE B4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Taxr ThRrn TEr  TET  TER B BT
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-ZB-=F-F—-Bz&H 798975 13985 3128 (9054508) 368891  (8668504)  (739,529)
Loss for the year ENER - - - (589274) - (589274)  (589,274)
Other comprehensive income Eth2Ekes - - (14) - - (14) (14)

Total comprehensive income FREENRLE
for the year - - (14) (589,274) - (589,288) (589,288)

Balance at 31 December 2023 R-ZBEZ=f+-A=+-H
P13 7.928975 13985 3114 (9643782) 368891  (9257,792)  (1328817)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2& AN N =1
whh 3 iﬁﬁblbgi
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_ME+_A=t+—HILEFE

Cash flows from operating activities

REFHELENRER

2024
—F-MmF

HK$’000
FEx

2023

HK$'000
TAET

Loss before taxation from BREERTE 1B

Continuing operations BEREER (537,848) (514,624)

Discontinued operation ERIEEEER - (41,710)

(537,848) (556,334)

Adjustments for: PR
Finance costs BEER 125,830 83,547
Interest income FEHBA (780) (749)
Depreciation e 101,129 99,994
Amortisation of programming library HRE B 22,814 25,654
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b & E R - 1,104
Amortisation of contract acquisition costs B H U P AN 3R 9,027 13,297
Impairment losses on property, Y - BRERZRERESRE

plant and equipment 26,677 46,195
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets ERAREEREREE 4,431 4217
Impairment losses on programming library HREBEREEE 21,130 28,562
Impairment losses on other intangible assets HEm\my&EEREESE - 3,058
Net gain on disposal of property, HEWME - HE ME#E 2 WEFE

plant and equipment (774) (813)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value BEARBEFABENESREEN

through profit or loss NABEBE 8,150 5,689
Net loss allowance on trade receivables JEW & R A BB BB F 58 4,410 3,009
Write down/(reversal of write down) of inventories 17 & iU, (MR % [E]) 399 (694)
Gain on modification of lease contracts BEIHES K 2 W= (1,076) (1)
Operating loss before changes in R AEEBEESEHHINLEES

working capital (216,481) (244,265)
Decrease in inventories FERL 186 3,751
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables and JENEX£BRERNEHNEE

contract assets B (38 ) 10,122 (16,559)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and &~ TAN R IR R H R Uk B N

other receivables (19,654) (4,986)
Increase in contract acquisition costs paid B & 49U BB AR AN 32 0 (9,652) (14,294)
Increase in trade payables JEAT & BRI AN 2,827 35,003
Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and TEIR B A M E b FE A F 8 0GRl 2)

other payables 20,808 (6,098)
Decrease in receipts in advance and FEWERREFPEE D

customers’ deposits (8,578) (34,713)




GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T-_mWE+_A=+—HILtEE

BERE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SREMARAR

SECNEER

2024 2023
ZBDmEFE T =4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHEx FHEIT
Cash flows used in operations KEFMANBESR (220,422) (282,161)
Tax paid [RENE A (232) (359)
Interest element of lease payments HERFHAE D (538) (4,727)
Netcashusedin operatingactivities =~ MERWAAMNRERER | @2n192)  (287247)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENRER
Additions to programming library EAREREA (46,844) (40,362)
Additions to other intangible assets WAEMELEE - (2,619)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - Jﬁﬁbﬁa& gl
plant and equipment Fr S 5K 2,448 4,038
Interest received B F B 697 689
Net payment for acquisition of W B I B A B 5% EE
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (BT EIR &) - (4,682)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE - BERERE (66,696) (76,753)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFANRESFE (110,395) (119,689)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHELENRER
Drawdown of interest-bearing borrowings REAEEER 30 350,000 450,000
Decrease in restricted bank balances PR SR 1T 45 #RORL - 4,500
Principal elements of lease payments HENREE I 30 (15,700) (18,826)
Lease incentive received B U & 12 E 30 47,080 -
Finance costs paid ENREER 30 (25,486) (41,486)
Netcash from financingactivities =~~~ MEZRBASHRERESE =~~~ | 355,894 | 394188
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReERBESSEYE M
cash equivalents (R4) E58 24,307 (12,748)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—B—BZBEE2RRESEEY 28,919 41,587
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes NEEZSB 2 HE 545 80
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December A+-A=+—HAZ2RE&R
REeZEY 53,771 28,919
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

i-CABLE Communications Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its
registered office in Hong Kong is 7th Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi
Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities (together the “Group”) are engaged in domestic free
television programme service, advertising, television relay
service, programme licensing, theatrical release, other media
related businesses, broadband internet access services, portal
operation, telephony services, network leasing, network
construction, mobile service and mobile agency service as well
as other telecommunications related businesses.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 are presented in thousands of Hong Kong
dollars (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved
by the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company on 26 March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which
are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its jJudgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 4 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & M5 R R aE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred
a net loss of HK$553 million (2023: HK$589 million). As at 31
December 2024, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$741 million (31 December 2023: HK$452
million) and total deficit amounted to HKS$1,882 million (31
December 2023: HK$ 1,329 million). Total operating cash outflows
amounted to HK$221 million (2023: HK$287 million). Included
in the Group's current liabilities was (i) an interest-bearing bank
borrowing of HK$295 million which is immediately repayable
on demand and subject to review at any time and in any event
not less than annually; and (ii) loans of an aggregate amount
of HK$230 million advanced by the controlling shareholder
of Forever Top (Asia) Limited (“Forever Top"), a substantial
shareholder holding 43.2% equity interests of the Company,
which would be due for repayment during the year ending 31
December 2025.

As at 31 December 2024, the controlling shareholder of Forever
Top has advanced loans totalling HK$1,096 million to the
Group. The Group has also received financing from time to time
from Forever Top through rights issue and issue of long-term
convertible bonds in June 2019 and March 2021 to improve the
Group's liquidity.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration of the liquidity requirement for the Group's
operations, the performance of the Group and available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group has sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The Directors
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast prepared by
management which covers a period of not less than twelve
months from 31 December 2024. The Directors have taken into
account the following plans and measures in assessing the
sufficiency of working capital requirements in the foreseeable
future:

R E % (@)
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[E $% 15 3% 5 $8 553,000,00078 7T (& = = 4 :
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7410000008 L (ZEZ=F+=-_H=+—H:
452,000,000 7 JT) K 42 /&5 4l & 1,882,000,000 7 7T
(ZE2EZ=F+=RA=-+—H :1,329000,000%
TL) ° RAEIR S A ER 5 221,000,000 T (ZF
= = 12870000008 7C) c AREBEMRE A E
BREONEERITES wwmmm%m BEEEX

AR BRI EMEE  WARER MERNMAT D
R—FBESESE  Mi)BF AR R 43.2% /% #E

ZEBBRFKFA (M) BRAR ([KFHD) 28
% P B A 15FA $£230,0000008 T2 B3 B E
RERBE-_Z-_AF+-_A=Z+t—HLFE
FfEE -

RZFE-—WNF+=—A=+—H  XFAZERERE
B A& B 28 4 $£1,096,000,00078 7T 2 B °
$E@ﬁ7hﬁ XARE AR BEBKRER

—NFRNARZE - —F=AFETREA
?ﬁﬂx%% CAMEREBAREE

ERNBEERN EFEFLAEERTARH

MBERGELER CHAZEAEEEE
MRBESHK AEENRBERATARENR

R-BEZCENAEEERENAKERSR
EFRA - HREBE T _NF+_-_A=+—H
B AOR+ ZEAME - EFEFENAIE
RARNZEESHFEREERCKECERUT
eI AR

165



166

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

1. In regards to the current liabilities mentioned above (i)
the Group's banking facility was subsequently renewed
in February 2025 and the outstanding loan balance of
HKS$295 million has been rolled over, which will continue
to be subject to the clause of the bank’s overriding right
to demand repayment; (ii) the loan with an aggregate
amount of HK$230 million from the controlling
shareholder of Forever Top was subsequently renewed
in March 2025 with maturity dates beyond 31 December
2025; and (iii) the controlling shareholder of Forever Top
agreed in writing that the interests in respect of their loans
advanced to the Group will be deferred in the event that

the Group makes such request to them;

2. The Group will continue its strategic transformation plan
to enhance the Group's business performance; enrichment
of contents; cooperation with other partners and cost

savings initiatives;

3. Forever Top has entered into an irrevocable deed of
undertaking for a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 December 2024 to provide financial support to
the Group, up to a cap with reference to the latest funding
requirement based on the cash flow forecast as approved
by the board of directors of the Company, as and when
necessary. In turn, Forever Top has received back to
back financial support undertakings from its controlling

shareholder; and

4. In February and March 2025, the controlling shareholder
of Forever Top has also further advanced loans totalling
HKS$120 million to the Group, which is accounted for

within the cap as mentioned in item 3 above.

Notwithstanding the above, whether the Group is able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above, which
incorporate assumptions about future events and conditions
are subject to inherent uncertainties. In particular, whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the continuous availability of existing banking
facility, the successful implementation of cost saving initiatives
and enhancement of business performance, and from time
to time as and when is necessary, the financial support from
Forever Top as backed by the controlling shareholder of Forever

Top.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Directors, after due consideration of the basis of the
Group’s plans and measures as well as the reasonably possible
downside changes to the cash flow assumptions in the cash flow
projections, consider that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the coming twelve months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

(@) Amendments to standards and
interpretation effective in current
accounting period

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
adopted the following amendments to standards and
interpretation which are mandatory for accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2024:

HKAS 1 (Amendments) (lassification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(2020) — (lassification by the Borrower

of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
(Amendments)

The adoption of these amendments to standards and
interpretation does not have any significant change to the
accounting policies or any significant effect on the results
and financial position of the Group.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group

The following new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation have been published which are
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2025 but have not been early
adopted by the Group:

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and
(Amendments) Measurement of Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, Annual Improvements to HKFRS
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Accounting Standards — Volume 11 @

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements ©
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures ©
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
(Amendments) Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause ©
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture ¢

(1) Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

2) Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

3) Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4) Effective date is to be determined

The Group does not expect that these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation would have
any material impact on its results and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & M5 R R aE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies adopted for the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements, which have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated, are set out below:

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including consolidated
structured entities) controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which controls is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances, transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

BAREHBE
BAAERI  BEZSRAMBARNEX
G BOR (B EBUE AR FT A 2 WE ) Bl

™~

(a)

VN
A=
REMBBRREBBEARAREMEHNBLR
ﬂﬁi+fﬂz+—5¢ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁ%°

B /8 1~ 7]

MEBAR (BRGAEBIEER) REXA
SEZHOMBEER EAKENRKSREE
BEBMAERSEAZRHENEARKE
BRI #OBOEN YHAENBEEAHE
BEINTERFEZFTORE - AL
BEGZER - WEBLATNESRERE
AEBEBEEZAGE AR  WRELEE
BIREE A EL LR AR -

SEANERNGEH X5 UREER
BRXIMEENEMARERRE  198H
MEAEBESREMBRREEHEAHE K
B RS BCRERBENEE A
HEAREHRWRMER - EEREBERRNLHE
BERBRCHBERENSD - HEBRFN
BHERRCEERTERELAR  UBR
BEAKEPATRAEBEBOR 2 -

AEERMBEARINEREE - MAEK
%%*ﬂ% EULEFERARERRS -

BRmMIERER MR RS E
WMﬁ IR EEREE  ETENE
@ AR U S KB IR o

169



170

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & M5 R R aE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see Note 3(p)(ii)). The cost of self-constructed items
of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs
(see Note 3(Kk)).

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. E RKEFEE @)
(b) Property, plant and equipment and (b) ¥ BERREREFTE@

depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives at annual rates as follows:

Network assets and television 5% to 25%
production systems
Furniture, fixtures, other 10% to 33.33%

equipment and motor vehicles
Buildings situated on Higher of 2.5% or percentage to
leasehold land* amortise the asset cost over

the unexpired term of land leases

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Under certain circumstances, the Group may have an
obligation to dismantle part of its network upon request
by concerned parties. Owing to the absence of such
history, no reliable estimate can be reasonably made in
respect of such potential obligation.

This represents units in industrial and commercial buildings which
the management considers impracticable to split the cost into land
and buildings. Thus, depreciation is provided at 2.5% to write off
the cost of the properties held by the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including
in- substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable. Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
The Group determines the incremental borrowing rate
by using recent third-party financing received with
adjustments specific to the term of the leases.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. E RKEFEE @)
(c) Leases (Continued) (0 HE @

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs; and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position based on their nature.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Programming costs

(i)

Programming library

Programming library consists of presentation rights
for acquired programmes for showing on the
Group's television channels, film rights and films in
progress produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group.

Presentation rights for acquired programmes are
capitalised as intangible assets and stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses (see Note
3(p)(ii)). Amortisation is charged to profit or loss
in accordance with a formula on an accelerated
basis over a maximum of three transmissions.
Subsequent expenditure, which may include
subtitling costs and dubbing costs, on programmes
after initial acquisition is recognised as an expense
when incurred unless it is probable that the
expenditure would enable the programmes to
generate future economic benefits in excess of their
originally assessed standard of performance and the
expenditure could be measured and attributed to
the assets reliably.

Film rights produced by the Group and perpetual
film rights acquired by the Group are capitalised
as intangible assets and stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs of film
rights produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group represent the carrying
value transferred from films in progress upon
completion and the purchase price of the perpetual
film rights respectively. Amortisation is charged to
profit or loss over the expected number of future
showings.

Films in progress are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs include
all direct costs associated with the production of
films. Costs of films are transferred to film rights
upon completion.
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B RS BER )
(d) 8B ®ERA @)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued) 3.
(d) Programming costs (Continued)

(ii) Live programmes and in-house developed
programmes

Live programmes consist of third party feed
programmes while in-house developed
programmes consist primarily of news, documentary
and general entertainment programmes with short
lead-time from production to telecast. The costs
of both types of programmes are charged to profit
or loss upon telecast. Payments of programme
costs made in advance or in arrears are recorded as
prepayments or accruals, as appropriate.

(e) Otherintangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful
life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Club debentures

The Group's club debentures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less impairment losses (see Note 3(p)

(i)

Computer software and website
development costs

The Group’s computer software and website
development costs are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Computer software and
website development costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5
years.

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes and website are recognised as an
expense as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and testing of
identifiable and unique computer software products
and website controlled by the Group are recognised
as intangible assets where the following criteria are
met:

— it is technically feasible to complete the
software and website so that it will be
available for use;

— management intends to complete the
software and website and use (or sell) it;

— there is an ability to use or sell the software
and website;

— it can be demonstrated how the software
and website will generate probable future
economic benefits;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(f)

(ii)

(iii)

Computer software and website
development costs (Continued)

— adequate technical, financial and other
resources are available to complete the
development and to use the software and
website; and

—  the expenditure attributable to acquisition,
development and enhancement of the
software and website can be reliably
measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use.

Computer software and website development costs
that do not meet the above criteria are expensed
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Digital music distribution licence

The Group's digital music distribution licence is
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 3(p)
(i))). The Group amortises digital music distribution
licence with a limited useful life using the straight-
line method over the licence period.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted
average basis and comprises all costs of purchase, costs

of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments

(i)

(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement

The Group initially recognises trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, deposits
and borrowings on the date on which they are
originated. All other financial instruments are
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on
which the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability (unless it is
trade and other receivables without a significant
financing component) is measured initially at fair
value plus, in the case of an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. Transaction costs of financial
assets or liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in
profit or loss. Trade and other receivables without
a significant financing component are initially
measured at transaction price.

Classification and subsequent
measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition, except if and in the period
the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

—  the asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & M5 R R aE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Classification and subsequent
measurement (Continued)

Trade and other receivables, including balances due
from group companies are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost. All other financial assets are
classified and measured at fair values.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced
by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss. Financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair values. Changes in
fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is also recognised in
profit or loss. Trade and other payables, including
balances due to group companies, interest- bearing
borrowings and convertible bonds are classified as
financial liabilities at amortised cost. The Group does
not have financial liability measured at FVTPL.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset. The Group enters into transactions
whereby it transfers assets recognised on its
consolidated statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the transferred assets. In such cases, the
transferred assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial
liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially
different. In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the new financial
liability with modified terms is recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and
expenses are presented on a net basis only when
permitted under HKFRSs, or for gains and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions such as
in the Group’s trading activity.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on

hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term, highly

liquid investments that are readily convertible into known

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in value, having been within 3 months of

maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable

on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management are also included as a component of cash

and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated

statement of cash flows of the Group.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises different types of revenue, as

follows:

U]

(i)

The Group enters into individual or packaged
and fixed price subscription sale contracts with
customers in which, it may include single or
multiple elements of subscription television
services, broadband internet access services and
telephony services. Under such arrangements, the
total transaction price receivable from customers
is allocated among the Group’ s performance
obligations on a relative standalone selling price
basis. The Group estimates the standalone selling
price at contract inception based on the observable
retail prices of the respective performance
obligations in similar circumstances to similar
customers. Revenue allocated to the subscription
television services, broadband internet access
services and telephony services is recognised
over time when the services are provided, which
is generally over the contract period. In general,
customers are invoiced according to agreed billing
schedules set out in the customer contracts,
invoices are usually billable in advance of the
services to be rendered and are due for payments
within 15 days.

Advertising revenue net of agency deductions
is recognised on telecast of the advertisement.
When an advertising contract covers a specified
period, the related revenue is recognised evenly
over the specified period. Customers are invoiced
according to agreed billing schedules, in advance
of the advertising services, with payments due
within 30 days. In case of non-cash consideration
under barter transactions, the fair value of the non-
cash consideration is measured at the inception
of contracts. If the fair value cannot be reasonably
estimated, the Group measures consideration
indirectly by reference to the standalone selling
price of the services promised to the customer in
exchange for the consideration.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Revenue from network construction service contract
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation using
input method.

Revenue from rendering mobile agency services
and mobile services is recognised over time when
the services have been rendered. Variable fees
are recognised only to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal will not occur.

Revenue from network leasing is recognised over
time on a straight line basis.

Revenue from theatrical distributions is recognised
when the films are exhibited.

Revenue from distribution of films is recognised
upon delivery of the master tapes to the customers.

Income from licensing of television rights is
recognised in full upon delivery of the programmes
concerned in accordance with the terms of the
licence contracts.

Income from network maintenance and operations
is recognised at the time when services are
provided.

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal installments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted
are recognised in profit or loss as integral part of
the aggregate net lease payments receivables.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract with a
customer are capitalised as contract acquisition costs if the
Group expects to recover these costs. Costs of obtaining
a contract are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the specific contracts. As a practical expedient,
the Group recognises the incremental cost of obtaining a
contract as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is 1 year or less.

The period between the transfer of promised goods and
services to the customers and payments by customers
usually is within 1 year, as a result, there is no financing
component which requires adjustment of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

If the payments by customers exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised as receipts
in advance on the consolidated statement of financial
position. If the services rendered exceed the payments
by customers and unconditional rights to contract
consideration to date, a contract asset is recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount
to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted at the
date of grant, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital when the
options are exercised. On lapse of share options according
to the plan, corresponding amount recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to retained profits.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively. Current tax is the expected
tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets
are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria
are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences arising
from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not discounted. The carrying amount of a deferred
tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available. Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability
to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

(n)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the entity has
the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

(M) In the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the entity intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

(i) Inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(1) the same taxable entity; or

(2)  different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Translation of foreign currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar.
The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollar.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Translation of foreign currency (Continued)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair values are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in

equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when

the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

(o) Related parties

(M) A person, or a close member of that person'’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o) Related parties (Continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

m

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third parties.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for lifetime
expected credit loss ("ECL") on trade and other
receivables. For bank balances for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the loss
allowances are measured as 12-month ECL. Lifetime
ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months). In all cases, the maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group's historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward- looking
information. In all cases, the maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs and presentation of ECLs in
the consolidated statement of financial position

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. They are measured as follows:

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired at
the reporting date: as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive);

— financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date: as the difference between the
gross carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows;

— undrawn loan commitments: as the present
value of the difference between the
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group if the commitment is drawn down
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive; and

— financial guarantee contracts: the expected
payments to reimburse the holder less any
amounts that the Group expects to recover.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets. For debt securities at FVOC|,
the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no reasonable expectations of
recovering the financial asset. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  right-of-use assets;

—  programming library (including film rights,
perpetual film rights and films in progress);

—  otherintangible assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company's
statement of financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether
or not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash- generating units are allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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B RS BUER )
(p) EERE @

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(q) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group's chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM") for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group's various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities

(r)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of

—  the amount determined in accordance with
the expected credit loss model under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments”; and

—  the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required
under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the
estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group, except to the extent that they are included in the
cost of property, plant and equipment and programming
library not yet recognised as an expense. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

Defined benefit plans

Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit
that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of
service and compensation.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plans (Continued)

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is the present value of the employee benefits
obligations at the end of the reporting period less the fair
value of plan assets. The employee benefits obligations
is calculated annually by independent actuaries using
the projected unit credit method. The present value
of the employee benefits obligations is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to
the terms of the related pension obligation. In countries
where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market
rates on government bonds are used.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments
and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited
to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise. Service costs are recognised immediately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Transaction costs are incremental
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue
or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability, including
fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers
and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible
bond is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
income tax effects.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Government grants

(v)

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended
to compensate. Government grants are deducted in
reporting the related expenses, when appropriate.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups)
held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable.
They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while
they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other
expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group
classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented
separately from the other assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The liabilities of a disposal
group classified as held for sale are presented separately
from other liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(a) Recognition and recoverability of deferred

tax assets

Management considers the key source of estimation
uncertainty lies in the recognition of deferred tax assets
from unused tax losses. These tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be utilised. Management reviews the carrying
amount of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting
period, based on the forecast results of the Group and the
forecasts of future taxable profits of the relevant entities
with recognised deferred tax assets. The forecasts take into
account the expected growth of the business due to the
new business development and the approved business
plans. Significant judgement is involved in assessing
whether there is convincing evidence that sufficient
taxable profits will be available in view of a history of
recent losses, including estimating the projected future
taxable profits and the timing of the utilisation of tax
losses (which is the evidence supporting the recognition
of deferred tax assets). In the event that the Group's
estimates of projected future taxable profits due to
changes in operating environment and business strategies
would impact the timing or extent of the Group's ability to
utilise the tax loss carry-forwards in the future, adjustments
to the recorded amount of deferred tax assets would be
required
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related
intangible assets

Management regularly reviews whether there are
any indications of impairment and will recognise an
impairment loss if the carrying amount of an asset or a
cash-generating unit is higher than its recoverable amount
which is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal or
its value in use.

Management determined the recoverable amounts with
the assistance of an independent professional valuer,
where appropriate. Significant judgement is involved
in the identification of the cash-generating unit that
generates largely independent cash inflows to which
the assets are allocated, and in determining the key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecast, including
forecast revenue, forecast operating costs, long term
growth rate and discount rate used in the discounted cash
flow calculation. The Group has determined that upon
the decision to terminate the pay television business, it
became a separate cash-generating unit from the rest
of the remaining business. Changes in the assumptions
of the Group's estimates of projected cash flows due to
changes in operating environment, uncertainty in the
expected growth in business and change in discount rate
and long term growth rate would impact the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units. For the purpose
of sensitivity analysis, if the annual estimated revenue
were to decrease by 2%, there is no material impact to
the consolidated financial statements. If the discount rate
were to increase by 1%, there is no material impact to the
consolidated financial statements.

4, EEH{EE R HE @
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and price
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s businesses.
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables.
Management has a defined credit policy in place with
general credit terms ranging from 0 to 15 days in respect
of broadband, telephony and mobile service subscription
and from 0 to 30 days in respect of advertising, network
leasing and network construction services. The exposure
to credit risks is monitored on an ongoing basis. The
Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk from
customers receivables as the customers’ bases were widely
dispersed in different sectors, except for a single external
customer which accounts for approximately 36% (2023:
approximately 32%) of the total trade receivables, contract
assets and other receivables. Subscription revenue from
customers is settled mainly in cash or via major credit
cards.

Contract assets are considered to have low credit
risk. Taking into account the historical settlement of
contractual payment and forward-looking factors,
management considered the lifetime ECLs surrounding
contracts is not significant.

Other receivables are considered to have low credit risk.
These assets are continuously monitored by assessing the
credit quality of the counter parties, taking into account
past experiences and other factors. Where necessary,
provision for impairment loss is made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
other receivables were fully performing.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of the trade receivables and contract
assets and other receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

5.
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(b) RBEE R

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and its
compliance with lending covenants. The Group's objective
is to maintain a balance between the continuity of
funding and the flexibility through use of interest-bearing
borrowings. As disclosed in Note 2, certain measures
have been taken by the Directors to mitigate the liquidity
pressures faced by the Group.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

RIWRDESRBREEDEFEHRE
PRABEEEEARANESRHBES REST
fERR - ARENERREREZRE
HEEBEATEER B EEMERNG
FEoBMME2ARE EFCRMAE
THRENRERAEEMESN RS E S E
5 o

TRINBAEENHRENEE B RERR
ERRZEHRERERMABENFITET
Ee@aE (BREAONEFELRE
BEMEEABITHOMNRFERFE (0
FE)) URAKEBEEEBRANK
FEHFE:

Carrying

amount in the
Total consolidated
contractual statement of

Within 1 year Between 1 Between 2 Over undiscounted financial

orondemand and2years and5years 5 years cash flows position

BYAT REEHH

15/ 150k 2FHE RERMN LI

REREHR BE2EA  BESER 5ENLE BERELE HREE

At 31 December 2024 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET TET TET

Trade payables EREEER 88,313 - - - 88,313 88,313
Accrued expenses and BREAREMENK

other payables 297,621 - - - 297,621 297,621

Customers' deposits RPE&E 32,665 - - - 32,665 32,665

Interest-bearing borowings A B E 601,026 487,399 348,833 - 1,437,258 1,391,035

Lease liabilities HEEE 60,294 65,846 223,605 - 349,745 285,735

Convertible bonds iR ES 15,360 15,360 46,080 782,680 859,480 600,064

1,095,279 568,605 618,518 782,680 3,065,082 2,695,433
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

5. BEEREEREMIAENAAE
B @)

(b)

REE SR @

Carrying

amount in the
Total  consolidated
contractual ~ statement of

Within 1 year Between 1 Between 2 Over  undiscounted financial
oron demand and 2 years and 5 years 5 years cash flows position
1ERE 2ENRE
BE2FA  BESER SENRE

At 31 December 2023 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

TEL L TET TEL T

Trade payables FER & R BRR 85486 - - - 85,486 85486
Accrued expenses and BERERAREMENR

other payables 234,879 - - - 234,879 234,879

Customers' deposits BRI 33,117 - - - 33,117 33117

Interest-bearing borrowings BRER 347,666 323,056 460,488 - 1,131,210 1,041,035

Lease liabilties HEARE 15974 59,539 206,094 79,527 361,134 229984

Convertible bonds ARESR 15,360 15,360 46,080 782,680 859,480 572,005

732482 397,955 712,662 862,207 2,705,306 2,196,506
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BIXEREEREHMIENARE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS =R §

(Continued)

()

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s main
exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the
Group's borrowings and convertible bonds. Borrowings at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk whilst borrowings and convertible bond at fixed rate
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had revolving loan of
HK$295,000,000 (2023: HK$295,000,000) from a banking
facility at variable rates.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had convertible
bonds of outstanding amount of HK$768,000,000 (2023:
HK$768,000,000). The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and
payable quarterly. The Group also had loans from Celestial
Pioneer Limited (a company holding 72.0% of the total
number of issued shares of Forever Top and wholly-owned
by Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry, the Director) amounting
to approximately HK$1,096,035,000 (2023: approximately
HKS$746,035,000) at fixed interest rates ranging from 2.5%
10 8.0% per annum (2023: 2.5% to 6.0% per annum).

At 31 December 2024, the Group had time deposits with
bank amounting to approximately HK$12,050,000 (2023:
approximately HK$12,050,000) with original maturities of
32 t0 92 days (2023: 182 to 274 days).

Apart from the foregoing, the Group has no other
significant income-generating financial assets or interest-
bearing financial liabilities. The Group’s revenue, expenses
and cash flows are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates.

(c)

A = = b

MEER AT IENDAEEIARKER
SnETSNEEHMKBHER - NE
ERFE2fEmEkFrZERBRXEENER R
AHMRESARE - RIFBNERGFTBHERK
FEAEBEEBRRSAMERAR  mMUETE
%'J¥'E+ WERRAIBRKRESEASEE

A EENXRER -

EA_V_E¢+ A=+—HB FX&£EH

RITREERBIREBF R ER/RER
295,000,000/ 7T (= F = = 4 : 295,000,000
/%713)

RZZE-WMF+-_A=+—H ~£EH
%) 7R 8% 4 ] #4 B% (& % € 58 768,000,000 7 7T
(=& — =4 : 768,000,000 7T) ° Z B X
BEF20%  BARELN - RNEBIER
B Celestial Pioneer Limited (35 8 K Ff & 21T
BRp@EEn2nkhAEEBRMAELL2E
T?Eﬁ ZRNE]) B F491,096,035000 7 7T (=
— =4 : #7746,03500058 7T) ¢ IRETE E
%IJ@ Fo5%E80N (ZEZ=F: FF
25% & 6.0%) 5T 8 °

RZEBE-_NF+=-ZA=+—0 A£H
BAEH205000FB T (ZE=_=F: 4
12,050,0007%8 7T) ) € BRIR 1717 5% + R I Bf
HAENEZENH(ZEZ=F:182%274H)

Btz o AEBEYEEMEBANZAIEE
BACREELTEERAME - MHHEX
BHUAEEZRA - BAKREREL
A .
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

()

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Effective interest rates analysis

In respect of income-generating financial assets and
interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table
indicates their effective interest rates at the end of the

reporting period:

5. BXREREERESBMIAENAAE
B @)

(c)

= &7 B (#)
BEEFES N

TRIMEMELRANSBEERS S
SREBNBEHEEE 2 BRFIE

Effective interest rate
BERR=E
2024

“ElmE

%

%

Total
2024 2023
—EomFE —T-=F
Interest rate risk Fl =B B HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Floating rate: FENFZE
Cash at banks RITHE 53,413 28,671
Interest-bearing borrowings A B B K
— bank loan — RITER (295,000) (295,000)
(241,587) (266,329)
Fixed rate: & 7E ) =K
Time deposits with banks IRITEET R 12,050 12,050
Interest-bearing borrowings ~ #5 BB
— loans from Celestial — 3R & Celestial
Pioneer Limited Pioneer Limited
ZER (1,096,035) (746,035)
Convertible bonds ]| ES
— liability component — BEMEKED (600,064) (572,005)
(1,684,049) (1,305,990)

0.07

6.02

3.83

5.02

7.48

0.38

5.60

4.96

4.23

748
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(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) () FIFE= B
Effective interest rates analysis (Continued) BRI 25 (3
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general RZZEZWMF+—A=+—0 Harf=
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with L EF/ THRI00MEES  MATAEM
all other variables held constant, would have increased/ PREZREINE B2 AXSEHRBRBA
decreased the Group's loss before taxation and increased/ }Eﬁ BEA/ THRRAEEEFATEBRY
decreased the accumulated losses by approximately 24160007 7T (ZF = = F : 492,663,000 %
HK$2,416,000 (2023: approximately HK$2,663,000). JT) °
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous FTHMBRESNER  BEMNEERERE
change in the Group's loss before taxation and HEZEES  HAEEZRBAIEER
accumulated losses that would arise assuming that the ZEBEEESENRCIREE g AKE
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the Fris 3 B3ENT A T AR R & B4 E B Frk
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow XESRENERRME @ AEBE KM
interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative AEE?E M EFHEE Fﬁi‘%é TRZE R
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting “@J HFEEMB I HHBAZF ’E 1$
period, the impact on the Group's loss before taxation and e ZEZ=FoMIAANERELEHE
accumulated losses is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2023.

(d) Currency risk (d) FhE = B

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
trade and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
restricted bank balances, cash and bank balances, and
trade and other payables that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
United States dollars.

AEENIINERRERREBKERRE
YR AR BEFABSNERE
= RRBIRITHEE RS RIRITHE A
FEAT &% R E AR B R IMNE (R - BIA
5‘;EELAEIFMHF‘%%WEJ%E%%Z?I\E’JEW
#EITNEEEMNRBREERETT

In view that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United ERRAEBHNBEIERGE B THEET
States dollar under the Linked Exchange Rate System in By EREEHRE T2 EEZITIEN

Hong Kong, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollar.
It is therefore assumed that the risk of movements in
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollar and United
States dollar would be insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

RRAERAEERNEMEAEERAR -
Lt - (PR 9% B 2 T R E S B B A
BIREH - it U R R R S
7 -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(e) Pricerisk (e)

B ER

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
and redemption option of long-term convertible bonds
recognised as financial assets at FVTPL. The Group
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, if the price of the Group’s
investments recognised as financial assets at FVTPL
had been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the loss for the year would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$4,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,000).

Based on the share price of the Company as at 31
December 2024, if the share price of the Company had
been HKS$0.01 higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, the fair value of the redemption option
of long-term convertible bonds recognised as financial
assets at FVTPL would have increased by approximately
HKS$5,696,000 and decreased by approximately
HK$12,316,000, respectively (2023: increased by
approximately HK$10,954,000 and decreased by
approximately HK$12,676,000, respectively) and the loss
for the year would have decreased by approximately
HKS$5,696,000 and increased by approximately
HK$12,316,000, respectively (2023: decreased by
approximately HK$10,954,000 and increased by
approximately HK$12,676,000, respectively).

AEERERD BB AN EEFABDN
TREENRPATRBRESNERERED
EEREMERERRR AREBBER
AEBTREREEREFENREAGRKE
EERERERE

BRE DM

RZTE_ME+_A=+—H HAEEH
EHRABRARBEMABENEREE
MIRE 2B EF TB 1% MATHE Hib
BHEHTE  BFANBEBRD LM
494,000 (ZE =4 : 492,000%87T) °

BERARATIR-_ZE-_NF+_A=1+—H
HIPRE AR BRELEFTE0O
BT MATA B S EIETE - AR
REEALEBEEFABEENEREENK
HrmRESFNEREEZEAAEER S
71 58 00 4 5,696,000 78 7T KO #9 12,316,000
B (ZEZ =4 95 B 11 £ 10,954,000
7B 7T KR D #912,676,00078 TT) 0 T A S
B e 5 B 4 45,696,000 7T K 18 049
123160008 L (ZEZ=F : DRI L4
10,954,000 7 7T I 38 hN%Y 12,676,000 7T ) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders of the Company and benefits for other
stakeholders of the Group, and to support the Group's
stability and growth, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares
or new debt financing. The Group made no changes to
its capital management objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of the total
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances
divided by total deficit, was a negative of approximately
102% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: a negative of
approximately 118%).

BEEREERESMIAENDIAE
B @)

(f)

EXEE
AEBHEMMBRENEESREAREE
B BRAERELNEEANRREARSE
BREKEZRS  EREBERARRRK
REAREBEEAMF @A TIREDHR L
WXFARE 2 RREMIER -

REBTER K& E i REREEARRE
NHERRKEEARBREREE X EE
BIAREERERERYE - BT RAY
BN EHEERSRE FAHER
MRS RIEHREIERERS

REBEEEAGEBALRRBELERR
ZHESERAE NEEARBRRR
BEEN BT EFRE AR
FHBEEAEB - BHE_ZT_NFL_F
T=EF+ A=+t -BUEFER AEE
ZEAEEAR BRIBEFABESE -

R-ZE-_NME+_-_A=+—H FEESR
B R (RS ER A BRESRIE
& RIBITHEBRZRBIRITELRIR AR
METE) ABNBEIRW (ZE-_=F 48
118%) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments

Financial instruments carried at fair value are measured

by different valuation methods. The inputs to valuation

methods are categorised into three levels within a fair

value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are
included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in Level 3.

BEEREERESMIAENDIAE
B @)

(9 EMTENAAREE

NARBEFENSHTARATROMG
BT A E - RETEANBABBEAR
BEERTHSBUAT=EHRH

F—: EEERMEPIZNERMITAE
(BN AFHEENITETARK
REF)NRRBEIDERES
HEEBENMmSHRE A& HE
FENESREEEANTISR
BEREMEAE- RIZITAF
ANFE—H

B UFAEEBRMSTRXZINT A
TEMWMSIMIETR) O
REERBHERNEE &%
MEXTEEEMNAATERERED
BLHIE UEARRDKEE
BEMNNEE -HEFEAIR
BEMTOAEERBAER
BRBE  AZTAGFAEZ

F=: ME-RAZHEEEHARE
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AIZTAGFAS =M -

211



212 i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRMEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BIXEREEREHMIENARE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS =R §

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(9 EEMTENQIAEE@E

TREJIAEENRERRALEERELE

The following table presents the Group's assets that are

measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period RARBHEFENEE :
on a recurring basis:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—® et E=4& ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
T T FET FHET T
At 31 December 2024 R=-Z-NF
+=A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBEFABRDY
— Listed debt securities — T EBES 368 - - 368
— Redemption option of — REIAIRRES
long-term convertible fBREEE
bonds - - 25,874 25,874
368 - 25,874 26,242
At 31 December 2023 RZZBEZ=F
+TZA=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRD
EREE
— Listed debt securities — FmEBE 197 - - 197
— Redemption option of — REjATRRES 2
long-term convertible FBEIEEE
bonds - - 34,195 34,195
197 - 34,195 34,392
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, HE-_Z-_NFR_ZFZ_=ZF+_H

there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

E+—E¢$E F— m&%_@ZﬁI

wmER . NEEBAZ=ARAEZAEE -

$%@mﬁ”bﬁﬁﬁiikmﬁ¢%
HHMRAAABEBHR ZEHNEE -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

5.

The following table presents the changes in Level 3
financial instrument for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023:

BHEREEREMIAENDIAE

B @)

(9 EEMTENQIAEE@E

TRENE=ZFeR T AREEZE TN
FR-ZE-_=ZF+_A=+—HIFEN

e

5

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAETT

Redemption option of long-term convertible K EF A IR EHH)

bonds: R 2R

At the beginning of the year REA) 34,195 37,408

Unrealised fair value change recognised in RIS ZFHE
non-operating expenses, net HWRORBEHEAABEED (8,321) (3213)
Atthe end of the year RER 25,874 34,195

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs

used in Level 3 fair value measurements:

Fair value as at
31 December
Rt=A=1+-HK

DREE

2024 2023
“E-_mE =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT THET

Redemption option of long-term 25,874 34,195
convertible bonds

RETAREFCBRERE

Unobservable Range of unobservable

inputs
FABE
PN ¢

Discount rate

B

TRELE=RARBESBFAEAT
BB ALIEIERE BLER

Relationship of unobservable

inputs as at inputs to fair value
FABE TABRERARBR
BABBHEE MREENEE

2024 2023
“EoME —T-=F

7.79% 7.78%  The higher the discount rate,

constant)

BRLHE  RETHR
s BEREEY
AR EEBE
(FE £ % AMETE)

the lower the fair value of
the redemption option of
long-term convertible bonds
(holding all other inputs as
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The main Level 3 input used by the Group in measuring
the fair value of financial instrument is derived and
evaluated as follows:

Discount rate was determined with reference to the risk-
free rate, credit spread of comparable bonds and liquidity
spread in the market.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at costs or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

REVENUE

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities of the Company set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue comprises principally subscription, service and related
fees for broadband internet access and telephony services. It
also includes advertising revenue net of agency deductions
and distribution fees, programme licensing income, film
exhibition and distribution income, and other media income,
network leasing income, network construction income, mobile
service income, mobile agency service income and other
telecommunications income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group managed its businesses according to the nature
of services provided. The Group’s CODM, which comprises
executive Directors and senior management of the Company,
has determined two reportable operating segments for
measuring performance and allocating resources. The segments
are media and telecommunications.

The media segment includes operations related to the domestic
free television programme service, advertising, television relay
service, programme licensing, theatrical release and other media
related businesses.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BEEREERESMIAENDIAE
B @)

(9 EEMTENQIAEE@E

AEBEFESRTAAREBERAAN
T2E =R ABBLA T EMIG LT
1t

BRRERN2EMG LMERRAE A&
KBEFNEESERRBDESEEME

-
iE e

AEBIZRK A #HEX AT RMESRT A
MEMERER ST _MER T _=F
T A=t HHAABEITESKEZSR -

WA

ARBZETERBRREER - AR X EW
BRARAIRGABBUEER L T EXHHIINE
BB mRMEE 19

WATZBREALBRGEEZERFRBEH
FIE IR RN E  YEENRRERNER
BZBEEWAREXREE - B FFEEA
B B PR B Ko B AT WA R H A IR BE W A - 948
BEHA - BEEZRWA - REBARBLA R
BT IR RFBAREAMEBFWA -

7 EER
AEERARHORBGOMEERERHER -
AEETZZ2ERRA(BEARRATEER
BAREIRE) O HEE M E RS W2 8 BIART
ERBEDEER - MEDHRRELEM -

N

RENHERLLERA L EEREE RS -
FEE - BREERY - 808 AT - B R &
Hib B AR -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other telecommunications
related businesses.

The CODM evaluates performance primarily based on segment
results before depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, amortisation of other intangible assets
(excluding programming library and contract acquisition costs),
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, programming library, other related intangible
assets and contract acquisition costs, corporate expenses,
corporate depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
corporate impairment losses, interest income, finance costs, non-
operating expenses, net and income tax, but after amortisation
of programming library and amortisation of contract acquisition
costs. Besides, the CODM also evaluates performance based
on segment results before corporate expenses, corporate
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, corporate
impairment losses, interest income, finance costs, non-operating
expenses, net and income tax, but after amortisation of
programming library, amortisation of contract acquisition costs,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets and amortisation of other intangible assets.

Inter-segment pricing is generally determined at arm’s length
basis.

Segment assets principally comprise all assets with the exception
of deferred tax assets and assets managed at the corporate
office. Segment liabilities include all liabilities, convertible bonds
and interest-bearing borrowings directly attributable to and
managed by each segment with the exception of current tax
liabilities and liabilities at corporate office.

Besides, the CODM is also provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue).

2B E R ®)

BHAONEECLAEEEE PR BT
B EERKE BERE  BRRL ReEA
BRI R AEE E AR RS R BRI 2T -

IBEERRATBZERDAESE CREEYE
BEMRENECREEERE HEMEBTEE
B (TRERREARANEBREN) W% -
BELRE EREEE HREE - EibiAkH
BIVEERAOBBRARERE - BEMAX
TEWE BELAREGBINE CERERE -7
BWA BEER FKERAFERAERR
B EEMRERE B #IERA OB A
) REHERIR - tsh - TEEERBATER
ABREREERAX  EXVE BELREBINE -
TEERBEER FEKRA BREER  FELH
XEFEBEABHRE BENBREREG B #H -
BRWBRAEE VX BERRXBRER
REENEAREMEBTLEESR N Y XS
KEHERER -

DEZENEE—RBRAFRAUERE

N

NHMEETZRBREHNEE BETEREEER
REEMRFREENEERIN -DHBERR
BESHEREENEENZHAE  ATHRK
BREGESEF HEEMRBRABREENRSE

B B ERRSD
o TEEERRATERBEBEBRANSD

MEH (BESBZERA) -
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2 EER @
BE-_Z-_NFER-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—H
HFEE RERIEMTERESCEER 2D
HREMAEBLERRARENKERET
Rz DEBERFIE T ¢

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance from continuing
operations for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is
set out below:

Year ended 31 December

HE+T-A=ZT+-HLEE

Media Telecommunications Total
e Ei ok
2024 2024 2024
—E-_mEF —E-_MmF =F ZE-MmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET THx FHT THx
Reportable segment revenue FEFI 2 5 EBA 220,096 211,967 364,449 386,139 584,545 598,106
Less: Inter-segment revenue D EZ A - - (56) (208) (56) (208)
Revenue from external custorers REIRERZBA 220,096 211967 364,393 385,931 584,489 597,898
Revenue from contracts with customers: Z P A #JIA
Timing of revenue recognition: iU ONl
Ata point in time RE—EH 3,057 7,824 22,283 42,937 25,340 50,761
Over time R—BEH 217,039 204,143 341,819 342,632 558,858 546,775
Revenue from other sources: HRRHA
Rental income EEALON - - 291 362 291 362
220,096 211,967 364,393 385,931 584,489 597,898
Reportable segment (loss)/profit before KB HTE « v EHEE
depreciation, amortisation of other % 85 R B ES 1B AT Z B
intangible assets and impairment /A (F58)
losses (329,319) (291,363) 121,009 94,982 (208,310) (196,381)
Depreciation & (48,969) (29897) (47,496) (53764) (96,465) (83,661)
Amortisation of other intangible assets L fth £ 7 & = # 48 - (1,097) - 7) - (1.104)
Impairment losses HEER (40,133) (53,329) (9,080) (23,307) (49,213) (76,636)
Reportable segment results before R IIBAERT - HERE
corporate expenses, corporate REEREBEC
depreciation and corporate B HEE
impairment losses (418,421) (375,686) 64,433 17,904 (353,988) (357,782)
Corporate expenses PERY (48,036) (60,727)
Corporate depreciation TENE (4,664) (3861)
Corporate impairment losses ERERBE (3,025) (5396)
Loss from operations Kepk (409,713) (427,766)
Interest income FIEWA 780 749
Finance costs HEER (125,830) (83547)
Non-operating expenses, net FEEHLFE (3,085) (4,060)
Income tax ABHIE (15,490) (32,940)
Loss from continuing operations FRELEEBEE (553,338) (547,564)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

2024 2023
—E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FAB T
Segment assets PWEE
Media e 421,840 459,713
Telecommunications E) 384,657 394,932
806,497 854,645
Corporate assets TEEE 21,762 20,963
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE EE 54,266 69,551
Total assets BmEE 882,525 945,159
Segment liabilities PHERE
Media R 1,961,583 1,499,773
Telecommunications E=) 757,284 742,861
2,718,867 2,242,634
Corporate liabilities TtXEE 45,786 31,262
Current tax liabilities EHRIBEAE 53 80
Total liabilities wnesE 2,764,706 2,273,976

Geographical segment:

No geographical segment information is shown as, during the
year presented, less than 10% of the Group's segment revenue,
segment results, segment assets and segment liabilities are
derived from activities conducted outside Hong Kong.

Information about major customer:

Revenue of approximately HK$134,646,000 (2023: approximately
HK$133,621,000) were derived from a single external
customer during the year ended 31 December 2024 , of
which approximately HK$132,646,000 (2023: approximately
HKS$131,591,000) and approximately HK$2,000,000 (2023:
approximately HK$2,030,000) were attributed to the
telecommunications segment and the media segment,
respectively.

i35 5 & -

HREFMEHNFER KEEKXKBERBUNU
GNETTHER 2 D EBURA ~ D EBZEE - P E
ERDEEEIR10% B IR Hib s 53

ERETEEFNER:
HE-_ZT-_N&F+-_A=+—BLFE KA
#9134,646,0007 70 (ZZF = = 4F : 47133,621,000
BIL) IRBE—IINARER - HA 49132646000
B (ZEZ=F 1 4131,591,0008 70) &4
2,000,000 7T (ZF = = 4F : #J2,030,000/70) 5
RSB R EM D BRI 5 EL -
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BR %L A& 1B
BBATASIEE (GEA),/ 0B T 7% -

8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8.

Loss before taxation is stated after (crediting)/charging:

2024 2023
—E_MME —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FET
Continuing operations BERSEER
Interest income FIEWA
Interest income from deposits with banks RITFEHR K EHEBEFMEHLA
and listed debt securities (780) (749)
Finance costs MEZEH
— Interest expenses on interest-bearing — BEBEFABEZH
borrowings 63,300 37,495
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEaENEXH 19,063 4,727
— Interest expenses on convertible bonds — AR ESF BRI 43,418 41325
— Interest expenses on employee benefits —EERAMEEFNELZH
obligations 49 -
Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments ETE /' B EEH M
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe TEMEMET 321,707 287,816
Contributions to defined contribution FERRHRFUR RS FTE 2 K
retirement plans 12,067 10,428
Other items Hihig g
Depreciation e
— assets held for use under operating leases — AEREHEREERACEE 27 1,074
— other assets — EMEE 67,776 72,109
— right-of-use assets — [FREEE 33,326 14,339
101,129 87,522
Impairment losses* AR R
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - B R 26,677 46,195
— Right-of-use assets — AR EE 4,431 4217
— Programming library —EAE B 21,130 28,562
— Other related intangible assets — B iR EE - 3,058
52,238 82,032
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 8. PBRBIAIEIE (4
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHEIT
Continuing operations (Continued) HEREER (FE)
Amortisation By
— programming library** — R E 22,814 24,207
— other intangible assets — EEEEE - 1,104
— contract acquisition costs — BB AR 9,027 12,184
Net loss allowance on trade receivables FEM S E R A BB B R F 58 4,410 3,009
Carrying amount of inventories consumed EHERAREEFEZEREE
and sold 3,983 6,878
Write down/(reversal of write down) of inventories 7% & iUt~ (i 8 % [31 ) 399 (694)
Rental expenses in respect of land and buildings Tt AFAEBE/NEHEE M
under short-term leases and low-value leases KEBEHEETHTHE
not included in lease liabilities BFHSAX 9,898 10,558
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELRD BN &
— audit services — ZBUR 3,380 3,099
— non-audit services — IR BRTS 515 1,670
Net foreign exchange loss SN B 1 58 252 601
Rental income under operating leases KERERS KA
in respect of
— owned plant and machinery — BAE ks (291) (362)
Non-operating expense, net I E R FE
— sub-lease rental income — oA WA (2,924) -
— net gain on disposal of property, —HEME BELEHET
plant and equipment W F 5 (774) (813)
— gain on modification of lease contracts —BEIHEEH 2 W (1,076) M
— fair value losses on financial assets —BAREEF AEEN
at FVTPL (Note 22(b)) TREENAABEEBRE
(K&t 22(p)) 8,150 5,689
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

8.

*

*x

The impairment losses of approximately HK$36,227,000, HKS5,465,000
and HK$10,546,000 (2023: approximately HK$S47,467,000, HKS 19,586,000
and HK$14,979,000) were included within programming costs, network
expenses and selling, general and administrative and other operating
expenses, respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. The aggregate amount
of the impairment losses recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately HK$52,238,000, (2023: approximately
HK$82,032,000) primarily as a result of management’s assessment of the
business prospect of the Group in light of the latest market environment.

Amortisation of programming library was included within programming
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group.

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong and other jurisdictions profits tax has been provided
at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) and at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates
respectively.

(a)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss represents:

BR A0 85 18 (@)

* B 18 5 18 £936,227,000% 7T ~ 5,465,000 7T K 10,546,000
I (ZF Z = 4F : #947,467,000/8 7T * 19,586,000/% 7T
K 149790008 7C) H IR A EBEE T _[F+=
A=+—HIFFEME B X P AL B RERA
HEEARBE  — M TTHRAMKEER HZE
ZECmEF+ = A=+ — HIFERERA G EE B4R
8847522380005 T (= F = =4F : #782,032,000/% )
FEAREEEIRERT TSR ELH N EBEBI R
HyaT A ©

** EHED B B i B 1E R A EE LR A 182 7.2 B B ZEMK
rZA -

ABEFHIE

Ex’é&ﬁf@?i%luﬁuﬂ SRR 165% T K (=

== 116.5%) RANE B EFTE AR Z

iﬁfﬁﬁ EETE o

(a) FEBRBRAZABRRERE:

2024 2023
—E-mF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Continuing operations BEREEE
Current income tax EHMARTE
Provision for the year FRBE 205 347
Deferred income taxation* (Note 29(b))  IEZE A BB 1E * (K72 29(b)) 15,285 32,593
Income tax ABHIE 15,490 32,940
* The amount recognised during the year ended 31 December * Et;t— E_=FF+_A=1T—HIFE B

2023 included write down of previously recognised deferred tax
assets of approximately HK$22,703,000, primarily as a result of
management’s assessment of the business prospect of the Group
in light of the latest market environment.

3R % B8 61 75 5F B AR Ay AR AL B TE B EE . UL A
2270300087 FEZAREEEBIREZI TS
IR 15 ] 7K 55 B R T AT = B9 A o
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9. INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between the effective
income tax rate and the applicable tax
rate:

9. AEFIE @)
(b) EAEHRREFERR 2R

Statutory income tax rate EEANBTE (16.5) (16.5)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PR HO B EE 6.3 2.5
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARTWANTBZE (0.2) ©.1)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERHOEREZENNGETE

not recognised - 0.7
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERHARFERARBEEED

not recognised N2 14.3 159
Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses LA 7 7 wﬁﬁﬁ%)gﬁ BIREHER

now recognised W% (1.0) 0.7)
Tax effect of write down of previously FHIE ﬁE SRR AL 5 T8 & 2 MURL Y

recognised deferred tax assets g2 - 4.1
Differential tax rate on subsidiaries’ income BB A A 2 2= Bl = 0.1 -
Effective income tax rate BERABRE 3.0 59

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION CRIEREXER
(a) Description (@) it

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong EATBREBMEEBSRRE - R

Kong and fierce competition among the global paid TV
content providers and pay TV operators, Hong Kong Cable
Television Limited (“HKC"), a subsidiary of the Company,
obtained approval from the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region ("HKSAR") on 14
February 2023 for the termination of the domestic pay
television programme service licence with effect from
1 June 2023, which was reported in the consolidated
financial statements as a discontinued operation.

EEAARHERREEESREERHTF
BasgRl ARRMEBAREEERER
BERAR(BRERDER_T_=F_
AtmARESEBFITTRER ([FEFR])
B EE T -_=F A BEELR
W EEBREGERFER  YNEETH
BRPERMP/ERIEEER -
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 10. B LREXEL @
(b) Financial performance and cash flow (b) BERBERESHRER
information
Financial information relating to discontinued operation HE-_Z-_NFR_ZFT-_=F+=A
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out = +t—HLEFE HEREKEEKEH
below. S ERETI AT -
2024 2023
—BoNE T -=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHEIT
Statement of profit or loss and other CRIEREEBRNERR
comprehensive from discontinued Htt2EKREK
operation:
Revenue WA - 118,228
Operating expenses wEER - (159,938)
Loss before taxation Fr T Al BT 1R - (41,710)
Income tax AN ERIE - -
Loss from discontinued operation BARILEREELER - (41,710)
Total comprehensive income from BALEREXEENEZE NS
discontinued operation waE - (41,710)

Cash flows from discontinued operation: CRILEEXBEENRESH .
Net cash outflow from operating activities KETEBFIENIR R FRE (1,800) (68,835)

Net decrease in cash generated by the ERILEREEBREN

discontinued operation RERDFE (1,800) (68,835)
Basic loss per share from discontinued BERIEEEEBHGREARESR - | (06)HKcents
operation Al
Diluted loss per share from discontinued BRI EEBNSREEES - | (06)HKcents

operation Al
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EEEFM KA
UTHEBEERBHINESEZMNEoREFTE(R
AMER) E383NIE R BB EHI FE6226E R A
(BEEEMNZER BN Z2E_ZEWIAD MR
TEVEL T -

11. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 11.

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and Part 2 to
4 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) are as follows:

Discretionary

bonuses
and/or
Salaries  Retirement performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits contributions bonuses emoluments
BERAR/
HeR BREE JREEET
e H2E e Z AL FMaE
Name of directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
2024 —EoME:
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry BREELT
(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (FEFFHITEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Vip, Patrick BREEE
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director) (BITEHHTTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEELE
(Executive Director) (B77EZF) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TO Chi Hak it e
(Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director) (TTREHFNTEE)
(notes () and (i) (Rt o & ) 60 4,680 18 - 4,758
Dr. LUK Wai Ki ENvis BEEEEL
(Executive Director) (note (i) (BITEE) (HizE0) 60 240 12 - 312
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica REFXLT
(Non-executive Director) (HTEFE) 60 - - - 60
Mr.LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey a2 34
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 80 - - - 80
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman TRERHE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFNTESE) 80 - - - 80
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BEERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFHTEE) 80 - - - 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BEREAE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 80 - - - 80
680 4,920 30 - 5,630
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11. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 1. EBEARAZ @
(Continued)
Discretionary
bonuses
and/or
Salaries Retirement  performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits  contributions bonuses  emoluments
RAEEE =%
e H A28 3% .
Name of directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AL THT
2023: —EZ=F:
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry HBRuEL
(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (TEFIHTTESE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick BRERE
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director) (BITEHHATEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Rerny Anthony Ket Heng FEERLE
(Executive Director) (BHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TO Chi Hak HzREE
(Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director) (1TBE#HFBTEE)
(notes () and (i) Bzt 6) % (i) 40 3,060 1 - 3111
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis BEREEET
(Executive Director) (note (i) (BITEE) (K7t 0) 40 160 8 - 208
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica ‘xRt
(Non-executive Director) (FEHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey 82 ke
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman HERHE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 73 - - - 73
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EEREE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 80 - - - 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BERELE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFHTEE) 80 - - - 80

Resigned Directors (Resigned wef 3May 2023) ~EBEHEE (BAA-F-=F

BA=ZHER)

Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU REESERES

(former Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director) — (BIBIEJE » FEHTTEE) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU EPEREAE

(former Non-executive Director) (FIFEHTEE) 20 - - - 20
Mr.HOONG Cheong Thard et

(former Non-executive Director) (BIE#HITEE) 20 - - - 20

673 3220 19 - 3912
Notes: Btat -
0} Each of Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis has been appointed as an 0} MZR b EREEEE T EEEREFRNTESE
Executive Director with effect from 3 May 2023. BE-FE-_=FRHA=HEEH-

(ii) Mr. TO Chi Hak has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer with effect (ii) MR ECEZERTRAES BT ==F A

from 3 June 2023. ZHABE -



ERRERENERLAR —ZEOEFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & M5 R R aE

11.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS
(Continued)

There was no compensation for loss of office and/or inducement
for joining the Group paid/payable to the directors of the
Company in respect of the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no retirement
benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of
directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable (2023: HKS$Nil). No consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: HKSNil). There are no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities (2023:
None).

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Transactions, Arrangements and Contracts’,
Significance with Controlling Shareholders” and “Connected

“Contracts of

Transactions” in the Report of the Directors and in Note 33,
during the years and at the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, no Director had or has a material interest, directly
or indirectly, in any significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was or is a party.

11.

EEEANRAE @

BE T M+ _A=+—HAR-ZT_=F
T A=t -—BUEFEAEER RN BB
BR/SREMAEBAENRTARANES -

BE_ZT_NF+_A=+—"RHLFE #HE
RRITEERBEEXKFERNES N RREHR
RIRAER) - R - B ERENRER (=
Fo=F TR  MERNEFEHERRE MR

BN HEARE(ZE=Z=F : THT) -
ﬁ%ﬁuﬁii RHEEETHNEAEERES
BERATSZANER  BUBRSEMRS (=
TT=F ) e

REFEREBEENRS  THRAHP 2K
=] TEIEBRRENEASYINIBERS ]S
BARWASBMEREEIN RAFEREE=
SN FERZE=F+ A=+ —HILFE -
MEEEEERMEREARREKSEBAR
NEIEARBRAEEANERNEARARS
ERGHPHBEERER -
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 12. BeaH AT RENEEEMS
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

(a) Five highest paid individuals (@ ENESHEAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, TEZEmTMATES B—R(ZF
one (2023: one) is the Director whose emoluments are ZEF—R)RES  HEOFMMEAME
disclosed in Note 11. The aggregate of the emoluments in TR - HBE (Z2 =4 HHRWE)
respect of the other four (2023: other four) individuals are ATHHBARENT -
as follows:

2024 2023
—BomE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx F#ET
Salaries and other benefits o MEMER 11,835 9,560
Retirement scheme contributions BRIKEFH BT 222 194
Discretionary bonuses and/or performance  BIIBIEAL &SI EEETE 2
related bonuses TEAT 1,425 1,095
Share options i - -
13,482 10,849
The emoluments of the four (2023: four) individuals with NE(ZE—=F N2 Eeasd ALTzH
the highest emoluments are within the following bands: ERHNAT :
2024 2023
ZBDmEFE T =4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEK
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 - -
2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001-2,500,000 2 -
2,500,001-3,000,000 2,500,001-3,000,000 - 4
3,000,001-3,500,000 3,000,001-3,500,000 - -
3,500,001-4,000,000 3,500,001-4,000,000 2 -
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 12. BEeaHFATREAEEEM S @)
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR

MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Emoluments of senior management b) SREEEMNS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the HE-_Z-_NFEFR=-ZT=-_=F+=A
emoluments of the senior management of the Group, ST -—HLEFE AEBESRERE (K
whose biographical details are set out in the “Biographical EIRRFBENAFRIZEET aRkE
Details of Directors, Senior Management and Company BERAGIMEZHN] —E) RBESBF
Secretary” section of this annual report and including Mr. e R E B A (HeE) 2 H AR B &

Kwok Chi Kin and Mr. Wong See Yuen (Note), were within o

following bands:

Nil-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000
4,000,000-4,500,000
4,500,001-5,000,000

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000
4,000,000-4,500,000
4,500,001-5,000,000

2024 2023
—E_MmE

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AEK

- 1

1 1

- 1

1 —

2 3

Note:

Mr. Wong See Yuen resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company

with effect from 3 June 2023 of which his emoluments was approximately
HKS$ 1,489,000 including, (i) salaries of approximately HKS 1,418,000 and (ii)
retirement scheme contributions of approximately HKS71,000 for services

rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

i

EEREFCBIARNGITHABE BT ==FN
A= HIELRL  HB 245148900087 » B ()FHE
#91,4180008 7T K (i) 5t B 1E 3 2K 2 81717 A8 K BT 12 1
JR 75 R K ET &I 3449 71,0008 7T ©
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS 13.

BERNEME

The Group provides defined benefit plans for qualifying
employees. Under the plans, the employees are entitled to lump
sum benefits on retirement, death, disablement and withdrawal.
The level of benefits provided depends on employees’ years
of service and final average salary. Plan assets held in trusts are

governed by local regulations and practice.

The present value of the defined benefit plans is determined
by an independent qualified professional valuer,
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.
actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

using the
The main

AEERAEREERHATE/ATE - RIE
HE EEARIN BT BARAREEZE
—IRMEEER] o FTER AR R FBURME B
MRBFERZKENTFHFE - HEFRFEHN
AEEEXAMEIIREBRE

RERERMNFEINRERBLAEREXMA
EMRAEREMEERELEEIEE £
MEZRERRLT :

Discount rate BRI &
Expected rate of salary increase EEH R E

Rate of increase of MPF Relevant Income limit
Return on MPF Scheme balances

BIETEHBARBIRRE
SRR AT AR TR R

3.5% 3.5%
2.5% 4.0%
2.5% 2.5%
4.5% 3.0%

The weighted average duration of employee benefits obligations

as at 31 December 2024 was about 5.5 years.

Movements in the employee benefits obligations are as follows:

HE-_Z-_NME+-_A=+—HB EEBNE
RN EIR A 554 o

BERMEEHEHIOT

HK$’000
TER

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R=-B-_=F+=-H=+—-HK

—ZE-_NF¥—-HA—H 1,448
Current service cost B ER S A AR 230
Interest expense FEZH 49
Total amount recognised inprofitorloss 1 RAZBRZO® 279 |
Remeasurements HIFTE
— Actuarial gain due to liability assumption changes —FaERREDHMEENBE NS (6)
— Actuarial loss due to liability experience —RBAaEERmESENEEERE 94
Total amount recognised in other REMZEKRERRAZEE
__comprehensiveincome 88 |
Benefits paid directly by the Group REBEEZ MR (411)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 RIB-NE+ZA=+—BHZ&H 1,404




ERREBEANEBRLIA —ZE-OFEFH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & M5 R R aE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

The Group expects to make contributions of approximately
HK$208,000 to the defined benefit plans next year.

If the discount rate is 0.25% higher or lower, the employee
benefits obligation would decrease by 1.27% or increase by
1.30% respectively. If the expected rate of salary increase is
0.25% higher or lower, the employee benefits obligation would
increase by 0.04% or decrease by 0.07% respectively. If the rate
of voluntary resignation is 10% higher or lower, the employee
benefits obligation would decrease by 11.57% or increase by
13.89% respectively. Furthermore, in presenting the above
sensitivity analysis, the present value of the employee benefits
obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same
as that applied in calculating the employee benefits obligation
liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

14. LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Basicloss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

13. BEERFAET @
AEBEEYHAEEARAERBAHNTEERD
208,000 78 JT °

it BE IR K32 sk m 2 025% ' BERAE T D
B A 1.27% BIE AN 1.30% © M TE HA 5 & 1 R R i
InER 4 0.25% -+ & BAEF E T A5 5 BIHE I 0.04%
SR 0.07% o v B FE B B R 38 N 8R4 10%
BRERFIEEHD B A 11.57%3K 38 11 13.89% ©
AN ER2H EIBERE SR EERAE
IHRECNBREHLERRABERENEE
EETE R R HEFERE A PRI R R
R EERNETCEEMRBANAERER -

14. BREE
(a) BREXEE
SREAGBIIRAATDES ARIEER
B DA F R B B 9T AR B0 DA Y B o

year.
2024
—E-mEF
Loss from continuing operations attributable AN 23 &) 4 2 A% 3R FE
to equity shareholders of the Company RECEEBER
(HK$'000) (F#&7T) (553,338) (547,564)
Loss from discontinued operation attributable 7K 72 &) 4 %5 i% R 1k
to equity shareholders of the Company BRI E X BE
(HK$'000) (F7&7T) - (41,710)
Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the AN 23 &) # 2 A% 5 &
Company (HK$'000) B (FA7T) (553,338) (589,274)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 217 & 8% hi#E 19 &
inissue 7,134,623,520 7,134,623,520
Basic loss per share for loss from continuing FELEEBEEN
operations (HK cents) TRREREE GBI (7.8) (7.7)
Basic loss per share for loss from discontinued B 4% [ 48 & 2 75 E5 18 HY
operation (HK cents) BRREAREE GBIL) - (0.6)
Total basic loss per share (HK cents) SREARBESE (B (7.8) (83)

(b) Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 equals to the basic loss per
share since the conversion rights attached to the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds would not have a dilutive
effect on the loss per share.

(b) EREEER
HE-_Z_NWFER_E-_=ZF+=A
ST HIFEMNEREESELASRE
AEEHEE AR IE LM RA R
BEAMZEBETSHEREEELS S
SERE -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold land
and building in

15. Y15 - BMERRE

Network assets Furniture, Hong Kong and
and television fixtures, other The People’s
production  equipmentand Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements
EEER
REARLH
RREER KA #B. ZHELH
BREERS HtRBERAE REF HEWERE e
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FAL AL TEL FAT THEL
Cost B
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-=F—f—H 6,385,208 669911 27914 291,055 7,374,088
Additions B 55,466 10919 - 531 66916
Disposals & (38.256) (14,037) - - (52,293)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wi B AT 1,804 649 - 224 2677
Fxchange differences EXER - 3 6 2 11
At 31 December 2023 WZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H 6,404,222 667,445 27,920 291812 7,391,399
Cost B
At 1 January 2024 RZZZEE—-A—A 6,404,222 667,445 27,920 291,812 7,391,399
Additions B 44,152 7,963 - 2,048 54,163
Disposals & (17,168) (38,696) (84) (55,948)
Assets classified as held forsale A EABELENEE
(Note 24) (Kiz#24) - - (23,249) - (23,249)
Exchange differences EHER - (161) (374) (106) (641)
At 31 December 2024 WZEZME+ZA=1+—H 6,431,206 636,551 4,297 293,670 7,365,724
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. V¥ - BERRE @
(Continued)

Leasehold land

and building in

Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand

and television fixtures, other The People’s
production equipment and Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements

EBER

PEARANE

BREER KA KE- ZBELH
SRR HRERAE kT RENRKE 3
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TAL THEL THET TAL THEL

Accumulated depreciation R HERBEEE

and impairment losses

At 1 January 2023 W-EB-=%#-A-H 5,946,322 663,306 18531 288,362 6916521
Charge for the year REETR 77965 2932 977 2657 84531
Impairment losses RESE 30,165 15,243 - 787 46,195
Written back on disposals HERER (35,031) (14,037) - - (49,068)
Exchange differences ERES - 1 ©) 6 1
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=£4+-A=+—-H 6019421 667,445 19,502 291812 6,998,180
Accumulated depreciation R HERBESE

and impairment losses
At 1 January 2024 WZE-NF-A—H 6,019,421 667,445 19,502 291,812 6,998,180
Charge for the year RERGHE 65,839 927 796 241 67,803
Impairment losses AEER 17,838 7,032 - 1,807 26,677
Written back on disposals HERERE (15,437) (38,483) - (54) (53,974)
Reverse impairment losses HERRESEAE

upon disposals (58) (212) - (30) (300)
Assets classified as held forsale D EABELENEE

(Note 24) (Hst24) - - (16,197) - (16,197)
Exchange differences EXER - (158) (249) (106) (513)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZME+=A=+—A 6,087,603 636,551 3,852 293,670 7,021,676
Net book value BEEE
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZA=+—A 343,603 - 445 - 344,048

At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=F—H 384801 - 8418 - 393219
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(Continued)

As a result of the management’s assessment of the business
prospect of the Group in light of the latest market environment,
impairment losses were recognised.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment losses of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$26,677,000
(2023: approximately HK$46,195,000), right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$4,431,000 (2023: approximately HK$4,217,000),
and programming library of approximately HK$21,130,000 (2023:
approximately HK$28,562,000), no impairment losses of other
related intangible assets (2023: approximately HK$3,058,000),
were recognised in relation to the cash-generating unit to which
the assets of the Group are allocated. Management determined
the value in use of the cash-generating unit with the assistance
of an independent professional valuer, which is measured using
the discounted cash flow projections. The cash flow projections
are based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by the Board. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using a long term growth rate. The valuation
method used was consistent with the requirements prescribed
by HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and remained the same as
that of last year.

The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections included
forecast revenue at growth rates ranging from 6% to 19% (2023:
-9% to 19%) and forecast operating expenses at rates ranging
from -6% to -1% (2023: -20% to -1%) over the five-year period,
which are determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the businesses; long term growth rate of
2.5% (2023: 2.5%) which is consistent with the forecast of the
businesses and the expected market development; and the pre-
tax discount rate of 16.60% (2023: 16.34%) which reflects specific
risks relating to the businesses. Changes in assumptions from
previous year's reflected management’s latest business plans
and business prospect in light of the latest market environment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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15. % - BEKRE @

HRNEEERERNMSREH AR E XL A
SR REBECEER -

HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIEFE E#
AEEESRAENRSELENBERYWE -
5 I 5% 5 R B B 18 49 26,677,000 T (=2 ==
F 1 #946,19500087T) ~ EABEEREBEEED
4,431,000/ 70 (ZF =4 : 494,217,000 7T) &
HERSBERMEEEL21,1300008T(ZE=-=
F 1 4928,562,00078 ) - BEEMERR H M A B fm Y
BEREBRE(ZE =4 : 43058000 L) °

EEETRBYEEGHEMNBD TEERSE
EBENMNEREE EFERMRASREEN
FE-RenERAIERESS R ENTAFH
BHEE BEAFHMNAeREFHAREE
EREZE - IRANGEFEFAEBTE
RIZE 369 [ EEREIMHATE - WREEFHER -

BenemillhEAnFEREBIEREFE
MR R RN F6%E19% (Z T - =4F: 9% %
19%) FFE M TERBRA RIRE ENF-6% E-1% (=

L= F 0% E-1%)FFEMBEANLEER -
ThiE iR E BB EEN N RINEEAREE
REEREISHW (ZTZ=F 1 25%) @ HERK
TER R FEET IS EE — B U RBFEARIRR
16.60% ( — 3 — =4F : 16.34%) » H [ bR B2 2 75 48
B TR - 82— Eﬁkﬁtt RE& W & &)
RMEEERBERTMBRESNTHRITES
FrEIREBRIR ©
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16. LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

16.

HE

AR SR A B 3 R 07 RS o

(a) REREMBRRRBEANEHE

HEMBARKRZINATEREEEENE

L

2024 2023
—E_NE T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FET

Right-of-use assets FRAEEE
Properties LS 161,874 194,248

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current mE 36,267 4815
Non-current JER B 249,468 225,169

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 December 2024 were approximately HK$5,386,000
(2023: approximately HK$201,419,000).

BE-_ZT-_MNMF+-A=+—HLFE"
NME B ER 53860008 T (ZE ==

£ 1 #9201,419,0007T) ©
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. & (@)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REEEERBRANESE
statement of profit or loss

FABREREINNTEREERNEEH

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the
following amounts relating to lease:

2024 2023
ZBDmEFE T =F
HK$'000 HKS1000
FTET FHAIT
Depreciation charge of FHEEENERX

right-of-use assets
Properties LES 33,326 15,463
Impairment losses on right-of-use FREEENRERBE

assets 4,431 4,217
Interest expense FEZHGIAREER)

(included in finance costs) 19,063 4,727
Expense relating to short-term leases 252 HEATH E BRI 2 BIL 9,573 10,178
Expense relating to leases of low-value _t it K %1 &2 HifH & A 82

assets that are not shownaboveas KEBEEEHREGHE Y

short-term leases 53 325 380

The total cash outflows for leases in 2024 was
approximately HK$26,136,000 (2023: approximately
HK$34,111,000). The total cash inflow for leases from
lease incentive were approximately HK$47,080,000 (2023:
HKSNil).

The Group leases a number of premises under operating
leases mainly for use as office premises, car parks and
warehouses. The terms of the leases vary and may be
renewable on a monthly basis or run for an initial period
of 2 to 6 years (2023: 2 to 6 years), and certain leases have
an option, to renew for two further terms of 2 years after
the expiry of the initial period at which time all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

RZEZNF - HEMBRSRHARLY
26,136,0007%8 7T, (— & — = 4 : 4934,111,000
BIL) o REMHERZFHEERERAL
BH#)47,080,0008 0 (ZE==4F : T%L) °

rEBUELEHEFABEETYWE £
SAERLAENE FESEREE - -HY
BERETHEE - Al ABERRVIBER B
2EF(ZEZ=F:2F6%F) 'MET
FHARIER IR EREMEEENAX
BRAEM2F  BRMEGRIEENER -
TSRO TNBIERAES -
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16. LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how
they are accounted for

(i)

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing contracts. Approximately
45% (2023: approximately 56%) of the total lease
payments made in 2024 were optional.

In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive to exercise an extension
option, or not exercise a termination option.
Extension options (or periods after termination
options) are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). Potential future cash outflows of
approximately HK$285,362,000 (2023: approximately
HK$380,483,000) have not been included in the
lease liability because it is not reasonably certain
that the leases will be extended (or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects this assessment and that is within the control
of the lessee. There was no such event in the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The management of the Group undertook a review of

right-of-use assets to assess the respective recoverability.

As a result of the assessment, impairment losses of

approximately HK$4,431,000 were recognised during the
year (2023: approximately HK$4,217,000). For details of the
impairment, please refer to Note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

16. #HE (@)

(0 AEENAEEHREIRL K

(i) ERRAILEER
Z!SE@E’J%Tﬁ%%%E%’JE%EE&
%ﬂ& ZERREERARE
iﬁg% EE OB ETEE -
F_g_mi{”ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁﬂ S (< AR ER
#9450 (Z T — =4 : 4956%) A7)
BIZIAR o

RETHEHRREK EEREEEZEE
ETEREREEESN AITHREEE
BRNECESBEENITEEER

cERAERTELERMAL (KT
BIEMEE) T - FEgEREERE (5
BIDREEEOEIRE) T AHER -
HRELZAERERAOK TER (3
R IE) - B I #9285,362,0007% 7T
—F =4 : 49380,483,00078 7T) HJ
/aEﬂinﬁﬁmuﬂ*ﬁEﬂ\ﬁ%EE °

ZZD%*‘E%’E AR ENEXEMFHEXN
NEE) - Hﬁﬁfﬁ FHE R AT A

BRI - AV ST (R <
BE-%-menoFocf i

A=t—RLFEIEZERE -

AEBEEEEHGAREELEITEN N
FE S AR R E - &R EE TR
R EE B 44310008 (ZE =4 :
#94217,0007%70) - BEAREFIS - H2H
NEFERERE W MR 5E15 -
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17. PROGRAMMING LIBRARY 17. A H
2024 2023
—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx F#ET
Cost R
At 1 January m—H—H 476,252 481,679
Additions R 43,944 42,844
Written off i€z (34,573) (48,568)
Acquisition of subsidiaries L B B B8 A &) - 297
31 December L RTEA=ATE 485623 | 476252
Accumulated amortisation and B RBEEE
impairment losses
At 1 January mn—H—H 476,252 470,604
Charge for the year REFER 22,814 25,654
Impairment losses RIEEE 21,130 28,562
Written off 3 (34,573) (48,568)
M31December . BE=ASTOR L 485623 | 476252
Net book value REFE
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H - -

The management of the Group undertook a review of its
programming library to assess the respective recoverability. As

a result of the assessment, impairment losses of approximately
HK$21,130,000 were recognised during the year (2023:
approximately HK$28,562,000). For details of the impairment,
please refer to Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEBEEBEEORBRAERESEE  UFHESE
Z AU B SRR - ALFT AR FNTERBERE
#921,130,0007 7T (Z & = = 4 : #928,562,000 7%
TL) c BERBAEFE - BREATF RS VR
FMEE15 -
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HthERLEE

Computer Digital

software

Website

Club development development

music
distribution

debentures costs costs licence
ERE s Ay HEEH%
HEER HEEH DEHIER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT AT TAT TAET
Cost KA
At1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—H—H 1218 20,152 166 - 21536
Additions ANE - 2619 - - 2619
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - - - 100 100
At 31 December 2023 and RZZZ=F+ZRA=+—-HR
31 December 2024 —T-ME+=ZA=+—H 1,218 22,771 166 100 24,255
Accumulated amortisationand R #HRREERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=F—f—H - 18,736 139 - 18,875
Charge for the year AEEHE - 1035 7 62 1,104
Impairment losses REERE - 3,000 20 38 3058
At 31 December 2023 and R-Z-=%+-B=+—-HBR
31 December 2024 —“T-N&+-/A=+—H - 2771 166 100 23037
Net book value REFE
At31 December 2024 RZTZWE+=-A=+—8 1,218 - - - 1,218
At 31 December 2023 R-Z2-=F+-A=+—H 1218 - - - 1218
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

18. HhE\EEEE @)

0]

(i)

The useful lives of the club debentures are indefinite.
Accordingly, no amortisation was charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group
during the current and prior years. The Group completed
its annual impairment test for the club debentures by
comparing the fair values less costs of disposal of the club
debentures to their carrying amounts as at the end of
the reporting period. No impairment loss was recognised
during the year (2023: HKSNIil).

The Group’s computer software development costs,
website development costs and digital music distribution
licence are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 5 years. The management
of the Group undertook a review of its computer
software development costs, website development
costs and digital music distribution licence to assess the
respective recoverability. As a result of the assessment,
no impairment losses was recognised during the year
(2023: approximately HK$3,058,000). For details of the
impairment, please refer to Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the

Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated

structured entities.

) BRYERY Al RAFEIBESF
EARARBGABERAL EREE - B
BEBRERRZAARBEREEEEZX
RERFZREEMESL  ARETRE
GREFEBER A o F R EFERBEE
B(CEZ=F:T8x) -

(ih AEBzEMRHFARER NPUHAEE
AREBESLYHERBREAEGENSTF
A E RN AEETEEYHAESE
FSE R ER  BUHEBER MG S
LSS RREITER UGBS AT
B4 o &EFT {18 - F AL 1 SRR (B I 18
— T =4 49305800078 7T) © A B
BEFE  B2HAFREEVBREM T
150

19. RIBRARZRE

() THREHEALATNTIEWBRATREGA L
BEEEFS-

Place of
Incorporation Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
ML
NEEW mE s TEXRK BRETR2HMRREK BEESLLH
Directly Indirectly
H# i &
CABLE NETWORK Hong Kong Investment holding, property HKS$100 divided into 100% -
COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED leasing and property 100 ordinary shares and
investment HKS2 divided in 2 non-voting
preference share
CABLE NETWORK 5 REAER - MERERY 1007877 43 100
COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED £RE EERN BTN B2
BERZRELR
Hong Kong Cable News Express Hong Kong Advertising services HK$20 divided into - 100%

Limited

EEBERHMERERRLAA B BEERY

2 ordinary shares
08 THR2RERR
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19. RMTB AR 2 RE (@)
() TREHEARTNIEMBATREA L
BT - ()

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company'’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
Incorporation
operation

ERL

Proportion of
ownership

ERERLH

Particular of issued
capital all fully paid

ERTREHARRE

Name of company Principal activities

AAER REwR TREHR

Hong Kong Cable Television
Limited ("HKC")

ERBRERARRDE
(IBRER))

Hong Kong International
Business Channel Limited
("HKIBCL")**

Hong Kong International
Business Channel Limited
(THKIBCL]) **

Hong Kong OTT Company
Limited

Hong Kong OTT Company
Limited

How How Productions Group

Limited
I RIEEREBRAR

HOY TV Limited**

HOY TV Limited**

i-CABLE Entertainment Limited

BERBRREBRDA

i-CABLE Finance Media Limited

BRMEREARAF

Hong Kong

Bt

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

Bt

Hong Kong

Bt

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
0

Hong Kong

B0

Media and telecommunications

HELEAR

Advertising services and
programme production and
acquisition

& 25 PR DA K 87 B BE ]2
R

Content provision and
programme production

AR R A B RIE

Production of TV programmes
and investment holding

RIFERHE RIRERER

Advertising services and
programme production and
acquisition

& & BRI LA I 87 B BE K
R

Programme production and
channel operation

HERERIAEEE

Content provision,
programme production and
channel operation

WA - # B RERIEE
2iE

HK$750,000,000

divided into 750,000,000
ordinary shares
750,000,000 7LD A
750,000,000 A% 38 A%

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

1B BB RR

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share
VBT A RE AR

HK$57,059,952 divided into
2 ordinary shares
57,059952 8 7L 5 A
2R E iR

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

1BTD BIREBR

HK$10,000,000 divided into
10,000,000 ordinary shares
10,000,000/ L9 A
10,000,000 fi% & 38 i%

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

1B BB RR

Directly
E#

Indirectly
CF:3

100%

14.9%

100%

100%

14.9%

100%

100%
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 19. RMB AR ZRE @)
(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the () THREHEARBEZEZWBRAAIREAL
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated BIEEREIS - (B)

structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
Incorporation Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
HEMRL/
NEEW REwR TEXH ERTR2HAERE BEERLH
Directly Indirectly
E# &
i-CABLE HOY Limited** Hong Kong Free television broadcasting HK$10,000 divided into 14.9% -
and investment holding 9,999 ordinary shares and
1 non-voting preference share
BRRARERBRAR ™ BB REERRERRERR 10,000/ 79 &
9,999 A & A I
I RERREELR
i-CABLE Media Limited Hong Kong Investment holding , TV HK$2 divided into 100% -
channel operations and 2 ordinary shares
content production
ERAREBERAR EB REZR SRABEE DETHRIREER
RABRME
i-CABLE Network Limited Hong Kong Network operation HKS$102 divided into - 100%

100 ordinary shares and
2 non-voting deferred shares

BRRAREARRT Bk BrEE 1028707 A 100 R & BT &
URERZEELTK
i-CABLE Network Operations ~ Hong Kong Network operation HK$500,000 divided into - 100%
Limited 500,000 ordinary shares
-CABLE Network Operations &8 HmeE 500,000 B 7L 5 &
Limited 500,000 A & 3 A%
i-CABLE News Limited Hong Kong Programme production and HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
ERRRIEERRA EB A RERIFEEE 10,000,000/ 7T 5 4
10,000,000 i & 3 A%
i-CABLE Sports Limited Hong Kong Programme production and HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
ERERBREARRA B HARERIAELE 10,000,000/ 7L 5 4
10,000,000 A% & ik
i-CABLE Telecom Limited Hong Kong Mobile service, mobile agency HKS1 divided into - 100%
service and telephony 1 ordinary share
service
ARRASHARDE EB MEBBARS  RBEA BT BIREBR
RERHB K EZE RS
i-CAN Digital Solutions Limited  Hong Kong Technology services HKS1 divided into - 100%

1 ordinary share
-CAN Digital Solutions Limited &/ AR 1ETARIREER
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19. RMTB AR 2 RE (@)
() TREHEARTNIEMBATREA L
BT - ()

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the

Company'’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
Incorporation Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
EMALL,
RS gEgwh TEXK ERTRZHAERE BREERLH
Directly Indirectly
E# &
i-DATA Company Limited Hong Kong Technology services HKS1 divided into - 100%
1 ordinary share
i-DATA Company Limited 0 AR BT B IREER
International Distribution Hong Kong Programme licensing and HKS2 divided into - 14.9%
Limited ("IDL")** distribution 2 ordinary shares
EREBRETERAA EE ERSHE: P TN DB RRE AR
([BEEBRET])
Rediffusion Technology Services Hong Kong Installation and maintenance HK$10,000 divided into - 100%
Limited of satellite television 1,000 ordinary shares
systems and investment
holding
BORMRBERAR EB BEBREGLELRE 10000 LD A&
BEARREER 1,000 % & 38 %
Stars Music International Hong Kong Production of musical works HKS1 divided into - 100%
Limited and provision of agency 1 ordinary share
services
ERERARANT B RIETRER RIBHARE BT RIREBR
IR
Stars Music Publishing Hong Kong Licensing of musical works HKS1 divided into - 100%
International Limited 1 ordinary share
EERSTLERBRBRERLR FE BRERET 1BLD RIREBR
Sundream Motion Pictures Hong Kong Film production, distribution ~ HK$300,000,000 divided into - 14.9%
Limited ("SMPL")** and licensing 300,000,000 ordinary shares
BREZERNAA 0 BEREUE D RAHE 300,000,000 75 A
(TBHER )~ 300,000,000 A% & i ik
The Force Production Hong Kong Content provision and HKS1 divided into - 100%
Company Limited programme production 1 ordinary share
ROBEBRRE 0 NA K E A SHE 1BTY R RERER
BN T B AL 01 AR 7% The People’s  Technical services HK$34,600,000 - 100%
BRRAN Republic of
China
FEN T R AR el AR 75 mEAR Rl iR 34,600,000/ 7T
BARRARF* HAE
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

*%

This entity is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under
the People’s Republic of China law and is not audited by PwC.

The Company holds 1 non-voting preference share and 1,489 class
“A” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited, which wholly owns
the equity interests in IDL, SMPL, HOY TV Limited and HKIBCL,
while the remaining 4,255 class “B” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY
Limited and 4,255 class “C" ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited
are held by two independent trustees respectively. The entities
are consolidated by the Group in accordance with HKFRSs and the
principal accounting policies adopted by the Group as disclosed
in Note 3, as the Group is exposed to and has the rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the entities and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity, including,
but not limited to: (i) the Company’s nominated directors to the
board of i-CABLE HOY Limited pursuant to the right attached to
the class “A” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited held by the
Company provided in the articles of association of i-CABLE HOY
Limited; (ii) the requirement of the presence of the Company as
a quorum in any general meeting of i-CABLE HOY Limited; and
(iii) veto rights over certain matters attached to class “A” ordinary
shares requiring the prior approval of all holders thereof of i-CABLE
HOY Limited such as, the modification of any of the rights attached
to any of the shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited, alteration to the
articles of association of i-CABLE HOY Limited and the nature of
the business of i-CABLE HOY Limited, commencement of new
business or activity by i-CABLE HOY Limited, or making of any
capital commitment by i-CABLE HOY Limited. The Company,
being the only preference shareholder, is entitled to receive the
first HKS1 billion profits generated in any financial year and the
ordinary shareholders of i-CABLE HOY Limited shall be entitled to
receive any surplus dividends exceeding such amount of the same
financial year on a pro rata basis. For the year ended 31 December
2024, no non-controlling interests is recognised as distributable
profits of i-CABLE HOY Limited did not surpass the threshold for
the other shareholders.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries or consolidated
structured entities had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year or during the year.

The above table lists the Company’s subsidiaries and
consolidated structured entities which, in the opinion of
the Directors, principally affected the results of the year
or formed a material portion of assets or liabilities of the
Group.

19. RMTB AR 2RE (@)

(@) THREHEALATNIEWBATRES L
BUEEEEE - (B)

* Z R ETIREFEANRAFIEEZ MBI
BEDE  WIFHERKEF

* ARAFFHIREREZREELIRK 14898 F 4R
BYHHERARAR (A2 EHEE B FERRE
77~ B5I5 & & ~ HOY TV Limited X HKIBCL ) &% &
[A]f&  Efra255RBBREAHERBIR A A
BRI 4255 RBEAREIAFEREIR A Al
EBEICIRAIBMIIEIIETZASFNEFE - #
TSI EE - 2 S BB A BRI (B &
HHREER) R A EBERAFEES B
KRG WIERAEE A RS HEZ TR
R B A] 2 [B] FR A B B8 Bk = A AT S Bl IR HEF
WFEARZE BRI B EZE O
B (BTRR)  ()VEREHEFHERER LA
BRMEAAGTH A RAIREAEFENERE
S ER BRI A [A)XE BRI R FIHE
BEFREREAHATHBERAGIEED (i)
AAFIHEBHRESHAFAERER A AFMRE
REWEBLZENBBEE R i)FEEZHEH#H
BAFLEMENHRESBHAEEBRLAIA]
ML BRI REE T EER S RE  WEKT
o] B 4R ZHAFT B A R 2 Al R 17 BT 28 49 T fa]
Fl - N EREAFERER LA ERAAIR
EREVEHEEERATERINE  HEHE
FEBERA AR EF K T BARE
SBRIE B IR A B EH (0] & KA o KX A]
fER M — BT - BREKERF B FEA
E 4 B9 B 1,000,000,0007 7T FIE - i1 B AR E SE
ERA IR 7] i) B AR AR R 15 B L L B R
Al —B B FREHZ L BT RBRE - &
REREHEHAERBERAFASEFIEREE
—EomEF+ A=+ —HIFEATHEBE
H MR AR PG - FE UL A E B R BRI

RERLFA > ARAINHE QR KRR
REMEESMERTENERES -

EEZRR - ERITHARFMERR R
FERBUERBHEEXGERATENER
BRASEEEXRENEEZRNS -
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20. INVENTORIES 20. B&
2024 2023
—EBEoNE 2 —T=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T T T
Spare parts and consumables for repair M hEENTH B Em
and maintenance 2,831 3416
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 21. BREERRRENEE
ASSETS
2024 2023
—BoMFE T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE& T T T
Trade receivables JE s & ZEBR K 111,441 130,883
Less: loss allowance (Note 21(b)) B BB (M 210) (31,684) (27,315)
79,757 103,568
Contract assets BHEE 25,914 16,635
105,671 120,203
@  An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss @ RBREFXFRR(MREEREEHR) ZRRZ
allowance), based on the invoice date is set out as follows: BEQASYEWT

pLip2 2023

—F-HMFE T =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE R FiB T

0to 30 days 0&30H 42,037 54,425
31 to 60 days 31260H 13,835 23,235
61 to 90 days 61290H 8,528 12,201
Over 90 days #BiBoo A 15,357 13,707
79,757 103,568

The Group's credit policy is set out in Note 5(a). AEEZ EEBRRIRHIESE) °
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 21. BREXRIREHNEE®

ASSETS (Continued)

(b)  Loss allowance in respect of trade receivables are recorded (b) BREEWLEHEEREFRZEBBEBEDENER
using an allowance account unless the Group s satisfied B BRTASERBREZA KSR
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the K RglzBEgEaEmErREE
loss allowance is written off against trade receivables R (R 3(p)0) °

directly (see Note 3(p)(i)).

The movement in the loss allowance during the year, is as FRNERBEEBE2ZIEHEAT
follows:

2024 2023

ZBDWEFE T =F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FTET T

Balance at beginning of the year FAEREE 27,315 24,289
Net loss allowance on trade receivables FEN S R 2 BB R R T 4,410 3,009
Written off 1 85 (41) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1y EYNG] - 17

Balance at end of the year FAREREE 31,684 27315
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (Continued)

(©

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the
ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The expected loss rates are based on the historical loss
rates as adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the

ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

21. EREXRIARENEE @)

(©

AEBERB(EEVBREER) F K
AT ERMEREBR  RHABREER
EREREHEREREE RFTERY
EREX  BREXEFREAREAR
FASR=WSSIRENSE Sk S CE R SN =g
BEBRLER/EE L EXDHEUR
FEEPEERUREERINERLE
RBEFEZ BB AT E R

Weighted
average
lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime
credit carrying expected Net carrying
loss rate amount credit loss amount
hnfEF g
2 Hi7a
(=:E-FS 2 HATEH
b= IREAE ERBX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHTT
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mF
+=ZA=+—H
Not yet due K18 B 0% 34,230 (160) 34,070
110 30 days past due BME1 2 30H 2% 15,138 (283) 14,855
31 to 60 days past due BEI31 260 H 2% 12,536 (290) 12,246
61 to 90 days past due #Hi61 290 H 3% 6,644 (227) 6,417
Over 90 days past due BHEIZ MO0 H 72% 42,893 (30,724) 12,169
111,441 (31,684) 79,757
At 31 December 2023 A = ———
+=-A=+—8
Not yet due SR Hf 1% 43,362 (256) 43,106
110 30 days past due BHI1E30H 1% 28,922 (332) 28,590
31 to 60 days past due BHEI31 =60 R 2% 15,027 (318) 14,709
61 to 90 days past due #H61 =90 A 10% 7,459 (734) 6,725
Over 90 days past due BHI%Z 90 B 71% 36,113 (25,675) 10,438
130,883 (27,315) 103,568

The lifetime expected loss allowance for contract assets is
not material.

d

BREENEZMBEHRERBRLTERX -
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUETHROUGH 22. A A EBET AEENESREE

PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Classification of financial assets at FVTPL (a) BAAEBEFABENEREE
#2388
Financial assets measured at FVTPL include the following: BEARBAEFAEBENEREEBENAT
&8 -
pLip 2 2023
—EBEoMNE T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx T
Current assets REEE
— Listed debt securities — FTEBES 368 197
— Redemption option of long-term — REjATRRESZED
convertible bonds EIERE 25,874 34,195
26,242 34,392
(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (b) RESEIZEHE
During the year, the following items were recognised in FANTIIEEERERNER

profit or loss:

2024 2023
—F-ME T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAEIT
Fair value losses on financial assets EBARBEFAEZSHNCREE
at FVTPL ZRAREEER 8,150 5,689
(c) Risk exposure and fair value (0 FFEYRAKREAAEBEGE
measurements
Information about the Group's exposure to price risk is ﬁ%@$%ﬁﬁ@¥ﬂ§$§@ﬁﬁﬁ'\]ﬁﬂﬁmw
provided in Note 5(e). For information about the methods H5e - BEHETAABE T ERA
and assumptions used in determining fair value refer to TEE“%‘ZE’\\\W%TS(Q) °

Note 5(g).
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23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

23. ﬁﬁ&ﬂ?inﬁﬁ’%
RekBHeFEYRE

2024 2023
—BDmE T -=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHE T

Bank deposits and cash in the consolidated HEVBRAR ZBITERAERS
statement of financial position 65,821 40,969
Less: restricted bank balances* B R AR TS RR (12,050) (12,050)

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated ~ 4RAIREREXR 2R ENREE

statement of cash flows ZEBY 53,771 28919

*

The restricted bank balances represent deposits made by the Group to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

24. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

RRHBIRIT AR EAEEZ D BABAEENE
TIRTTRERRIEIR -

24, TEBFHFLHENEE

2024 2023
—EBoME T =F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Non-current assets held for sale BIELENFERBEE
Building BF 7,052 -
(i) Property held for sale (i) BIEHENYE

On 5 November 2024, & M T & &1 £ 1l5 iR 7 & BR A &)
(Guangzhou KuanXun Technology Services Co., Ltd.), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Vendor”) entered into an agreement with an independent
third party of the Company (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell a property in Guangzhou
for a total consideration of RMB21,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$23,217,000). As at the end of the reporting period, the
transaction has yet to be completed. The parties agreed
on 25 March 2025 to extend the completion date for the
Purchaser to fulfil the conditions under said agreement. As
at the date of this annual report, the Vendor has received
sums totalling RMB2,020,000 (equivalent to HK$2,201,800),
comprising the deposit payable under the agreement and
a part of the balance of the consideration for the property
concerned.

RZZE-_NF+—ARB AARIEE
2EWBRARIEMNMEMEMREER
AR((ER)BARB—BBILFEZH
(TERDAIumE Bt BARELE
—BUNREMNZYE BREAARE
21,300,000 7T (48 & 723,217,000 7T) ° &
EHREHR RHHRTEK - FTHNE R
ZERF=-AZ+RHERE  EFETT
Ll BETHRENTREPBELER -
HEXRFHRAE - EHEWWEAAEM
2,020,000 7T (FEE 7 2,201,800 7T ) KI5k
:¢@%mumﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%%m%
DRBEHEE -
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24. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 24 DEABFEHENEE |
(Continued)
(i) Non-recurring fair value measurements (i) ELEMEAFEE
Property classified as held for sale during the year ended HE_Z-_WH&+-_A=1+—HIFEHS
31 December 2024 was measured at the lower of its BARFLENMELRARmMAERATE
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell at the time BREF D BRI HE X ANRERELE -

of the reclassification.

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. BN ERRAREMENRK
2024 2023
—BomE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FHETT
Trade payables e & BR K 88,313 85,486
Accrued expenses TEIREM 227,015 192,578
Other payables B & A 5K 70,606 42,301
Contract liabilities (receipts in advance) A4 alE (FERER) 42,295 50,421
Customers' deposits BERZ® 32,665 33,117
460,894 403,903
As at 31 December 2024, contract liabilities of approximately RZZEZWMF+ZA=+—H GHEED
HK$42,295,000 (2023: approximately HK$50,421,000) will be 42,295,000/ 7L (ZF = =4 : #50,421,00078 7T)
recognised as revenue in the next reporting period. Revenue BRT—SREPEERAERA -BHE_ZFT Y
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024 that was FTZA=T—HIEFE FABINEGHEE
included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of HEHRBE BRI AL50421008 T (ZE ==
the period amounted to approximately HK$50,421,000 (2023: F : #976,313,0007870) °

approximately HK$76,313,000).
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 25. B EXRRAKEMBENSR @
An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date JEN SRR RIRIREZASMIIEHNT ¢

is set out as follows:

2024 2023

—E-mF
HK$'000 HKS'000
T FHIT
0to 30 days 0&30H 12,749 9,976
31 to 60 days 31260H 20,371 19,115
61 to 90 days 61290 H 12,655 10,916
Over 90 days HBiBoo H 42,538 45479
88,313 85,486

26. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 26. HFEE®X

“E-mE “T_=fF
Current Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total

ik ] ek ) 2y k) FRE ot
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000
TER TER TER TAT TAT TAL

Bank loan (Note ()) RITER (K7t @) 295,000 - 295,000 295,000 - 295,000
Loans from Celestial Pioneer R B Celestial Pioneer Limited
Limited (Note (b)) ZER(HE®b) 230,000 866,035 1,096,035 - 746,035 746,035

Total interest-bearing borrowings %5 B B F 2% 525,000 866,035 1,391,035 295,000 746,035 1,041,035

Notes: Kt -

(@) The carrying amount of bank loan denominated in Hong Kong dollar as at (a) RZFZMFEF=—A=4+—H KUETHEZRTE
31 December 2024 was HK$295,000,000 (2023: HKS295,000,000), which is X AR [E (8 43 295,000,000 7T (= F = = 4F : 295,000,000
unsecured, carries interest at variable rates and repayable on demand. The ET)  BRER - IRFBFEEWEIREKEE -
bank loan has been renewed on 28 February 2025, RITEAR_FE_AF_A_+/HEE -

(b) The carrying amount of the loans from Celestial Pioneer Limited (a (b)) RZZFZWFE+=H=+—H 3 E Celestial Pioneer
company holding 72.0% of the total number of issued shares of Forever Limited (F5 B K B BT (7 48 20 72.0% J A & F L
Top and wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry, the Director) fE T2 EHEEZRE]) BT EZ BEHERE B
denominated in Hong Kong dollar as at 31 December 2024 was 1,096,035,000% 7T (= F = = 4 : #)746,035000;& 7T)
approximately HKS1,096,035,000 (2023: approximately HKS746,035,000), HEBEEIE  HEEFFENF25%280%(=ZF==
which are unsecured, carry interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.5% to F BFFE25%260%) 55+ It 1 E 5 % H A
8.0% per annum (2023: 2.5% to 6.0% per annum) and with a term of 3 years FTARRI3E  RELHE - 4552300000008 T E
from the date of the respective loan agreements. Subsequent to the year HAR-ZF-—RF=—AREY MEHAB-E=-AF
end, loans with an aggregate amount of HKS230,000,000 was extended in +=-HA=+—H#-

March 2025 with maturity dates beyond 31 December 2025.
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

sz
26. ™ & E
The maturity of interest-bearing borrowings was as follows: s K

Loans from Celestial

Pioneer Limited Total
R H Celestial

BRITER Pioneer Limited 2 & 5% b
2024 2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECME “TCo=F ZBIME —TC-F ZBINFE —To=F
HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T Tz T Tz THT
Within 1 year or on demand 1ERRIZERER 295,000 295000 | 230,000 - | 525,000 295,000
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FEEEE2FR - - 530,000 296,035 530,000 296,035
After 2 years butwithin 5years 2 EEESFR - - 336,035 450,000 336,035 450,000
295,000 295000 | 1,096,035 746035 | 1,391,035 | 1,041,035

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 27. TEERES

(a)

The 2019 LCS

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds issued in June 2019 (the
2019 LCS"). On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS
with the principal amount of HK$568,000,000 to Forever
Top was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible
into 4,544,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
(the Share(s)") upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based
on the initial conversion price of HK$0.125 per conversion
share. The initial conversion price represents a premium
of approximately 8.7% over the closing price of HK$0.115
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25 January
2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS
were fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per
annum and payable quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible
into ordinary Shares at any time during the period from
the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the close of
business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end
of the tenth year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS
and all of the remaining outstanding 2019 LCS will be
redeemed by the Company at 100% of the outstanding
principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon.

(a)

—E-NEFERETERES
NZZE—hhE—AZ+HB  NATHEX
FEIZFEEMEHUIBRESRE R
Bt ARFEBEEFREZETMRAD
BEMRBSRBR - LENABTH
EEMEHABBRES((ZT—NFREH
AR EAE]) cMZE—HFEAMAB -
B 58 A M ok FH 31T 2N & %8 A 568,000,000 7
THZZ—NAERPATHBREES - BB
B RBREGR LB G 01258 LE
YHB T —NEFERBANBRESER
—E-NEFRPUBBREFLFATELBRA
4,544,000,000 8 AN 2 R T E @A (AR5 1) -
MEHBEEN _E—hE—A-+HhaA
(BEE_Z—hERHBUBREFERE
B) B X PTAT s T E & IR0.1158 L% B
8987% c —E—NFRBATMBRBSF 2 E
ERABF2% AEEFEI N -ELBRR
FIRBRT  — - FRATHBERESFA
BT - NFREAJHRBFFETASR
DR ERRAREME BELEA
TEk e —_ T NFRATHRBEESZE
HEA-ZT-—NEREHVTHRERESFETH
HAEET S+ 4R ARG RITE
—E-NEFERHATBRRESFERARRR
—E-NEFERHTBERESFAEEASEE
100%BRIEFEAE RFHEARI A 2 F 0B
@ o
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27.CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

The 2019 LCS (Continued)

On the date of issuance of the 2019 LCS, the fair value
of liability component of approximately HK$343,719,000
was recognised and the fair value of approximately
HK$224,281,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” at initial recognition.
The effective interest rate of the liability component
was 7.69% per annum. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of liability component of the 2019 LCS
is approximately HK$447,758,000 (2023: approximately
HK$425,663,000).

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

The 2021 LCS

On 27 January 2021, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds issued in March 2021 (the
“2021 LCS"). On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021
LCS with the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 with
a maturity of 10 years by the Company to Forever Top
was completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new ordinary Shares upon full conversion
of the 2021 LCS based on the initial conversion price of
HKS$0.068 per conversion share and the coupon rate of the
2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly. The
Company may at any time on or after the date of issue
of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than 10 business days’
written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to redeem
all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal
amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued but
unpaid interest.

27. AR E S (@)

(a)

(b)

“E-NEFERETRERES @

RET_E—NFREARKRESHE
#9343,719000 8 TR A GBHEK T D AR E
B R 4122428100078 L A 7t B
BEEZEZ) OEER W VIGE
RERATBRREFNEZEARTS] 2
Az BEARITIOSNERFNERS
769% - R_E-_MNFE+-_A=+—H" =
T-NFRPTERESNEEHAKIED
K BR E (B #9447,758,0008 0 (& — =4 :
#7425,663,000787T) °

AR EEFEREAKEHEREDN
BB ERBERMEMETT -

—E_-FRETBERES
RZE-_—F—A=-++H KQFEK
FRISEET R BHFREHE
Bt NAEBBREREZEITMKAB K
HREERENR S -—F= A%1TH3E
FmERBABRRES (2T —F KH
AREES]) RZEZ—F=H=+—
H ARFEEKBKABETASEL
200,000,000 L EF B AI0F 2 T = —
FRAAMRES -RIBBEVBRLRES
f% SRR 1D 0068 B T BE A IR —T = —F
RHAHRESRE - —FRHAk
fi% 35 25 A 53,32 5 2,941,176,470 B 3T 38 A%
B FRPABBREFZEERA
BE20% WEBEZN - AR AT E
- —FREUTBBRFESFERAKZE
FRAE_—FREVERESFFAA
BHAORICESEBNESEAMN  E=
T FRPTTBEBREFNAREERSEH
ERZEE RHE AN F B HE B 2 3556
DB —FRHEMBKES -
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
(b) The 2021 LCS (Continued)

On the date of issuance of the 2021 LCS, the fair value
of liability component of approximately HK$131,806,000
was recognised, the fair value of approximately
HKS$144,610,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” and the fair value of
the redemption option of approximately HK$78,061,000
was recognised as financial assets at FVTPL at initial
recognition. The effective interest rate of the liability
component was 6.88% per annum. As at 31 December
2024, the carrying amount of liability component and
redemption option of the 2021 LCS is approximately
HK$152,306,000 (2023: approximately HK$146,342,000)
and approximately HK$25,874,000 (2023: approximately
HK$34,195,000) respectively.

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

27. AR E S @)

(b)

—EC-FRETRERES @
NET_E-—FREAIRERESFHE
#9131,806000 8 TR B EHEKIT D A AE
B R - 414461000078 L A 7t B
BREZEZ)DEER WG E
RERATBRREFNEZEARTS] 2
AR MEDEEREENAAEEY
78,061,000 TEER BIE AR BETA
BERitEMemEE - AEERTINE
BRAFEFI R 5688% - R T _F+ A
=t+—B ZEZ—FERHAUBKES
MEEARTs RELREEZENEmRE
2 A #9152,306,0008 T (ZEZ=F : 49
146,342,000 7 7T ) M #725,874,000/8 7L (=&
T=4F 1 #934,19500058 7T) ©

HEALREEFEREASEHERED
BB ERERMGEMET -
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28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing

balances of each component of the Group's consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

Company

Balance at 1 January 2023

Changes in equity for 2023:
Loss and total comprehensive
income for the year

Balance at 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Changes in equity for 2024:
Loss and total comprehensive
income for the year

Balance at 31 December 2024

R-B-=%f-F-RAz&8

ZECCEMERED .
EREERZERGES

RZE-=%+ZA=+-HK
“E-ME-F-Az&s

~E-mEHRELD:
RS EE

RIE-ME+ZA=T-AzER

28. EX - HERERKRE
(a) EERHEE
AEBMEIIA R

ZHERBE AR

Capital and Reserves

R

—EomEER
13 R ) R A4S A

AERBBE - AT
BRI R F BN BB

EARGE

Equity

component of
Accumulated convertible Total
Share capital losses bonds deficit

TRRES
B& RitER B&H2 BES
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TH7 TH7 TH7 TH7
7928975 (8,496,207) 368,891 (198,341)
- (114457) - (114457)
7,928,975 (8,610,664) 368,891 (312,798)
- (55,591) - (55,591)
7,928,975 (8,666,255) 368,891 (368,389)
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28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28. X - fABRKRE @)
(Continued)
(b) Dividends b)) BE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any EEgTEEMEBE_T-NF+=A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: ST-HLEFEREAMRE (ZE==
HKSNil). F:TBIT) °
(c) Share capital () B=&
(i) Issued share capital (i) BBITRAE
2024 2023
—B-OEF —T_=F
Number of Number of
shares HK$’000 shares HKS$'000
g 24! FTHERT Bih 8B FHATT
Ordinary shares, issued and £, 81T R &R 2 E 8
fully paid: %
At 1 January »n—HA—H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 7,134,623,520 7,928,975
At 31 December nt+—_A=+—H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 7,134,623,520 7,928,975
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong BIEBEBHBCARGEMN)E 1356 XA
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the AR TR BT E -

Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares of the Company are ARG EBRIFEALZAESEAR
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time NaTHMERKEEEPKREARS
to time and are entitled to one vote per share at FERE—ENEN - 2R RQEE
shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All ordinary BEAREARFNFAGEELELRTE -

shares of the Company rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.
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28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve is non-distributable. In 2004, the
issued share capital of a subsidiary under the Group
was reduced ("Capital Reduction”) and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction was applied to
eliminate the accumulated losses standing in the
statement of profit or loss of that subsidiary as at
30 September 2004. An undertaking was given to
the Court by the subsidiary in connection with the
Capital Reduction (the “Undertaking”). Pursuant to
the Undertaking, any future recoveries or reversals of
provisions and depreciation made by the subsidiary
in respect of certain assets (“relevant assets”) held
by the subsidiary as at 30 September 2004 to the
extent that such recoveries exceed the written
down amounts of the relevant assets, up to an
aggregate amount of HK$1,958,524,266 (the “Limit"),
will be credited to a capital reserve. While any debt
or liability of, or claim against, the subsidiary at the
date of the Capital Reduction remains outstanding
and the person entitled to the benefit thereof has
not agreed, the capital reserve shall not be treated
as realised profits.

The Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase in the issued share capital of the subsidiary
or upon a capitalisation of distributable reserves.
The Limit may also be reduced after the disposal
or other realisation of the relevant assets by the
amount of the charge to provision or depreciation
made in relation to such asset as at 30 September
2004 less reversal as a result of such disposal or
realisation. In the event that the amount standing
to the credit of the capital reserve exceeds the
Limit, the subsidiary shall be at liberty to transfer the
amount of any such excess to the general reserves
of the subsidiary, which shall become available for
distribution. As at 31 December 2024, the Limit of
the capital reserve, as reduced by HK$15,252,094
(2023: HK$333,563) related to recoveries and
reversals of provision of the relevant assets, was
HK$740,597,398 (2023: HK$755,849,492), and the
amount standing to the credit of the capital reserve
was HK$13,984,483 (2023: HK$13,984,483).

28. EX - FERKRE @
(d REEZHEREHN

(i)

BERf#E

BERFEHEIDTAIEDIR - RZZZM
FoAREBETN—HBRARRBEES
BARA (BRI - BREH
BEBESAEBREZNBARRZ
ENFENA=Z+EEBRZRANEZ
FHEE - B AR g E AR —
FE DAL R AE ([&E]) - RBR
AHE - TR B 14 B Uk 3k [ B & B R AT
ESNZHBRANR -_ZTTNFEA
A=+HBEMETEEZEE (A
BEE] @ EBIBAEREE SR
1% 2 BRTEIE  ZAPAT %14 1,958,524,266
B (R WEFHETAER
BN - BEZWBRRINAEERE
REFAZER AERRE KR
BEARBRERERNREESS
BERET - AL ERNRBHTEERIED
BIFE -

FREATIZKI B A R B BT A M L1
NS R A] (5 R R 4 e A AN
HUR, o BREE J1 AJ gk H 5 ok E i B3R 48
BEEMRY  BLNSHEAZEE
R-ZEEWMFAA=Z+RHDHIEZ
BEITERERLNEREREE
Z2E&F e Bt ABEAKEz BB
PREE - B AR BRGNS
EREH -REBEAERE - R=F
—FE+=ZA=+—H EAEHBZ
PR BB F0IR AR B & B 2 (B R K BB 1 [
BEEBR A 152504 T (ZE-=
F : 333,563 J0) = 740,597,398 7% 7T
T F T =4 75584949278 7T) © 1M
FFABARNfFEE 2 £ 5A A13,984483
BT (T - =4 11398448378 7T) ©
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28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28. EX - ERKRE @)
(Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (d) FEEZHEEREN@E
(i) Exchange reserve (i) INEREE

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign INEREERIEMERREGINER
exchange differences arising from the translation B ISR R E A 2 INE R IR ZEFE o IR
of the financial statements of foreign operations. HERIBEINEH M 30 IR
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the BRIE o

accounting policies set out in Note 3(n).

(e) Distributability of reserves (e) HIHtD Ik
At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves RZBEZNF+ZA=+—H0  Z&EBA
of the Company available for distribution to equity AHEBD) 2 B 6B DR EFE - NQFA
shareholders of the Company, as calculated under HARTARFAESRR 2 FEEERET
the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies BT(ZE_=F: T8 °

Ordinance, was HKSNil (2023: HKSNil).

29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29. MEMBEMRRRAZAEHIE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated (@) GKEMBERREXKAZENHES
statement of financial position represents: ¥&

2024 2023
—E-_MmEF —E =4

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAET

The People’s Republic of China taxation pE AR AMBERIE 53 80
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

()

recognised:

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group and the movements during the year
are as follows:

29. KEMBEMRRERAZAEHE @)

(b) ERINELEBEEERAR

FARAEKEEE
BBEEE/(BE) WERDD

T

A TR SR AR BV IR S

o R EZE) 0

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
the related
depreciation Tax losses Total
ik -Ey
HEZRER
Deferred tax arising from BRI AN TR B BRBER k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTL FHTL FHL
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-=F—H—H 50,266 (152,410) (102,144)
Charged to the consolidated statement ~ RA4RA BE R Mk (A7 9a)
of profit or loss (Note 9(a)) (3,580) 36,173 32,593
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=%+-A=+—H 46,686 (116,237) (69,551)
At 1 January 2024 RZE-NE—A—H 46,686 (116,237) (69,551)
Charged to the consolidated statement ~ FM4R& 1Bz & 1Bk (A1 9@)
of profit or loss (Note 9(a)) (4,774) 20,059 15,285
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-WE+=ZA=+—-H 41,912 (96,178) (54,266)

2024 2023
—BDmE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FHET
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE BRI K ER
consolidated statement of financial position ~ F{I8 & E R (54,266) (69,551)
Deferred tax assets not recognised: () BAREAMNELEREBEEE :
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in TEBTABRARERBR B BEED
respect of unused tax losses amounting to approximately 7,436,000,0008 T (ZZE - =4 : 4y

HK$7,436,000,000 (2023: approximately HK$7,030,377,000)
and deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$121,092,000 (2023: approximately HK$56,270,000) due
to the uncertainty in utilising the unused tax losses in the
relevant entities. These unused tax losses have no expiry
date.

7,030,377,00078 7T) 2 AT H1 8 BT B 14 2 BE 4
121,092,000 7L (ZZF = =4 : #956,270,000
BIL) MREERIBEE - RAREAE
BMERBMNRTATBBESE TR -
ZEREATBEBLEIEA -
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30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 30 MEEBMELAEBEZHER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is

as follows:

Convertible
bonds

TRRES
HKS'000
AT

BMERPMELRBEZHEROT

Interest-
bearing

Leases  borrowings

HE EEEH
HK$000 HKS$'000
TET FTAET

Interest
EVEL
(under
accrued
expenses
and other
payables)
EAFIE
(BREAR
Htn e
ET)
HK$'000
AT

a5
HK$'000
T

At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—H—H 546,040 45078 591,035 1,660 1,183,813
Changes from cash flows Ren&y
Drawdown of interest-bearing ROGEER
borrowings - - 450,000 - 450,000
Principal elements of HERFAEHD
lease payments - (18,826) - - (18,826)
Finance costs paid ENREER - - - (41,486) (41,486)
Other changes Hin 2 g
Interest expenses FEZH 25965 4727 - 52855 83,547
Inception of lease MERRK - 667 - - 667
Interest elements of lease HENFAEHS
payments - (4,727) - - (4,727)
Acquisition of subsidiaries hE-101=UNG - 2,958 - - 2,958
Lease modification HEEET - 200,107 - - 200,107
At 31 December 2023 and RZZZ=%+=A=1+-8
1 January 2024 k-E-_m&E-A-H 572,005 229,984 1,041,035 13,029 1,856,053
Changes from cash flows Ren&y
Drawdown of interest-bearing RRSEER
borrowings - - 350,000 - 350,000
Lease incentive received RGN =) - 47,080 - - 47,080
Principal elements of HERTEEHS
lease payments - (15,700) - - (15,700)
Finance costs paid ENREER - - - (25,486) (25,486)
Other changes HEi e
Interest expenses FlE& 28,059 19,063 - 78,659 125,781
Lease incentive receivables HE RMREYGHK - 1,540 - - 1,540
Inception of lease MERRK - 5,386 - - 5,386
Interest elements of lease HERFFEHD
payments - (538) - - (538)
Lease modification HEEBF - (1,076) - - (1,076)
Effect of foreign exchange rates ~ SMEE R FEHF 2
changes - (4) - - (4)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+=-A=1+-H 600,064 285,735 1,391,035 66,202 2,343,036
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31. COMMITMENTS 31. F&iE
(@) Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December (@) R-E-WER-_E-_=F+-A=+—
2024 and 2023 were as follows: B REFEREENT
2024 2023
—BDmFE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FETT
Property, plant and equipment W BERRE
— Contracted but not provided for — BRI EMERETIR 686 413
Programming library HRAg A
— Contracted but not provided for — BEIHEHKRETIR 9,096 13,470
9,782 13,883
(b) At 31 December 2024, the total future minimum lease (b) A== -—mWE+=-F=+—8 " TAl#HH
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are KEHEBRT 2 ARKERENKREEER
payable as follows: RLAT BABR 2 A -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
— Within 1 year —1FR 3,524 3,463
The operating lease commitment as at 31 December RZTEZNF+A=+—Hz&ERE
2024 represents the total future minimum lease payments AERET AN BEAEE T 2R K&
under non-cancellable short-term leases and low-value BHEHENFBERRFTAEEEBECIKE

leases which are not included in lease liabilities. BHE-
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31. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
Future operating lease income

()

(d)

The total future minimum lease payments receivable

in respect of sub-lease rental under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:

31. A&E @)

(0 ARLEHERA
BETTHBCEBERS ARERK
RAFIEBEEMSH@ENT

2024 2023

ZBDmEFE T =F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET FHET

Within 1 year 16K 5,398 -
After 1 year but within 5 years 1FZBESFR 7,361 -
12,759 -

Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:

0)

(i)

In accordance with the terms of the domestic free
television programme service licence issued to
i-CABLE HOY Limited, i-CABLE HOY Limited should
implement the investment plan for the period
from 31 May 2022 to 30 May 2028 amounting to
approximately HK$1,330 million.

In accordance with the terms of the Unified Carrier
Licence issued to i-CABLE HOY Limited, i-CABLE HOY
Limited has issued a performance bond in favour of
the Government of the HKSAR and the balance as at
31 December 2024 was HKSNil (2023: HK$1,500,000).
Under the terms of the performance bond, unless
the Communications Authority of Hong Kong (the
"CA") otherwise approves or determines:

— within 9 months from the date on which
the CA granted the formal approval for
i-CABLE HOY Limited to employ spectrum as
an additional means of transmission for its
licenced domestic free television programme
service (the “Formal Approval”), i-CABLE
HOY Limited broadcasted a new channel for
domestic free television programme service
(in addition to the two designated integrated
channels) each day;

(d)

(i)

(i)

BEREERRZESHREMT

BEXZTELSEHEAERBRA
AIMA R EEIREREERZ
B3 BEEBEAEREGRARA
RZE-_—_FRA=+—H=EZZZF
“NFEAZ+HHEETEEY
1,330,000,000 8 LK) & 718 ©

BEEETESEHERSBSEERAF
NFAERERBZIER  BIEEE
HERABRARD BRI
ERBARE - RZZEZNF+= A
—t+—BZzHEHBAEEET(ZE=_=
11,500,000 70) © IRIEE IR E
NIER BRIETEBINEEEER
(BB BrriEsRE - B8

— MNEBRBEAMEBRTIRRN
BRERABERABEERRT
MR BEARED B R HE
gEXHZXN(TEXED EH
EitoBAR - ARTEAFER
BERABERAU R B ERED
B B #% tE 4 — (B s8E (B M R
EEAR A SREIN) BRIEN :
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31. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 31. A @

(d) Funding commitment under television d EREBEBRzESRENT
broadcasting licences are as follows: (&)
(Continued)
(i) (Continued) i (&)

within 15 months from the date on which the
CA granted the Formal Approval, the licenced
domestic free television programme service
was available for reception by not less than
99% population coverage of Hong Kong;

within the first 12-month period after the
commencement date of the transmission of
the domestic free television programmes on
the designated integrated channels of i-CABLE
HOY Limited through the spectrum assigned
(being 1 April 2022), i-CABLE HOY Limited
incurred not less than HK$100 million as the
capital and operating expenditure (including
programming cost) for providing the licenced
domestic free television programme services;
and

within the second 12-month period after the
commencement date of the transmission of
the domestic free television programmes on
the designated integrated channels of i-CABLE
HOY Limited through the spectrum assigned
(being 1 April 2022), i-CABLE HOY Limited
incurred not less than HK$100 million as the
capital and operating expenditure (including
programming cost) for providing the licenced
domestic free television programme services.

— RBIABREBRHIERAEEZAR
ISEARN HEAMEES
REBREANBEEZFETD
7 99% By A D2 UL

— REBRESEMBEEELSE
AR ERABRARIEELEE B
ERBERAEEEREE
BE(BI—E—-——#mWA—QH)
BEEREARN BHREHEFA
ERERAGIREFER R
BERGTERBHEARAREE
FX (BIEEE &IERA) BT
DA 100,000,0008 7T ¢ &

— RERESRMBETAERE
AR ERBRARIETEHREIE
ERAERAMEE TR B
BE(BI—ZE—-——®#mWA—QH)
BEE_E2EABRMA F
BEMAEEAERAFIRERE
[ AR BERMDE RBENE
AR B SY (BIEE B 2ERK
ZK) 8 54 100,000,000 7 T ©
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32. GUARANTEES

33.

As at 31 December 2024, a corporate guarantee had been
provided by the Company to a bank of HK$295,000,000 (2023:
HK$295,000,000) in respect of the facility of borrowing up to
HK$295,000,000 (2023: HK$295,000,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295,000,000 (2023:
HK$295,000,000) was utilised by the wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had made an arrangement
with a bank to provide a performance bond to the counterparty
amounting to HK$33,830,000 (2023: HK$35,330,000), of which
HK$3,830,000 (2023: HK$5,330,000) was secured by bank
deposits. The performance bond is to guarantee in favour
of the counterparty the Group's performance in fulfilling the
obligations under a contract.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group
entered into the following material related party transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

32.

33.

=R
R-ZE-WNF+_A=Z+—HB ARAH—
%éﬁﬁ%“TFﬁ%}m{,\ﬁ%{aﬁyz%poqoooﬁ%
T (ZZT = =4 : 2950000008 7T) NEREE
%Eﬁ—F%ETﬂELﬁ A {% 295,000,000 7T (=
T~ = 4 12950000008 L) * AR A 2EM B
A a8 A E A 2950000008 L (Z 2 — = 4F ¢
295,000,000/ L) °

RZZEZWF+—A=+—H AEBEH—
MIRTLHEMEFIRHE BB IRENORE
33,830,000 7T (=& = = 4 : 35,330,000/ L) -
H 73,830,000 7 (ZF = =4 : 5,330,000 7T)
NIRRT FERIEET - BORBEEREF AR
BAEEBEBETAHNETER -

FHREALTZHANEARS
BEAEBEAMBREA LT ARE
RHRERN FEBRE-F-NFR-F
SEET-AST-ALFENE2RTIE
BEATZMNEARS

2024 2023
—EBECONE T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHEx FETT
Advertising service revenue from CTFE Group, KERRBEESE  AREKRE
CTFJ Group and CTFN Group (Note 1) S8 AAERBALEZES
RAGWNA (HE 1) (5,911) (9,795)
Finance costs to Forever Top (Note 2) KXAZREER (Mi2) 15,360 15,360
Finance costs to Celestial Pioneer Limited (Note 3) Celestial Pioneer Limited 2 &t & £ F3
(Ktat3) 45,493 21,030
Rental expenses to a subsidiary of AERRMB AR 2 HEMX
arelated company 1,513 969
Hardware maintenance to a company wholly H—RAEFE2ERBLRRZ
owned by a former director (Note 4) WHEEER (FiT4) - 560
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33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Notes:

On 10 May 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of the Group)
entered into the agreement (the “Master Sales Agreement”) with Chow Tai
Fook Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries (together the "CTFE Group”),
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited and its subsidiaries (together the
“CTFJ Group”) and Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the “CTFN Group’) for the sale of the advertising services by the
Group. As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding receivable balance by
the Group amounted to approximately HKS100,000 (2023: approximately
HKS$10,000,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding finance costs payable by
the Group to Forever Top for the LCS 2019 and LCS 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$S8,543,000 (31 December 2023: HKSNIl).

The carrying amount of the loans from Celestial Pioneer Limited are
unsecured, carry interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.5% to 8.0% per
annum (2023: 2.5% to 6.0% per annum) and with a term of 3 years from
the date of the respective loan agreements. As at 31 December 2024,
the outstanding finance costs payable by the Group amounted to
approximately HKS57,659,000 (2023: approximately HKS12,166,000).

Such former Director resigned with effect from 3 May 2023.

33. EREEALTZENEARRS @)

RZFZ=ZFnA+H AR (BAXGRAZAE
BE) A EEEEESRBE AR ELEFR AR
HAERe] (ABIEXELEER]) FAAEHEE
BEERAFRANE LA (B EAEHEER]) X
REAXERBEABRARAIRANE RG] (4 EAAE
REAEE)GTVBHERZ R2F-MFE+=A
=+ —H A5 [ R Y [B] JE YL B A BR A9 100,000 7T
(ZZ==%F : £910000,000%&7T) °

RZFZMFEF—A=1—H p=F—NLFRHI
HRFH R —F = —FRAAIRIRE S - N EEF ¥ K
FHEIEI AR AT FEST B8 & B 498,543,000 T (ZEZ=4
+=—A=+—H:ZF#rx) -

Celestial Pioneer Limited 1 E L SR IE 1B + H B - 17
BEEFFIRN F25%F80% (ZFE_Z1F : HF25%F
6.0%) 518 - BB E F tHas AR BRI = F - K=
FEoWEFZA=1—H FAEBEHKRTENBEE
FH#957,659,0008 7T (ZF = =14F : #712,166,00087T) °

ZENEREG — T =F 7 H=[EFT-

The above material related party transactions include amounts
which also constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing of the Listing of Securities
(the "Listing Rules”). The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are provided in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the Directors.

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel, including

amounts paid to the Company'’s Directors as disclosed in Note
11 and other members of key management of the Group, is as
follows:

FRBBEALZRANEARZTEREX(E
F ETRRD ([ EmRAN) E14AE P E 2 B8
BERG FMRBEAEMREZHKBEENE

EREHERS ]~ -

TEEEAEZHE

IZEBABZME (BEEN FHME I AEE
ARREERASETRZERAB ZEHMKE

ZHOR) JIEA T

2024 2023

—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHEIT
Short-term employee benefits MEETREF 7,612 7,552
Post-employment benefits BB 12 1R A 131 195
7,743 7,747
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34. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  34. 2 R B #ik R &

POSITION
2024 2023
—ESE-NFE —E =4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREHE - -
Investments in subsidiaries BB R ZEE 19() 3,000 3,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B R R BR 3k 2,087,949 1,717,785
2,090,949 1,720,785
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT BR 3R N H At FE UK 2,747 2,090
Loan to a subsidiary BLSIEMNGI- X 16,375 16,375
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFABZD
profit or loss TREE 25,874 34,195
Restricted bank balances X IR H SR 1T 45 5 3,830 3,830
Cash and bank balances B4 RIIBITAR 5,975 6,086
54,801 62,576
Total assets BEE 2,145,750 1,783,361
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves EAXR#EE
Share capital [N 28(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves ] 28(a) (8,297,364) (8,241,773)
Total deficit HE S A (368,389) (312,798)
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34, COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34. A 5] # kR & @)
POSITION (Continued)

2024 2023
o111 -3 — T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T T
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liability FRBEE
Convertible bonds Al E S 600,064 572,005
Current liabilities REBERE
Accrued expenses and other payables  FEIE & A K E b fE X 14,126 6,369
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESTB B A R BREX 1,899,949 1,517,785
1,914,075 1,524,154
Total liabilities FEN=R 2,514,139 2,096,159
Total equity and liabilities BERRERE 2,145,750 1,783,361

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  EEFE@N T - AF=A -+ BB REFREQM o

26 March 2025.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
ERR AT BRELE

Director Director

EF EF
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35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1.

On 4 February 2025, HKC as the borrower, entered into
a loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the
lender, pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured
loan with a principal amount of HK$60,000,000 for a term
of 3 years from the date of the said loan agreement, with
an interest rate of 6.0% per annum.

On 18 March 2025, HKC as the borrower, entered into
a loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the
lender, pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured
loan with a principal amount of HK$60,000,000 for a term
of 3 years from the date of the said loan agreement, with
an interest rate of 6.0% per annum.

On 5 November 2024, the Vendor entered into an
agreement with the Purchaser, pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell a property in Guangzhou for a
total consideration of RMB21,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$23,217,000). As at the end of the reporting period, the
transaction has yet to be completed. The parties agreed
on 25 March 2025 to extend the completion date for the
Purchaser to fulfil the conditions under said agreement. As
at the date of this annual report, the Vendor has received
sums totalling RMB2,020,000 (equivalent to HK$2,201,800),
comprising the deposit payable under the agreement and
a part of the balance of the consideration for the property
concerned.

BERREER

1.

R-ZE-_RAF_AMNB  BKREHEA
Fat FUA) Ha Celestial Pioneer Limited ({E B &
KNI ER S - Bl BRERES
$ ¥ 460,000,000 TR ERFER - B

MERWH B R AT WRF
%IJ $ 6.0% & 8. °

RZE-_RAF=ZA+NB BHRER (UE

A& FA) B Celestial Pioneer Limited ({E &

,\TAA)DT_LEUATﬁJE% B BEERE
15 75 & B 5 60,000,000 FE TT H) SEIK IR B 50

Q FiEZpE BRI AHE - WX
FRZE60%ETSE -

R-_ZE-_NF+—FHEB EHEEFHF]
YhEc Bl BARERHE —EHURE
Mz BRERARE 21,300,000 7T (18
EH232170008 L) c BEREHAR X
SHEATK FINEFR T -_AF=A
“t+HRARE  EFET AR TR
WK EBHEELEER - BE2AFRAE
5B WEA AR 20200007 (FHE R
2,201,800/ 70) MIFIE - EF BIEHEAE
iEe R EEMENBI>NEHEE -



Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMGHE

(Expressed in HKS million)
(AEBETIIR)

ERBEEBABRIA

“E_NFEFR

Results ES

Revenue WA 1,069 989 895 716 584
Operating expenses LB (1,303) (1,298) (1,483) (1,185) (994)
Loss from operations e EiE (234) (309) (588) (469) (410)
Interest income FEHA - 1 1 1 1

Finance costs MmEEM (41) (46) (56) (84) (126)
Non-operating income/ FEREZEWRA(FAX)

(expenses), net R - 2 (55) (4) (3)
Loss before taxation BRI B 1R (275) (352) (698) (556) (538)
Income tax ABTIE (M (n (188) (33) (15)
Loss for the year FANBE (276) (363) (886) (589) (553)
Attributable to: FEML -

Equity shareholders PAN/NEIE = i gl

of the Company (276) (363) (886) (589) (553)
Loss from operations e e (234) (309) (588) (469) (410)
Depreciation e 220 215 207 100 101
Amortisation of other HEfmpEE#E

intangible assets 4 4 4 1 -
Impairment losses WIEEE - - 241 82 52
Loss from operations before  RIIRITE ~ Hith

depreciation, mILEAE#ER

amortisation of other WEEER &

intangible assets and &5 18

impairment losses Mot (10) (90) (136) (286) (257)
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AFMGHE

(Expressed in HKS million)
(AEBETIIR)

Assets and Liabilities BEERAE
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,237 1,135 621 694 601
Current assets RBNEE 371 351 258 251 282
Total assets wEE 1,608 1,486 879 945 883
Share capital fi% 7 7,929 7,929 7,929 7,929 7,929
Reserves G (7,564) (7,783) (8,669) (9,258) (9,811)
Total equity/(deficit) RN R AR FEAE

attributable to equity B (B4

shareholders of the

Company 365 146 (740) (1,329) (1,882)
Total liabilities FEN=N 1,243 1,340 1619 2,274 2,765
Total liabilities and equity LaEkER 1,608 1,486 879 945 883
Note: Htat -
1. The Group presents the loss from operations before depreciation, amortisation of 1. REEF 2T KR ITE - H o 47 7 B E 55 % 6 8 7 18 B i

other intangible assets and impairment losses, a non-HKFRS financial measure,
which is a supplemental information in relation to the operating performance of
the Group to enable the stakeholders of the Group to evaluate and compare the
performance across the same industry.

REER AERFEBUBREERANNBEAE  HHEHLE
B ERBENHAEN  ARLEBFHETFERLER—
TTRAVRE
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